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Prologue

‘It’ll be kids messing about. I guarantee it.’

‘What, at gone four in the morning? Out here? I reckon it’s something weird to do with Midsummer’s Day. Some bunch of re-enactment nutters more likely. You know, druids kind of thing. Like at Stonehenge. The sun’ll be up soon, judging by this light.’

‘Yeah, well, switch your torch on anyway. It’ll be darker once we get inside those walls.’

The sergeant slammed the patrol car door shut and began walking with the PC towards the amphitheatre. The ancient structure crouched menacingly in the dim pre-dawn light. It reminded him of a massive animal that was asleep.

‘I always forget how big it is,’ he said, choosing the nearest of the two entrances cut into the curving banks of turf. ‘We did a project on it when I was at my secondary school down the road in Cirencester. The Romans didn’t do things by halves. You could get thousands of people in there watching wild animals, gladiators, slaves, you name it, tearing each other to bits.’

‘Sounds like the last Swindon Town–Bristol City game.’

Laughing, the pair passed through the south gap in the amphitheatre walls and into the auditorium. The sergeant had been right: the high-tiered banks that swept around them in a great oval were blocking out the light that glowed steadily along the eastern horizon.

‘See? Torches on.’

The two-thousand-year-old monument to pagan pleasures was deserted.

‘What did they tell you over the radio?’

The PC shone her light onto her notebook.

‘Not much. Some bloke leaving for his early shift at the bakery says he heard some odd noises coming from here, kind of yelping and screaming. He lives in the street where we parked. At first he thought it must be a fox, but then he saw a beam of light pointing up into the sky, waving around before going out again. Heard more screams. He said he’d have taken a look but said he couldn’t risk being late for work.’

‘Spooked, more like. Okay, let’s wander over the turf. Maybe whoever or whatever it was left something behind.’

They moved further into the amphitheatre, slowly weaving their torches from side to side on the ground in front of them.

‘Nothing I can see. I reckon that we probably… Oh, hang on. What’s that?’ The policeman aimed his beam straight ahead. ‘There. Right at the centre.’

His companion shook her head. ‘Dunno. Some kind of tree?’

‘Nah, no trees in here. But it does look like something wooden. Come on.’

The object took shape as they drew closer.

‘It’s an X. A big old wooden X. It must be eight feet high. What the fuck’s that doing here?’

The PC shook her head. ‘God knows. And what’s keeping it upright?’

The sergeant twisted the focus ring on his torch and grunted as the beam narrowed. ‘There… see? There’s some sort of prop attached to the middle and angled back into the ground towards us.’

She nodded. ‘I reckon you called it right. About this being some kind of ceremonial thing, I mean. But they’ve obviously buggered off.’

‘Let’s take a proper look, shall we, seeing as we’re here.’ They moved steadily closer. ‘What’s that on all four ends of the thing? It looks like gaffer tape, silver gaffer tape.’

By now the two officers were only a few paces away. Two-inch wide heavy-duty tape was wound tightly around the points of the cross. The beams themselves were closer to ten feet long than eight, and almost a foot wide.

‘What is this? I’ve never seen anything like it. I reckon—Sharon? What’s wrong?’

The young woman was gripping her colleague’s arm.

‘I think we’re looking at the back of it, Tom. I think there’s something tied to the other side. Look.’ She shone her torch on the ground directly beneath the cross. The grass there was darkened and glistening.

He nodded slowly and gently loosened her hold on him. ‘You wait here. I’ll do this first, okay?’

She swallowed and nodded in the growing half-light. ‘Okay.’

‘Right.’ He took a deep breath, then stepped carefully around to the other side of the X.

‘Holy mother of mercy. Jesus Christ.’




PART ONE




One


Im so glad we found each other, Lucy. I knew straight away wedbsoulmates. Same age, same kinda school (even tho we’re at opposite ends of t country!) even our 1st (and last!) boyfriends had same 1st name! Lol!!! (I still cant believe I went out with a Gavin, can you? What losers we r!) And I love we can share all t bad stuff, all t shit that pulls us down every day. If only I had someone here I could talk2 I’m sure I wouldn’t feel so bad. I bet u wish that too. I get so fucking TIRED of being sad all t time.

But at least we hav each other now. Let’s promise 2b there4each other, anytime, day or night. I never turn my tablet off. BTW I have a different email address for my tablet than I use on my iphone because my stupid dad spies on my phone messages. He doesn’t know I have the tablet so that’s why Ive only given you that address. Noone else can see what we say 2each other, promise.

Im going to sleep now, Luce (can I calluthat?) I nick some of mum’s temazepam every few weeks. Shes too out of it to notice and Ive got quite a stash no, so at least I don’t have to worry about sleep. Maybe 1day Ill just take the lot and never worry about anything again! #tempting!

Nite nite, from ur Rosie. Xxx






Two

Nick switched on the TV just in time to catch the opening titles of Newsnight. The presenter – he had no idea who the man was, Nick rarely watched the programme – was running through the items they’d be covering. What everyone in the media was calling ‘The Cotswolds Crucifixion’ was second in the running order (Brexit topped the list, as ever). Nick pressed the remote’s red record button and went into the kitchen to make coffee.

When he got back the crucifixion story had already begun so he scanned back to the studio link. It told him nothing new, so he scanned forward again to what looked like the main studio interview and paused it, taking his time, sipping his coffee, settling comfortably into his chair. Then he pressed play. Sound boomed out, too loud. Nick was the only person in the house, but he lowered the volume anyway. Force of habit. Consideration for others. ‘—professor of classics at Bristol University, and author of several books on Roman Britain. Good evening, professor.’

‘Good evening.’

The man looked like the twat he was, Nick thought, with his wispy beard and rimless glasses. A caricature of a university don. Nick had read all three of his books. Derivative rubbish mostly, pinching ideas and analysis from others. He, Nick, knew ten times what this poseur pretended to know. Still, it was worth a watch, if only for a laugh.

‘Would you describe this as a classic Roman crucifixion, professor?’

The other shook his head. ‘No, because there’s no such thing. Obviously the fact that it took place in a second-century imperial amphitheatre is significant but as to the method… Well, the Romans weren’t fussy about how they nailed people up. They used poles, planks, T-shaped crosses, X-shaped crosses, trees, even roofs. In fact—’

‘Yes, but the so-far unidentified victim in this case was crucified upside down, wasn’t he? Isn’t that how Rome executed St Peter?’

The professor smiled. ‘At St Peter’s own request actually. He said he didn’t feel worthy to die in the same physical position as Christ. It was an act of extraordinary humility. But that happened in Rome under Emperor Nero. Somehow I doubt the same… er, sensitivities were in play last night in Cirencester’s amphitheatre.’

Nick smiled. The prof was definitely on the money there.

The interviewer inclined his head. ‘We don’t know that, do we? Roughly how many crucifixions were there in Roman Britain?’

The academic looked surprised. ‘None, as far as we know. It’s thought that Boadicea used her own crucifixion techniques against captured Romans during her campaign of resistance in AD 60–61, but Rome didn’t retaliate. This one may well be the first Roman-style crucifixion in British history. It’s very exciting.’

The host raised his eyebrows. ‘Exciting? It’s a brutal murder, professor.’

The man opposite him flushed slightly.

‘Er… yes, well, of course, yes. I was speaking purely from a historical perspective. Obviously this is a tragedy.’

Nick drained his coffee and spoke aloud.

‘Really? That depends on who it was who died yesterday, my friend, and why. You’re not very bright, are you?’




Three

Nick Wychwood – or Nicholas Wychwood, as his name appeared on his novels and screen credits – considered himself, by anyone’s reckoning, a happy man. He and Elise had seized their moment and, not without qualms, quit London for Cornwall five years earlier. They soon agreed that it was the wisest decision they’d ever made apart from the one to get married and soon after try for a baby.

Lucy was four when they’d pitched up in the Cornish Riviera town of Fowey. The difference between house prices in north-west London and south-west Cornwall was so marked that they were able to swap a three-bedroom Victorian semi in Hampstead Village, opposite an ugly Edwardian block of flats, for a six-bedroom Georgian detached house high on the banks of the River Fowey. Most of the front windows had views across the old town, river and quayside and, if you squinted carefully through the wrought-iron railing of the master bedroom’s balcony, there were glimpses to be had of writer Daphne du Maurier’s former home, Ferryside, fronting onto the water almost directly below.

‘My muse,’ Nick would invariably say, gesturing at the white walls and bright blue shutters of the du Maurier house whenever he and Elise drove onto the car ferry that crossed the river to the town on the other side. ‘Her spirit hovers over this spot. It inspires me.’

‘You used to say I was your muse,’ his wife replied. ‘How soon the heart forgets.’

‘Not your fault, darling. You’re not a writer, are you?’

‘Of course I am. I’m a GP. I write prescriptions.’

‘I don’t think “500mg Amoxicillin three times daily” is quite on a par with Jamaica Inn, do you?’

‘Maybe not, but it’ll cure a strep throat. Suck on that, Daphne.’

By the time Lucy was at school it was obvious that her conception had been a one-off. Elise was unable to fall pregnant again. Neither she nor her husband knew where the problems of fertility might lie, or with whom, but they were content with the hand that fate had delivered hem.

Nick would forever remember the day they quietly agreed this; a relaxed discussion at their breakfast table on a muggy July morning.

Because a few hours later something happened.

And everything changed.

Forever.



The crossing from Bodinnick to Fowey took just a few minutes, depending on the tide. The Wychwoods always relished the short voyage, in fair weather or foul. Today the sun shone from a cloudless Cornish sky after days of murky, persistent sea-mist.

‘God, this is why I love this place,’ Nick said as he and Elise leaned over the safety rail and looked out across the water. Lucy stayed in the car, sulking after an argument with her mother. ‘Look at that.’ He pointed across the estuary.

Little sailboats and motor launches were patrolling up and down the estuary, sunlight glittering and sparkling off their wet decks and hulls. The rippling wavelets of an incoming tide made the water appear to be seething with darting, leaping, shining life.

‘It looks like a million silverfish swimming upstream,’ said Elise. ‘Beautiful. We’re so lucky, Nicky.’

He turned and smiled at her. ‘Well, up to a point. We made our own luck, didn’t we? It was a big deal leaving London. That’s a one-way trip these days. If it hadn’t worked out down here, we’d never have been able to afford go back, however much we wanted to.’

‘True. But I don’t want to. Ever. Neither do you. And Lucy adores it here.’

‘Yeah, just look at her now. Having the time of her life.’ He waved at their daughter. Lucy scowled and turned away.

Elise laughed. ‘She’ll be okay. Her blood sugar’s low because she skipped breakfast in a sulk. She’s just a thirteen-year-old in need of a sandwich.’



‘We should have walked, Nick, taken the foot-ferry. You can barely get this thing through the streets, they’re so narrow. It was tricky enough in the Volvo. I’m sure you’re going to scuff it and it’s not even a week old.’

Nick gritted his teeth as he wrestled with the steering wheel of his pride and joy, a brand-new glossy black Range Rover. Beads of sweat trickled down from his forehead and stung his eyes.

‘It’ll be fine. You see these bloody Chelsea tractors driving through Fowey every day. Anyway, we’ve got a lot of shopping to do after lunch. It’d have been stupid to walk. There’ll be loads to carry.’

‘Including a tin of black spray-paint if you don’t take this turn a bit wider. You’re going to scrape that cottage wall.’

‘Do shut up. I’m trying to concentrate.’

Lucy, sitting behind them, stared out of the window and said nothing. Elise had confiscated her iPad earlier (‘You’ve been on it since you got up, two hours nearly, Luce. I’m sorry, but it’s not healthy!’) and Lucy was still furious.

A few minutes later they were approaching the tiny quayside car park in the centre of Fowey. There were barely a dozen spaces and usually by lunchtime all were taken. Nick or Elise unfailingly offered a polite prayer to their personal deity, the parking angel, for divine intervention. The joke had started when they lived in London, but here in Cornwall, weirdly, the prayer actually seemed to work. Now it was more superstition than joke.

Today it was Elise’s turn to make the ritual plea. She tilted her head to look heavenwards through the open sun roof and chanted their mantra.

‘Parking angel, parking angel, in whom we place our faith, be a sweetie, give a treatie, provide us with a space.’ Lucy usually giggled at this, but today she was silent. Elise sighed and mentally prescribed her daughter a large portion of cod and chips.

Nick drove a short way past the car park entrance before putting the automatic into reverse and backing in carefully – it was easier to manoeuvre into a space that way – but today the parking angel was busy elsewhere. All the bays were taken.

He carried on reversing slowly past the parked cars towards the quayside. Elise twitched, as she always did when this happened.

‘Careful, darling. It’s a sheer drop into the water and the tide’s in.’

‘I know, I know, don’t worry, I’m going dead-dead-dead slow… there.’ The rear wheels of the Range Rover dipped into a shallow drain gulley, and the car rocked gently to a halt. ‘We’ll get a space in a moment when someone leaves. Trouble is, I’ll have to go in front-wise. Good job it’s me driving. You still haven’t taken the wheel of this one, have you? I think you might find it a bit tricky.’

His wife’s mouth opened in a perfect ‘o’. ‘What? So what if I haven’t driven it yet? I’m a much better parker than you in anything and you know it! Just for that, you two can go round the corner to Sam’s Place and get us a table. I’ll park! Bloody cheek!’ She leaned in towards Nick and whispered: ‘And it might give the darling daughter some space to cheer up too.’

Nick nodded and murmured back: ‘Good idea.’ He raised his voice. ‘You’re right – it’s only just gone twelve but everywhere fills up so fast in summer. Lucy and I’ll grab a table. Don’t forget to close up the sunroof and windows.’

Elise elbowed him in the ribs. ‘I’ll close you up if you don’t stop patronising me! God, I hate it when we get a new car. You get so controlling and obsessive. Go on, out with you. Let me slide across.’

He grinned. ‘Sorry, ’Lise. I get it from my dad. He wouldn’t even take the dealer’s paper mats off the carpets for weeks and the factory polythene wraps stayed on the seats for at least a year. I’m pathetic, I know. We’ll see you in Sam’s. Come on, Luce.’

Father and daughter climbed out of the car and Elise slid behind the steering wheel. She gripped it appreciatively with both hands and leaned out of the driver’s window.

‘Actually, I almost forgive you, Nick,’ she called after him. ‘It does feel pretty special.’

They turned round and Lucy allowed herself a tiny smile.

‘Suits you, mum,’ she said. ‘Looking good!’

Elise grinned, gave a double thumbs-up and gunned the engine in reply.

It was still in reverse.

The shiny black Range Rover shot backwards, plunged over the side of the quay and pitched end-first into the river below.

Nick and Lucy screamed and ran to the brink. The car had only been in the river for moments, but it was already three-quarters submerged as water gushed through all four open windows and the sunroof. Elise’s face, expressionless, could be seen through the windscreen but, a second later, she disappeared from view as the entire vehicle vanished below the surface in a seething, churning froth of dirty bubbles and spouting diesel oil.

Newspapers would later describe it as a ‘five-second catastrophe’.

For Nick and Lucy, it was the beginning of a life sentence.




Four

Newsnight was the only current affairs programme not to lead with the crucifixion. It was top of the running order everywhere else and by the following day the story had spread like a global brushfire. It dominated TV and radio and made for screaming headlines on the front pages of every newspaper. Social media, too, was alight.

Crucifixions, it seemed, ‘sold’. Especially a 21st century one on the edge of a quaint English country town. Gloucestershire Police were under overwhelming pressure to hold a press conference and, at noon two days into the investigation, they reluctantly caved in as county police HQ was besieged by media from around the world.

‘This is going to be a fucking bunfight,’ DCS Mark Williamson muttered to his chief press officer as they stepped onto a specially erected platform in the main conference room. ‘Look at this lot. They’re gagging for it.’ He nodded towards a seething throng of reporters, camera crews and photographers. ‘Talk about blood-lust. Christ on the cross. Pun intended.’

The young woman by his side coughed discreetly. ‘They’re just doing their job, sir. And please be careful. They’re probably filming already and a lot of them use lip-readers.’

‘Really? Oh well. Too late now. Not my generation’s thing, I’m afraid. I’m from more innocent times, unlike this bunch, especially the tabloid tribe. I suppose they serve some sort of useful purpose, like wasps, but I’m damned if I know what it is.’

‘They give us the publicity we need to appeal for witnesses to come forward, sir.’

‘If you say so.’

The pair seated themselves behind a table on the dais and DCS Williamson, two stone overweight, three years from retirement, twenty years behind the times in media relations but still totally on top of his game, tapped the microphone in front of him. A crisp thudding filled the room and the babble of journalistic gossip and chit-chat faded immediately.

‘Good. This bloody thing’s working, then.’ There was a ripple of laughter.

He raised his voice. ‘Good morning, everyone. Thank you for coming. My name is Mark Williamson and I am the DCS in charge of this investigation. My DCI will be making a brief statement about the matter in hand and then I’ll take one or two questions. Now… this is my deputy, Detective Chief Inspector Peter Johnson.’

A much younger detective crossed from the side of the room and stepped onto the dais. He wore a snappily cut dark suit and tie; half an inch of crisp white cuffs protruded from his jacket sleeves. He exuded calm confidence and authority.

He felt like running to the nearest toilet.

Johnson sat next to his boss and twisted the microphone towards him. He’d never ‘fronted up’ a press conference before and this one was probably the biggest in his force’s history. He reckoned there must be well over a hundred people sitting in front of him. He was terrified.

‘Good morning. Thanks for coming.’ To his surprise his voice sounded calm, even authoritative, and he felt a flicker of confidence. ‘Right, let’s get started. Let me say straightaway that these are early days, but we’ve already established some key information and we would very much appreciate your assistance in gathering more.’ He took a deep breath. ‘I’d like to begin by showing you something. Be warned, this is a pretty graphic image.’

A large white plasma screen behind the panel sprang into life. Johnson pressed a remote control on the table and a colour photograph appeared. There was a collective intake of breath from his audience.

The DCI gave a thin smile.

‘Quite. This is the X-shaped cross on which the victim died. My officers took the body down shortly before the photo was taken. As you can see, we’ve pixelated out specific areas of the picture; they relate to extreme blood loss and are not suitable for release. But you get the general idea.

‘Does anyone recognise this structure? Did they see it being assembled, possibly in a neighbour’s garden or somewhere else? Perhaps they observed it being transported? If so, in or on what type of vehicle? Who was driving? Crucially, has anyone specifically in the Cirencester area seen such an object before?’

A hand immediately went up in the ranks of press in front of him. A witness? Surely not, not here. Johnson hesitated, then nodded. ‘Yes?’

A woman stood up. ‘Jane Harvey, Daily Mirror… Might someone have heard this… this, thing… being constructed? Sawing, hammering and so on?’

The DCI sighed and spread his hands. ‘All of you, please wait until I’ve finished my statement before questions. As it happens, I was coming to this and the answer is no. The cross wasn’t nailed; it was screwed together, using double-pairs of six-inch stainless steel screws, eight of them, at the centre of the X. I reckon the screw holes must have been pre-drilled, and the cross-beams were likely bought pre-sawed, probably from a wood yard. Whether assembly took place remotely or inside the amphitheatre on the night of the murder – and we simply don’t know which – we think it would have been pretty much noiseless.’

Another hand went up. Johnson frowned. ‘I said no questions yet. I—’

Undaunted, the man rose. ‘Harry Arnold, Boston Globe. Crucifixion is brutal, obviously. Might there have been some kind of unusual sounds coming from the amphitheatre that night? Hammering? Screaming? Sounds of a struggle? Didn’t anyone living nearby hear anything, sir?’

The detective took a deep breath. ‘All right, Mr Arnold, I’ll allow it. But this is the last interruption, got that, everyone? So… apart from the one person who made an emergency call to us, we don’t believe anyone else heard or saw anything. The nearest house is several hundred yards away. And as we’ve seen, there would have been no hammering. The victim’s hands and feet were lashed to the beams with industrial-strength masking tape before…’ Johnson paused. ‘… before the extremities were screwed, not nailed, into place with four-and-a-half-inch stainless steel screws. Again, silence was clearly important to the killer or killers. They didn’t want to be disturbed. So no mallets. No nails.’

Unabashed, the American reporter persisted. ‘Yeah, but as you say, someone living nearby saw lights. Heard voices, shouts. That’s why they called the cops, right?’

The DCI turned impatiently to his boss and whispered: ‘How the hell do I deal with these interruptions, sir?’

Williamson nodded. ‘Wait one.’ He pulled the microphone back over.

‘For the last time, no questions until my officer has completed his statement. If there are any more interruptions, I’ll clear the room and we’ll put out a written statement on email instead. Understood?’

The authority and finality of his tone were unmistakeable. There was a murmur of grumpy assent from the over-excited gathering and the growing forest of raised hands subsided. The DCI retrieved the mic.

‘As I was about to explain, we have evidence that the victim was temporarily drugged and incapacitated before being initially attached to the cross with tape. The noises which prompted the 999 call may be related to the final stages of the execution itself, after the victim had regained or partially regained consciousness.’

Johnson picked up the remote control again.

‘Which brings me to the identity of the victim.’ He clicked the remote and the image of the bloodstained cross was replaced with a passport-style photograph of a fleshy, middle-aged man: white, balding, pale-eyed and with lightly freckled skin.

‘Arthur William Scanlon, age forty-two, a freelance website designer from Bristol. He lived with his parents in the St Pauls district of the city. Unmarried, no significant other that we’re aware of. His parents who, by the way, are not available for comment, tell us their son kept himself to himself. It seems he worked mostly online from his bedroom. We’re still examining his laptop and iPhone, but so far we’ve found nothing of significance.’

The DCI glanced hesitantly across to his superior. ‘Would you like to handle this next bit, sir?’

Williamson nodded. He understood. He wasn’t surprised Johnson wanted to pass the ball. He cleared his throat.

‘Okay, I’ll wrap this up. As my colleague says, initial post-mortem examination has revealed that Arthur Scanlon was sedated at some point before being killed. He was either drugged at the scene or elsewhere a short time earlier. There is no evidence of a struggle prior to crucifixion; we believe he was unconscious or at the very least semi-conscious when he was secured to the cross with heavy-duty duct tape.’ The DCS paused.

‘However…’

An almost imperceptible ripple passed through the media corps. What now, in this most sensational of stories?

‘It is our belief that the killer or killers deliberately waited until the victim had regained consciousness before finally nailing him onto the cross with the screws. This would explain the sounds of distress heard by our 999 caller. Those sounds were brief, probably because the victim was almost immediately gagged with what appears to be a teacloth held in place with more tape.’

Williamson pressed the remote and a creased cloth appeared on the screen behind him. ‘This is it. As you can see, it’s a print of the Cotswold village of Bourton-on-the-Water, painted in watercolours. It may be familiar to someone.’

He clicked again several times until the face of Arthur William Scanlon was staring blankly at the room once more.

‘Victims of crucifixion often survive many hours, even days. Therefore, a coup de grâce is sometimes delivered, either out of mercy or simply to expedite matters and bring them to a close.’ He paused. ‘In this case, the fatal injury was in the form of a single stab or slash to the throat.’

Williamson noted with grim satisfaction that some of the hardened hacks before him were now definitely a little paler of face than they had been when they’d entered the room.

‘So, to conclude… this gentleman was the victim of a sadistic killer or killers in what was almost certainly a ritualised execution, one which must have taken considerable planning and preparation. The wood had to be ordered, cut, paid for, collected. A hardware merchant may remember selling someone a limited number of especially large screws of the dimensions described and extra-strength duct tape. Whoever was responsible for this appalling crime may have an interest in and knowledge of Roman history. The choice of location for the murder – a two-thousand-year-old Roman amphitheatre – is persuasive. And crucifixion was, of course, a favoured Roman method of execution.’

He paused. ‘We have gone into an unusual amount of detail with you today because we believe all this information may jog someone’s memory. If so, I urge them to contact Gloucestershire Police immediately. Calls will be taken in the strictest confidence. Thank you.’ Williamson stood up as if to leave.

His press officer coughed discreetly. ‘Sir? The Q&A?’

The DCS sank back reluctantly into his chair.

‘Oh… yes. I’ll take one or two questions now… the gentleman there from BBC News.’

The reporter held a fluffy boom microphone close to his mouth.

‘Chief Superintendent, are reports correct that the victim was attached to the cross upside-down?’

Williamson nodded. ‘They are.’

‘What conclusions do you draw from that?’

‘None as yet.’

‘Isn’t that how the Romans crucified St Peter?’

‘I believe so.’

‘So isn’t this inverted crucifixion likely to be a key part of the ritual you referred to just now? Might there be a religious dimension to it?’

‘Too early to say.’ Williamson pointed to a woman with her hand in the air. ‘Yes?’

‘Diana Cooper, Irish Times. Do you have any theories as to how and when the cross was brought into the amphitheatre?’

Williamson nodded. ‘As to the how, we found tyre tracks consistent with a substantial four-wheel drive vehicle leading to and from the centre of the amphitheatre. As to the when… we know that a group of American tourists visited the amphitheatre about an hour and a half before sunset and they saw nothing untoward. So it’s fair to assume that the killer or killers arrived after dark, when they could be reasonably sure of being undisturbed and unobserved. I’ll take one more question. Yes, gentleman at the back there.’

The man rose to his feet. ‘Bob Levenson, USA Today. You make no mention of political or religious terrorism, Mr Williamson. Have you discounted it?’

The detective chose his words with care.

‘We haven’t discounted anything as regards motive. All I can tell you is that there is no evidence of terrorist motive at this stage, either at the crime scene or in the choice of victim. But we are keeping an open mind.’

Williamson snapped his laptop shut and stood up, signalling the press conference was at an end.

‘That’s all for now.’ He flicked off the microphone and turned to his press officer. ‘Make sure they all have the hotline number and email. It was the only bloody point in inviting this rabble here in the first place.’

He raised one palm as she opened her mouth to remonstrate.

‘Yes, I know they’re still lip-reading me, sweetheart, and I couldn’t give a tuppenny fuck.’




Five

Elise’s death catapulted Nick and Lucy into a prolonged state of shock and anguish. They not only had overwhelming grief to deal with, but within a few weeks of the drowning both began to display the unmistakeable symptoms of post-traumatic stress. Nick was well aware of the tell-tale signs of PTSD; he had thoroughly researched the condition for a plotline of one of his novels. Now, he had no hesitation in seeking help for them both: one-to-one sessions with a therapist in Truro.

‘Look,’ he told Lucy as he drove her to her first appointment. ‘We can’t do anything about what we’re both going through until we understand it a bit better. We need help to do that and the man we’re going to see can give it to us. At least I hope he can.’ He reached across for his daughter’s hand and squeezed it. ‘I know it seems impossible now, but you and I are going to be happy again, Lucy. If nothing else, it’s what mummy would want. She’d hate to see us like this.’

‘What we’re both going through’ was shorthand for the behavioural changes both had experienced since witnessing Elise’s dreadful last moments.

Nick, by nature an even-tempered, relaxed man, had become irritable and volatile. His treatment of old friends and associates was now often aggressive and unreasonable. In the weeks after Elise’s death he had provoked a series of blazing rows with, among others, his book editor, his literary agent (both long-standing confidants as well as professional colleagues) and even an innocuous teenage shop assistant who tried to explain that Nick’s credit card was being declined because it had just expired. The resulting explosion of rage had reduced the boy to tears. The security guard who escorted Nick firmly off the premises threatened to call the police if he came back.

Nick managed to control these sudden outbursts when he was with his daughter – but only just. And the black moods weren’t improved by the nightly insomnia that now plagued him.

But the most distressing symptom for both father and daughter were the vivid flashbacks to the accident itself and, in Nick’s case, of the agonising moment when he’d had to formally identify his wife’s body.

The flashbacks could occur at any time but were almost always triggered by the sight or sound of water. Nick and Lucy found themselves entirely unable to board the car ferry and cross the river into Fowey. Whenever they went into the town, they were forced to take the long inland route. What should have been a ten-minute journey took nearly an hour. But there was simply no question of crossing the estuary. Even visits to once-favoured local beach restaurants were now, by tacit consent, avoided.

At the house, Nick fitted louvered blinds on all the windows looking out across the river. Through two of them they could see the actual spot where Elise had drowned. The stunning vista the Wychwoods had once delighted in was now permanently shuttered and screened off.

‘It’s a sort of hydrophobia, I suppose,’ Nick told the therapist, six months after Elise’s death. ‘Neither of us can bear to look at the river or the sea. It’s almost guaranteed to bring on one of these fucking flashbacks. Not exactly ideal when you live in a harbour town.’ The therapist, a 50-something Cornishman with kind eyes, a gentle voice and sparsely offered but always insightful advice, smiled.

‘I was waiting for you to bring the subject up.’

‘Bring what subject up?’

‘Moving away from Fowey.’

‘What? Who said anything about moving?’

‘You did, just now, by implication. I think it’s perfectly clear that a place you once adored is now an anathema for you. Hardly surprising. I know you’ve blocked it out, literally, the place where your wife lost her life, but you feel its presence nonetheless, don’t you?’

Nick stared at the man opposite before nodding. ‘You think we should leave.’

The therapist did not hesitate. ‘I do. It’s going to take a very long time for you and Lucy to become de-sensitised to the sight or even the presence of water. As for that particular stretch of river… well, the grief and trauma that it triggers will be a permanent issue. Why put yourselves through that kind of mental anguish? It’s not as if you have to live in Fowey, Nicholas, is it? You’re a writer. You can work anywhere. There’s nothing to stop both of you from making a fresh start somewhere else, is there?’

Nick closed his eyes and thought for a few moments before answering. ‘I suppose not… and I must say it’d be a relief to be able to look out of the window again. The house feels less like a home and more like a bloody prison. Or maybe an asylum. But I wonder what Lucy will think. Maybe she’ll feel she’ll be even further away from her mother than she is now. I quite often find her sitting at Elise’s dressing table, picking up her things – her hairbrush, perfume, makeup and so on. Perhaps I should have got rid of it all… but I can’t bear to. Not yet, anyway.’

The therapist leaned forward. ‘Look, Nicholas… obviously I’m not supposed to discuss another client’s sessions, but I think we can stretch a point here. Lucy has told me that she’d like to leave Fowey and get as far away from the sea as possible.’

Nick stared at him. ‘I had no idea she felt that way.’

‘No, she’s been reluctant to confide in you. She thought you might be upset if she suggested leaving the place where her parents were so happy.’

‘Really? Bless her… My lovely Luce, always thinking of others… But as far away from the sea as possible, you say. I wonder where that might take us.’

The therapist rose, signalling the session was over.

‘Actually I’ve got some ideas about that. If I were you, I know exactly where I’d head for. The Cotswolds. Beautiful, like Cornwall, but without the ocean. Landlocked. You could do worse.’

Nick got to his feet.

‘Well, well. So not just a therapist – quite the seer, too. I grew up in the Cotswolds but I’m sure I’ve never mentioned it. In fact, I was born there.’

The therapist laughed.

‘That’s serendipity, Nicholas. I’m no seer. Where exactly were you born?’

‘Gloucestershire. Just outside one of the main towns.’

‘Which one?’

‘The one the Romans built. They called it Corinium.’

‘Ah. You mean Cirencester.’

‘Yes. I mean Cirencester.’




Six


Hi Rosie

Yeah ur right about cutting, deffo works. Wuz nervous (such a wuss!) but last nite felt so crap thought fuck it, try it. Used kitchen knife from block and cut myself four times, left arm. Hurt like shit but ur SOOOO right, felt TOTES better after. Weird. Googled it and doctors used to cut people all the time, called it bleeding the patient, to make them feel better so maybe its got to do with that. Anyway worked for little ole Luce! Cant let my dad see my arm for a while, hed go mental. Sleeves Louise.

R u totes srs about taking all ur mums temaz in 1 go? Cd u rly do it? dont know if I cd. Anyway don’t have any stuff like that. I suppose other ways tho. Wdnt want it to hurt tho. Im not saying want to do it but like talking 2u about it cos makes me feel calmer like cutting did.

Gonna zzzzzz now but will stay awake 4 few mins in case u reply.

Nite nite, ur Luce.

Hi Luce

O im not sure what I mean about sleeping pills really. Like u I just feel calmer when I think about it. Girl in my year did it last year. We had a spesh assembly in her mem, everyone soooo upset but I was frigging jealous!!! Where she is now has to be better than here, right? And at least ud b with ur mum again!

I worry about not having temaz if we ever decide to do it ill send u half of mine and we can take them on here together! Kinda hold hands haha!! Wd b easier doing it together I rkn.

Anyway sleep tite from ur Rosie.






Seven

Nick finally grasped the nettle and sat down with Lucy that same evening. He told her he was wondering whether they should leave their house, Fowey and Cornwall. She burst into tears.

‘So much for bloody therapy,’ he thought to himself, drawing his daughter close.

‘It’s all right, Luce,’ he murmured, stroking her hair. ‘It was just a thought. If you don’t want to move, then…’

She pulled away, gulping down sobs.

‘No, no, Daddy, you’ve got it all wrong! I want to move too! I’ve wanted to for ages, soon after mummy… after mummy…’

Relief flooded through him and he forgave the therapist.

‘You should have told me before, darling. I’d do anything to make you happy, you know that.’

Lucy wiped her nose on the sleeve of her hoodie, tears subsiding. ‘Me too. Want you to be happy, I mean. That’s why I didn’t say anything. I thought you wanted to stay here, stay close to mummy, somehow… Do you really want us to move away?’

He nodded. ‘Yes, Luce, I do. I want us to be able to remember mummy without… oh…’ – he gestured towards the windows at the front of the house – ‘without having to be reminded every day of what happened. We’ll never do that if we stay here. Let’s face it, life’s become pretty much impossible for us both, hasn’t it? We can’t bring ourselves to cross the river; we don’t want to go near a beach; half the house is in semi-darkness… It’s unhealthy and it won’t do. We have to find somewhere else to start again.’

‘But where?’

He smiled at her. ‘Remember that time mummy and I took you to see the town I grew up in?’

Lucy’s brow furrowed. ‘I think so… I was probably about seven or eight… Was it the time we stayed in that cottage with the thatched roof?’

‘Remember the pond opposite on the village green and how we used to take what was left of our toast after breakfast and feed the ducks?’

She laughed. ‘Yes, and when we turned around and looked at our cottage, I said it reminded me of the one Snow White lived in with the seven dwarves and mummy said I was going to be a writer like you! Gosh, that seems so long ago now.’

‘You liked it there, didn’t you?’

‘Yes! Is that where we’re going to live?’

‘I can’t guarantee that actual cottage. But yes, somewhere nearby. It’s in the Cotswolds. It’s beautiful and a long way from the sea. It’ll be fun finding somewhere to live there.’

She jumped up. ‘When can we start looking?’

He could scarcely credit the sudden surge in Lucy’s spirits. He hadn’t seen his daughter looking like this for months; not since the day of the accident. Her excitement was infectious and he felt his own mood beginning to rise in return.

‘Okay, let’s see… When does half-term begin?’

‘This Friday, the day after tomorrow!’

‘Right then. This weekend it shall be. Saturday.’ He lifted Lucy by the waist and pirouetted her through the air. ‘The Wychwoods are going to Wychwood! I know a lovely hotel there that we can use as our base. This evening I’ll start searching online for houses.’ He put her down. ‘Where do you fancy living – town or village?’

‘Village! With a duck pond!’

‘Let’s see what we can do.’




Eight

‘So the only DNA on the cross belongs to the victim?’

‘Yup. Plenty of it, mind, and to spare. But just Scanlon’s. The rest of the contraption is clean as a bloody whistle.’

DCS Williamson grunted and stared out of his office window. The distant Cotswold Hills rose a few miles away to the east of Gloucestershire Police HQ at Quedgeley. He was going to retire there when the time came. He and his wife Dianne had narrowed it down to the twin honey-stoned villages of Sheepscombe and Painswick, both squeezed into narrow valleys as the land around them twisted and lifted to the limestone escarpment high above. But there was no point in making an offer on any of the ridiculously pretty (and absurdly expensive) cottages that occasionally came on the market: they’d just have to sit out the three years until he could put in his papers, draw his pension and cash in his savings. But that didn’t stop the Williamsons from driving to the local inns most weekends for Sunday lunch and then take a gentle stroll around the wisteria- and honeysuckle-covered houses, golden walls glowing in the late afternoon sunshine.

‘Sir?’

The DCS shook his head. ‘Sorry, Peter. Thinking about something else.’ He reluctantly turned his chair away from the window and gestured to the younger man to sit down.

‘Sorry to ask the obvious, but forensics checked inside the threads of the screws, didn’t they?’

DCI Johnson nodded. ‘Of course. Nothing. No DNA on the masking tape or the teacloth either. I reckon everything was handled with gloves on right from the off, other than the cross-beams.’

Williamson leaned forward. ‘But you just said—’

‘Probably handled without gloves, maybe when buying them, because they’ve been scrubbed with bleach using wire wool going by the markings. Not a trace of DNA, fingerprints, nothing.’

‘What about the tyre tracks in the amphitheatre?’

Johnson scrolled down the screen of his tablet. ‘Michelin CrossClimates. Just about every other bloody four-by-four has them here in the Cotswolds. Not much wear and tear to the tread, so either the tyres were recently fitted or the vehicle’s newish.’

‘Christ.’ Williamson felt himself reaching towards his right-hand desk drawer in an instinctive reflex. But the cigarettes he once kept there were long gone and the vape he’d tried using instead had just made him feel silly. He prised a Polo mint from the tube on his desk and sucked unhappily on it for a few moments.

‘Footprints at the scene?’

The DCI shrugged. ‘Nothing of any use. Forensics reckon the perp was wearing scrubs over his shoes. Possibly several pairs. There are footprints in the grass but they’re blanks. No detail. Maybe a size eleven. That’s about it.’

Williamson sat a little straighter. ‘You said “the perp”, Peter. You think this was a one-man job?’

Johnson nodded. ‘I’m beginning to, sir. There weren’t that many footprints and they were all the same shoe size. As far as we can tell, there was only one set leading to and from where the vehicle was parked. So yes, I think whoever did it was flying solo. And call me a sexist pig, but I just can’t see a woman doing this. The shoe size speaks against it, as well as the sheer strength needed to get someone of Scanlon’s weight onto the cross. Although whoever did this may well have used a mechanical hoist of some sort. Either way, I reckon we’re looking for a solo psycho with the XY chromosome.’

The DCS nodded. ‘Makes sense. But… no DNA, no prints, tyre tracks not worth a damn unless we find the vehicle and that’s assuming the CrossClimates haven’t been replaced – something I wouldn’t bet against, by the way. I’m beginning to get a feeling about this one, Peter. As far as the cleaning up goes, it’s bloody OCD, isn’t it? We don’t have a single useful witness and there’s nothing worth a damn on CCTV or road traffic cameras – I’m right about that part, yes?’

The DCI nodded glumly. ‘Yes. It’s weird. There are quite a few cameras on the roads surrounding the amphitheatre, but we can’t find anything suspicious recorded that night. We’ve checked out every likely vehicle caught on camera – all the four-by-fours, SUVs, anything with a trailer – and they’re all above board, the lot of them. Well, apart from a couple of untaxed jobs. Whoever nailed up Scanlon must have clocked every CCTV location well in advance and plotted a route that picked a way round them. The killer was in a four-by-four so we’re checking for tracks across fields and down bridleways. Nothing yet but there’s been no rain since, so we might catch a lucky break.’

Williamson turned back to the window and stared towards the distant uplands and his retirement. The view could have been a landscape painting.

He sighed. ‘Maybe we will. We’re certainly overdue one. I’ve heard of a blank canvas, but this is bloody ridiculous.’




Nine

It was Lucy who found it. While her father was wearily ploughing through online estate agents’ guff, she simply punched in ‘Cotswold villages with duck ponds’ on her laptop and hit search.

Up it came. ‘Willersey, Gloucestershire, south-west of Evesham.’ Judging by the multiple photos posted, it had a duck pond to satisfy the most fastidious connoisseur of the traditional village emblem. Home to mallards, moorhens, dragonflies and the occasional visiting heron, Willersey’s pond was a classic of its kind. Lucy practically hugged herself as she flicked through the photos. Surrounded on three sides by a neatly trimmed village green, overlooked by ancient honey-coloured cottages and with its own little island built from golden, glowing Cotswold stone, the oval of sparkling water looked like the film set for a romantic movie.

Lucy printed off the photos and some wiki notes about the village, sent an email, waited for the reply, and five minutes later was knocking on her father’s bedroom door.

‘Come in, honey. I thought you’d gone to bed.’ Nick turned from his computer screen. ‘I think I’ve found a couple of possibilities, in Bourton-on-the-Water and Broadway, but—’

She thrust the printouts into his hands. ‘No need, Daddy. This is the place. It’s called Willersey. You can cancel that hotel in Wychwood; we can stay at the Bell Inn in the village, it has rooms. I’ve just emailed them and booked us in for this weekend, but you’re going to have to ring them with your credit card. We can—’ She stopped, suddenly unsure. ‘That’s all right, isn’t it? You don’t mind? I’m not being too bossy, am I?’

He father laughed.

‘No. You’re making my heart sing, Luce. I haven’t seen you like this since… since…’

They sat quietly together before Nick eventually turned to the printouts.

‘You’re right – it looks amazing. But is there anywhere for us to live in the area? Have you seen something for sale?’

Lucy smiled. ‘No, but there’ll be somewhere, Dad. There’s a house waiting for us, I can feel it. We just have to find it.’

Which is exactly what they did.



Lucy, Nick reflected, not for the first time, had inherited her mother’s strangely predictive instincts. It had been Elise who had found their house in Fowey, not via an estate agent but by pointing up at the riverbank as they crossed on the ferry for the very first time and saying simply: ‘It’s up there. Our new house.’ And it was.

Now, breakfasting together on a spring Saturday morning at the Bell Inn, he looked covertly across at his daughter as she tapped busily away on her tablet. She was smiling.

‘What’cher lookin’ at?’ he eventually asked.

‘Sorry, I should have said. I was up before you this morning and I got talking to the woman who checked us in last night. She was born in the village and she knows everything about everybody. I explained why we were here and she said she knew just the place. It’s only been for sale a couple of weeks. I’ve just found it. Look.’ She pushed the tablet across the table to her father, knocking his toast onto his lap. ‘Sorry!’

Nick brushed crumbs away with one hand and with the other turned the tablet to face him. He caught his breath. The image of a softly golden-hued cottage glowed back at him. Set to one side of the studded oak front door was a magnolia tree in full, glorious bloom. He peered closer. The picture was dated: it had been taken the week before. The blossom was probably still out.

He scrolled down. Three bedrooms. Orchard garden. Views of the village across a wooded valley. Freehold. He swallowed and mentally crossed his fingers as he searched for the asking price.

‘Well?’ Lucy said breathlessly.

He swallowed again. ‘It looks bloody perfect, Luce. We can afford it, too. Let’s hope it’s not a tumbledown inside.’

Lucy shook her head. ‘It won’t be.’ She stood up.

‘Come on then, Daddy. What are we waiting for?’




Ten

The great thing about getting your rocks off online, Arthur Scanlon thought as he walked slowly back from the corner shop, was that it didn’t matter what you actually looked like. Not while you were watching porn, obviously, but also when you were in a live one-to-one with somebody. You could be anyone you liked. Which was useful when you looked like he did. You could post a profile picture that was nothing like the real you. Or, if you were streaming live pictures, you could override your laptop’s camera and run a fake ‘live’ video. He’d made dozens of them, one for every occasion.

Most of the images Arthur used were from a Californian website with thousands of profile shots and clips for assembling videos. The site was constantly being refreshed so the chances of someone he was interfacing with accessing his faked visuals were tiny. It hadn’t happened yet.

Arthur pushed another handful of Monster Munch into his mouth and chewed thoughtfully. The other advantage to online sex was that you could discover your own proclivities and desires entirely at your own pace. The things that had once turned him on were now history, left behind like discarded toys. He could hardly believe he’d once been satisfied with the sheer mundanity of those early sexual expectations.

Bit by bit, Arthur had discovered the catnip that made him almost dizzy with desire and excitement. It all centred on control. He’d come to realise that he liked to make things happen, not just passively observe. And Arthur certainly made things happen. Oh yes. He definitely did that. In fact, he’d achieved what he genuinely regarded as absolute perfection not just once but twice. A consummate state and a truly fitting climax, in every sense, to two impeccably plotted and executed – he smiled at the word – groomings. Now he was ready to embark on a third.

Arthur never speculated what his ‘projects’, as he thought of them, would make of him if they ever saw the reality behind his online identities. The last time he’d visited his GP the man had portentously informed him that he needed to lose weight. He’d said it as if Arthur should be concerned. He wasn’t. Why should he care what he looked like? He’d wanted to reply: ‘You should see me online, Doctor Rashleigh. I can be anyone I choose there. I’ve been a surfer. I’ve been a doctor – a much better-looking one than you, by the way. I’ve been an airline pilot. I’ve been a photographer.’

All of which was the case. But Arthur would probably not have chosen to reveal his current and favourite incarnation to date. The one that had already delivered him two spectacular trophies and would undoubtedly provide another.

He was a sixteen-year-old schoolgirl called Rosie.




Eleven

Arthur had finished the crisps, all three packets, and his mother had just come up to remove the supper tray from outside his room. He never allowed her to come inside, not even to clean. He did that himself. She was kept firmly on the landing where she left his meals and collected the dirty dishes. His father hadn’t come near the little boxroom since the day Arthur had come home unexpectedly and found him trying to access his computer. He stood no chance of doing that, of course – no one did, thanks to the abundance of passwords and security codes Arthur had installed. Nevertheless, his threats of what he would do to the old man if he repeated the transgression were so explicit – and so plainly sincere – that his father hadn’t gone anywhere near his room ever since.

Scanlon Snr had taken his son’s unequivocal warning at face value because Arthur had history. Both parents were certain that their son had despatched the family cat a few years earlier, even though there was no concrete proof. But Arthur had dropped enough hints to make them sure that he was behind its sudden disappearance. Other cats in the road had also mysteriously vanished over the years – there’d even been a story about it in the local paper – and Arthur was somehow always the first to know about a fresh disappearance.

Their son, the cat-killer.

But he was Pat and Felix Scanlon’s only child. Once they had loved him. Later they’d grown wary of him. Now they secretly feared him – secretly, because they’d never admit it to each other. He was still their boy. Still their Arthur. And whatever his computer consultancy (run from his tiny boyhood bedroom) actually did, he always paid his rent on time and in full. Felix had been unemployed for over a decade and the money was important.

So they let Arthur be. Which wasn’t difficult; he spent most of his day shut off in the box room doing God knows what.

Tonight, he was about to open a fresh ‘project’. A new opportunity. Someone he could gradually manipulate and control under the guise of empathy and sympathy. A schoolgirl, of course. A troubled teenager who would mirror the profile he had painstakingly created for Rosie.

Like Rosie, a depressive. Like Rosie, vulnerable. A teenager who had already flirted with the idea of suicide. Someone who could be gently but irresistibly nudged down that path until she became… Arthur smiled as the description came to him.

A soulmate. He giggled. Most apt.

Arthur had diligently searched through the most popular chat rooms and reckoned he had found three potential candidates. Peta, Hannah and Lucy. Now, reviewing their profiles one last time, he knew who he was going to choose. Not Peta. There was something suspicious about her life story: parents killed in a plane crash when she was a baby, fostered into an abusive family, rescued by a long-lost half-brother who’d come from Australia to find her… it all seemed too pat, too storybook. Arthur suspected Peta was, like him, catfishing.

Hannah, daughter of barely functioning alcoholic parents, was, he felt, the genuine article but tough as old boots. Her references to suicide were possibly more black humour than negative wishful thinking. She’d be a hard nut to crack.

Lucy was the one. Compulsively honest with a tragic story that checked out on Google (Elise Wychwood’s drowning had been widely reported a couple of years before). Her chat room posts showed beyond doubt that Lucy was still riven with guilt about the row with her mother on the day she died, worn down by her sense of responsibility for her bereaved father’s happiness… Yes. Lucy was perfect. Rosie would take her hand and lead her to the point of no return. The point of climax.

Arthur shivered with anticipation as he made his decision. Then he clicked on to Lucy’s private message board.

Hi Lucy. I’m Rosie. I think we should talk, babes. X




Twelve

Mark Williamson took the call from Cirencester’s forensic pathologist on the fourth morning of what had become known at police HQ as Operation Banged Up. The DCS accepted black humour was inevitable in extreme cases (although never those involving children), but he didn’t indulge in it himself. All his notes and emails were simply marked ‘Scanlon Investigation’ and he intended to keep it that way.

‘Williamson.’

‘Morning, chief. How’s it hanging?’

Mark winced. He disliked the pathologist’s habitually flip way of addressing him but kept that to himself. Professor Sally Crawford was one of the best in the business and no one had ever known her miss a thing or make a mistake. If she wanted to speak as if she was in a US TV cop show, she’d earned the right.

‘Morning, Sally. So-so. My day will be much improved if you’ve called to tell me something that’ll get this damned case cracked open, even if only by a chink. Such as what type of sedative or anaesthetic was used.’

‘Well, well, that just happens to be item one on the agenda. One word, three syllables.’

The DCS sighed. Sally enjoyed her little games.

‘Ketamine,’ he hazarded.

The pathologist laughed. ‘Sure you don’t want to phone a friend? No!? Well, congratulations, chief. Right first time.’

Mark ignored the playfulness. ‘How much?’

The pathologist’s tone became businesslike.

‘A lot, judging by the blood samples. I’d say at least ten milligrams per kilo of body weight. That’s well over a thousand milligrams, administered intramuscularly in two separate doses of more than five hundred apiece.’

‘Why two?’

‘You mean how do I know there were two? I found a nicely matching pair of puncture marks, undoubtedly made by a hypodermic needle in the upper muscle of the left arm.’

Mark sipped the coffee his secretary had just placed before him. He thought for a moment before asking: ‘I appreciate you might not have the answer to this, Sally, but why a double dose?’

‘Well, the most obvious reason seems to me to be the size of the victim. Ten milligrams per kilo would be more than enough to knock most people out for at least twenty minutes, but Scanlon was a big man, very heavy, six-four. He probably stayed under for only ten or fifteen minutes, so he may have needed a second shot to knock him out again. That would have lasted longer, of course, added to what was already in his system.’

The DCS did a quick mental sum. ‘So he would have been comatose for a total of, what, about half an hour?’

‘If you mean completely unconscious, yes, about that. But he would have been very woozy when he woke up after the first injection and pretty docile. It’s reasonable to assume quite some time elapsed between doses one and two. Add on the recovery time after the second shot and I’d guess – this is only a rough estimate, you understand – that he was unconscious and intermittently semi-conscious for a good hour, perhaps longer.’

Williamson scribbled notes on his jotter before asking: ‘Okay. Why ketamine?’

‘That’s an easy one. Ketamine’s a big recreational drug, as you know. Dead simple to get hold of. A quick trip to a dodgy pub in Swindon and you’re sorted.’

The DCS nodded. ‘True enough. Anything else?’

The pathologist coughed modestly. ‘Oh, yes. You’re going to appreciate this bit, chief.’

‘Go on.’

‘I found fresh friction trauma and bruising in the soft flesh on the underside of both upper arms, just below the shoulders. Looks to me like rope burns.’

Williamson pursed his lips. ‘That is interesting. Any idea how he would have got them?’

‘I have actually. Like I say, Scanlon was a heavy guy. Unless our killer has the strength of ten men, he would have needed help in moving such a dead weight from his four-by-four and onto the cross. So you may be looking for multiple killers. But my hunch is whoever did this was probably working alone.’

‘Yes, I’m hearing that from scene of crime and forensics too. Explain, please, Sally.’

‘I think he used a winch. I reckon you’ll find that his vehicle has one fitted or it did. He’d have attached the rope to Scanlon’s upper arms and lifted him clear and down onto the beams. That would be consistent with the burns and bruising – the rope would really have dug in to Scanlon’s flesh as he swung clear of the wagon, all that unsupported weight. Once our man had taped him up and put the screws in he probably used the winch again to elevate the cross.’

The DCS was making more notes. ‘This is incredibly useful, Sally. Thank you.’

‘All part of the service, chief. And it should narrow down your search for the truck, right? There can’t be that many four-by-fours driving around with a winch on board. There must be witnesses; there must be someone out there who supplied it too. Maybe even fitted it.’

‘Sally, you’re wasted in the lab. You would have made a great detective. This is above and beyond the call. But look, those ketamine injections… is there any sign of how the killer could have made Scanlon compliant enough to get the first needle into him?’

‘Ahem. I haven’t finished.’

The DCS smiled. ‘Go on.’

‘Well, at first I was puzzled about that too. I couldn’t find any evidence of initial sedation such as chloroform – you know, the old gauze pad clapped over the mouth and nose – and there are no signs of blunt trauma to the head. He wasn’t knocked unconscious. Then I found it – or rather, them. Two tiny but distinct red marks, dots, really, just below the right nipple, pretty much invisible underneath the surrounding body hair. I knew what they were straight away. I saw exactly the same thing last year on my slab. That poor lad who went into cardiac arrest after your lads tasered him when he wouldn’t come quietly.’

‘You think Scanlon was tasered?’

‘I’m certain of it. I think the unholy trinity of events unfolded like this: stun-gunned, anaesthetised, crucified. Whoever did this, plans ahead and thinks big. I’m betting he’s a tidy-upper, too. How are forensics coming along?’

‘They’re not.’

‘Thought so. You’ve got yourself a clever one to catch here, chief. Any ideas yet as to motive?’

‘Work in progress.’

‘I’ll take that as a no too, then. Well, you’ll crack it; you always do. Meanwhile that’s it from me, for now at least. Oh, except for the fact the victim had pine needles and clay on the soles of his shoes. Nothing like the surface in the amphitheatre. So he’d been somewhere else first on the night in question, I reckon. Anyway, you’ll have my preliminary written report both by email and on your desk by close of play. Give my love to the gorgeous Dianne.’

The pathologist rang off.

Williamson stared out of the window at the distant Cotswold hills for a few moments. Then he dialled DCI Johnson.

‘Peter? Come to my office. Yes, right away. I think we’ve got our first break.’




Thirteen

Sally Crawford was proud of her reputation for never making mistakes. So she decided not to mention to Mark Williamson that she’d very nearly missed the taser scorch-marks – and there would be no reference to it either in her official written version. Even though she had nothing to reproach herself for (because she’d spotted the tell-tale burns eventually, hadn’t she?) she was disappointed with herself. Ordinarily, nothing escaped her when she had a body on her examination table and she was uncomfortable with near misses.

‘At least I have an excuse,’ she thought as she emailed the official summary to the DCS. ‘I was preoccupied.’ But she took no comfort from that. Excuses were for losers.

She continued wrestling with her professional conscience as she locked her office door and hurried to the car park. ‘Oh c’mon,’ she muttered aloud. ‘You got there in the end. You were a bit distracted, that’s all. You’re a bit in love, for God’s sake. It’s been a while.’ She was passing reception and the girl on the desk looked at her curiously.

Shit. Hotshot pathologist caught talking to herself. Sally pressed a phantom earpiece closer into her ear. ‘What?’ she asked, more loudly. ‘You’re breaking up. I’ll call you back.’

The receptionist wasn’t fooled for a moment. She smiled to herself. So, the boss was in love, was she? Good. It was about time.



Sally had never gone on a dating website but sometimes she idly sketched out the kind of profile she might create for herself if she did.

Professional woman. Forty-one. Engaged twice, never married. Told by friends she’s attractive (but they would tell her that, wouldn’t they?) Children: none. Pets: none. Hobbies: none, but enjoys travel, reading, walking. Seeks intelligent, charismatic guy to spend downtime with. Cotswolds area but has car; will travel.

Sally Crawford was rather more than attractive. She had what would have been described in an earlier era as film-star looks. Indeed she was often mistaken for the British actress Felicity Jones, something which had led to a tabloid newspaper story claiming that the star had moved to the Cotswolds. Sally had been directing removal men as they shifted furniture into her new home in the village of Upper Slaughter (the irony of the name not lost on her or her colleagues) and she’d been spotted by a couple of over-excited tourists, one of whom had a niece who worked on the Sun’s newsdesk. The resulting misreported article, accompanied by a hastily snatched photo taken on a mobile phone, had taken pride of place on the Pathology Department’s notice board for weeks.

As Sally’s dating profile would reveal, if she ever wrote it, she had indeed been twice engaged. The first was when she was absurdly young and at Oxford, to a fellow undergraduate who had ended up falling for his much older tutor. Sally had been surprised to experience a frisson of relief when she was dumped. The second engagement was to a hospital doctor who gradually revealed himself to be an unreconstructed narcissist, the owner of a heart isolated and shrivelled by unremitting self-love. Sally had been happy to return his ring too.

That was ten years ago and she had since taken refuge and comfort in pursuing her career, not romance. There had been a few peripatetic boyfriends, but Sally instinctively kept them at a distance and the relationships had inevitably withered. Since her late thirties, there had been nobody at all.

Until now.



She grabbed both Waitrose carrier bags with their wine and supper from the passenger seat of her beloved Audi and shouldered open the driver’s door. She shouldn’t really park on the village green, but it had started to rain and she’d only be there for a few minutes while she took the shopping inside the cottage.

She walked up the short path to the front door and was about to knock – well, stab at it with her foot as her hands were full – when she remembered she had a key now. He’d given it to her when she’d stayed over for the first time last weekend. This evening she planned to hand him the key to her own front door in return.

Sally put the bags down and groped frantically for her keyring. The rain was coming down in hard, vertical lines and pounding off the doorstep. Her shoes were already soaked. She finally managed to open the door, picked up the bags and went inside. There was no entrance hall: the front door opened straight into the living room with a little kitchen beyond it. The early evening TV news was on, sound muted, but there was no sign of him. He must be working in the little office upstairs.

‘Hi honey, I’m home!’ she called, laughing. Despite the cliche it did feel like home, even though they’d only been seeing each other for a few weeks.

She heard a muffled reply from the floor above, and then he was coming down the stairs. He paused on the bottom step, grinning at her, and made a theatrical bow.

‘The weekend starts here. Willersey Cottage is at your disposal. As am I.’ He straightened and crossed the room to take her in his arms. ‘God, Sal, it’s so good to see you again.’

She kissed him tenderly on the lips.

‘It’s wonderful to see you too, Nick.’




Fourteen

Six months after Lucy and her father set out from The Bell to inspect what both were almost superstitiously certain would be their new home, they moved into Willersey Cottage on the wettest August day for fifty years. The roads around the neighbouring village of Broadway were flooded so the removal van had to pick its way through the narrow lanes circling Saintbury Hill and squeeze down into Willersey along the old packhorse road from Evesham.

‘This is even worse than the rain we get in Cornwall,’ Nick said as they finally pulled up behind the lorry. ‘What a wash-out welcome.’

As if in response the downpour immediately intensified, huge raindrops thrumming on the car’s roof and bouncing spectacularly off the bonnet.

Lucy laughed. ‘I quite like it,’ she said. ‘It’s dramatic and sort of romantic too.’ She pointed across the green where three ducks were paddling, untroubled, on the village pond. ‘They obviously love it.’

The driver’s door of the removal van opened and the foreman climbed down from his cab, giving them a cheerful wave. Nick lowered his window. ‘Can you unload in this?’ he called. The man gave an emphatic double thumbs up. ‘No problem,’ he replied. ‘It’s only rain, innit? Snow’s the bugger in this game. That and wind. We’re all just going to have to get a bit wet, aren’t we?’

Nick turned to his daughter. ‘Note the “all”,’ he said drily. ‘I think they’re expecting us to pitch in.’

‘I will if you will. Oh God, I’m so happy we’re here!’ She turned and stared out of the passenger window. ‘Look – our new home!’

Nick looked past her to their cottage. Lucy was right, there was something romantic about the way it stood defiantly under the deluge, water spouting dramatically from downpipes and guttering and sheeting off the thatched roof. The limestone cobbles that sloped gently from the front door looked more like a river than a path today and the green water butt at the side of the building was overflowing. But the house itself calmly exuded the promise of shelter, warmth and safety.

‘Looks more like the Ark than a cottage,’ he grumbled. ‘Come on – we’d better get ourselves and our stuff inside before it floats away.’



Willersey was the quintessential Cotswold village – ancient, golden and sleepy. Houses and cottages built using the local limestone glowed in the frequent sunshine that seemed to bestow a special smile on the Cotswolds. Willersey even boasted a large and rare variety of palm tree. It flourished in the centre of the village, giving the place an exotic, even tropical touch.

Willersey was certainly old. It was listed in the Domesday Book; in 1088 it had boasted sixteen villagers, two slaves and its own priest. Nearby Buckle Street was originally a Roman road and imperial coins were still sometimes unearthed in gardens and fields. A neolithic hunting camp had been excavated not far away. Communities had been living quietly and continuously in what was now Willersey, for more than three thousand years.

Most of the present buildings dated back to the 1700s when Cotswold wool had made the area prosperous. Lucy’s beloved duck pond was once part of a private walled garden attached to the village’s largest house which stood opposite the church. Willersey Cottage made the third point of a triangle, standing on the south side of the village green. Their new home was more than 300 years old but as dry and warm as an oven, insulated by thick limestone walls and a recently re-thatched roof.

‘It feels like we’re living in a fairy story,’ Lucy told her father over breakfast the morning after they’d moved in. The rain had moved away during the night and the village was bathed in bright early-morning August sunshine. ‘There’s something magical about this place.’

‘We could certainly do with some elves to magic away all this bloody unpacking,’ Nick replied, manhandling a heavy tea chest away from the kitchen table so that he could sit down. ‘But yes, I know what you mean. It’s almost ridiculously perfect. I was in the orchard first thing this morning and it looks like we’re going to be half-buried in pears, apples and blackberries in a few weeks. Did you notice the swallow’s nest on the wall above the kitchen door? They must have raised their chicks by now and be getting ready to leave. One family moving out while another moves in. It looks like an old nest so I reckon they’ll be back next spring.’

He reached out his hand and touched the back of Lucy’s.

‘Happy?’

‘Totes.’

‘Christ, Luce, please don’t talk to me as if you were messaging one of your friends.’

‘Okay, totally then. Are you, Daddy? Happy, I mean?’

He smiled at her.

‘Yes, darling. Because I think we’ve done the right thing and, what’s more, we’ve done it together. It was a completely joint decision to move here. I think your mother would be… well… relieved, for both of us, don’t you?’

Lucy nodded, walked around the table and kissed the top of her father’s head. ‘Yes, she would. I think everything’s going to be all right now, Daddy, I really do.’

Outside, the restless swallows swooped and circled around their nest and steam rose from the little orchard as yesterday’s rain evaporated under a strengthening late-summer sun. Lucy, looking out of the kitchen window as she put the kettle on to make a fresh pot of tea, sighed. ‘There’s only one thing missing, and then it’ll be perfect,’ she said.

‘What’s that?’

‘Our internet connection. The phone signal here is crap. Will Wi-Fi be up soon, Dad? I’ve got a lot of catching up to do on Instagram, never mind Twitter. I miss my besties. I’ve been talking to a brilliant new girl on there. I really like her. We’ve got so much in common.’

Nick wasn’t surprised that Lucy leaned heavily on her internet friendships during the first weeks and months in Willersey. His daughter was still very much the outsider at her new school. Staff and pupils were welcoming enough, but most of her classmates had known each other since their primary school days and it would take time to feel part of that. For now, Lucy found it easier to commune on her iPhone with her online ‘besties’, usually as she sat at the back of the school bus at the start and finish of the day. But with a weak, intermittent 4G signal in the cottage, Nick made installing decent Wi-Fi a priority.




Fifteen


Dear Nick

I’m so glad you’ve started writing again. Relieved, actually – and, needless to say, so are your publishers! But don’t worry, everyone understands the reason for the missed deadlines.

I love these new pages, Nick. I love the fact you’ve set the narrative in the Cotswolds, and I love your central character, Cassius, the ambitious Roman cavalry officer. I can see Aidan Turner playing him! In fact, I’ll give his agent a call this week and prepare the ground a bit. I know for a fact if Turner hadn’t been contracted to do the last season of Poldark he’d have been well up for the role of Justus in your last series.

When do you think you can deliver the first draft? I don’t want to push you, but it’s September now. If you can get it to me by, say, February, we could be looking at an autumn hardback with the paperback the following summer. Then roll on the TV year after next!

How’s Lucy? Settling into her new school? She must have been there a year now. What is she, 14 going on 15? Got herself a boyfriend yet? You’ve got all that to come! I’ve been there, remember, with Anna, so when your hair starts to fall out with all those sulks, rolling eyes and slamming doors, give me a call – one-to-one parent counselling at no extra charge!

With much fondness

Ollie. xx

P.S. Rebecca sends her love and so would Anna if I knew where she bloody was. ‘Sigh’



Nick couldn’t help smiling as he finished reading the email. It was typically Oliver. The iron hand in a velvet glove – all the while dangling a juicy carrot. Not that Nick didn’t genuinely appreciate his agent’s forbearance over the last year. Others would have given it, say, six months tops before starting to pile on the pressure to deliver.

He clicked ‘reply’, considered for a moment and wrote:


Hi Ollie

Really glad you like the new one so far. You’re the first person to have read these pages. I used to show Elise everything before sending it to you, as you know. She used to joke that either you or I should cut her an editor’s fee.

God, I miss her so much. For months on end it felt as if I were stumbling and feeling my way around an unfamiliar dark building, looking for a way out. Then one morning I woke up and there it was, a door in my head, barely ajar, faint light shining through the narrow gap. I knew all I had to do was push it open and walk through. But I couldn’t do it (actually, more like wouldn’t do it), but after a week or two I felt up to trying and… This is so hard to explain… although I was still grieving for Elise, and still do, I somehow felt free to move forward for the first time since it happened. As if Elise gave me a little nudge. Well, maybe a kick up the backside actually.

I couldn’t write much to begin with – just a few notes and outlines – but last month I suddenly realised I felt hungry again: literally hungry, to eat, and hungry to write too.

You ask about Lucy. Ollie, she’s been an angel. She’s the reason I kept going; she kept me sane. I could tell she was beginning to worry about me, even though we’ve both been so much happier here in Willersey than we were in Fowey (after the accident, obviously). But now she can see I’m ‘getting better’ as she puts it. And there was I thinking I was hiding it all from her.

Yes, I think she’s settled in well at her school in Evesham, although I’ve started to worry that she may be keeping something back from me. I could be wrong. The thing is that after something so horrible as Elise’s death, you tend to ascribe any subsequent emotional disturbances to it. I keep forgetting that Lucy is an adolescent now – she’ll be 15 in a couple of months – and I guess is bound to be heading into choppy waters, so I mustn’t overreact or distract her with what might be completely irrelevant questions about losing her mum. I keep telling myself that it’s important to remember how far we’ve both come. We’re going to be fine, I’m sure of it.

So back to the book. I’ll be disappointed if I don’t have the first draft with you by, say Valentine’s Day (remember Ollie, I always need a deadline) so mark that in your diary. I have in mine. I don’t have a title yet, but I want something with ‘Roman’ and ‘Cavalry’ in it – both words with such romantic resonance, don’t you think? Dashing and timeless… what’s that Coldplay line in ‘Viva la Vida’? ‘Roman Cavalry choirs are singing…’ It always sends a tingle down my spine.

Right, Lucy’s home from school soon so I’d better get some supper on. We take it in turns to cook and it’s down to me this evening.

I’ll send you a few more chapters next week.

Take care,

Nick xx






Sixteen

Nick Wychwood’s fascination with Rome began when he was a schoolboy in Cirencester. His history teacher organised a visit to the nearby imperial amphitheatre’s surprisingly well-preserved remains. Nick, like most of his classmates, didn’t even know it was there. But from the moment he stood at the entrance cut into the steep, elliptical grass-covered banks, he was captivated.

‘You are standing where the gladiators would have waited just before going in to do battle in front of thousands,’ the teacher told them. ‘And not just gladiators – trainers with wild and exotic animals, slaves about to fight each other to the death with the winner’s freedom as the prize, horses pulling chariots in chaotic, lethally dangerous races… Believe me, the noise of the crowd, the stench of the animals and the smell of human sweat and fear would have made this a thrilling spot.’

Nick was mesmerised. When they walked into the huge auditorium, he looked around him, imagining he could hear the roar of spectators, the cries of wild animals, the whinnying of panicking horses, the shouts of charioteers and the echoing, ringing clashes of drawn short swords. Here! In Cirencester!

Later it would baffle Nick why this huge monument wasn’t as famous as other Roman relics, like Hadrian’s Wall or nearby Bath’s steaming spas, saunas and plunge pools. He was strangely drawn to the place. His parents’ house was barely fifteen minutes’ cycle ride away and he made frequent solitary visits to the amphitheatre. Usually there was no one else there and he could let his thoughts run free, imagining he was a gladiator or a slave locked in a fight to the death on the dirt floor beneath the steep, curved banks. Or he would climb the grassy terraces and stare down at the empty space below, his mind’s eye watching charging chariots or wild beasts tearing out each other’s throats.

As he grew up, Nick developed an ever-deepening knowledge of Roman Britain and especially of the newly arrived invaders’ love of the Cotswolds. He learned that his home town had been given the name of Corinium and rapidly established itself as the empire’s second-largest city in the newly conquered province of Britannia. It had a population roughly the same as that of modern Cirencester. No wonder the amphitheatre was built to accommodate nearly 10,000 people.

He discovered that almost as soon as the legions had subdued the tribes of southern England, settlers fanned out west in their thousands to colonise the Cotswolds. The remains of more than fifty Roman villas had been identified there – a fraction of the original total – many equipped with flushing toilets, underfloor central heating and exquisite mosaic floors. Nearby Bath was built primarily as a leisure centre, and Nick often went there to marvel at the spectacular colonnaded baths where wealthy citizens of Rome had once frolicked in giant heated pools. He never lost his sense of wonder that all these achievements were everyday facts of life almost two thousand years ago. It was in many ways a modern lifestyle and endured for centuries before the almost overnight collapse of empire and the chaos of the so-called Dark Ages.

Inevitably, Nick studied Roman history at university and achieved a first. His intention was to become a postgraduate researcher, but a conversation with his tutor over sherry during his finals set him on a different path.

‘Your essays, Nicholas.’

‘What about them?’

The elderly, tweed-suited academic smiled. ‘They read more like short stories than scholastic treatises. Oh, don’t misunderstand me,’ he added hastily, as the student sitting opposite began to look alarmed. ‘There’s nothing wrong with their content or general thrust, but your descriptions of ancient Rome are almost… novelistic. You see the empire’s history and achievements, especially in this country, as a compulsive, fireside tale. You tell it almost as a fable, a legend, while managing to adhere to the facts. I’ve never read essays like them.’

Nick smiled back at the professor. ‘Thank you, sir. But… it is an extraordinary story, isn’t it? I often wonder: what if our own civilisation were to collapse in on itself like theirs did? Would the next one look back on us, millennia from now, with the same kind of wonder and fascination? All that we’ve built, what we’ve invented and achieved, and then somehow allowed to slip through our fingers? I’ve always seen Rome as a sort of paradise lost, for all its brutality and savagery.’

The tutor nodded. ‘What I particularly enjoy is the way you tell Rome’s history on the personal level, through the eyes of those that were there. You quote fragments of surviving diaries and records – to-do lists found scratched on parchment or wood or clay tablets – and turn them into wonderful, three-dimensional human stories. I haven’t told you this before, but I often show your essays to my wife. As you know, she’s a novelist. She adores reading them and we spoke about you only last night. That’s why I asked you to my study this evening. She and I have a recommendation to make.’

Nick grinned. ‘Wow! I’m flattered – I love your wife’s novels! But… what recommendation?’

‘Well, more of a suggestion. Look, Nicholas, I think that one day you could be an excellent tutor in your own right. But I think, and my wife thinks, that you have it in you to communicate your passion for ancient Rome to a much wider audience than you’ll find in a stuffy lecture room.

‘We believe you should write novels, and perhaps plays or screenplays, based on your wonderful, instinctive grasp of what it was to be Roman. They could be very successful and bring a much closer understanding of the ancient world to today’s. Will you at least consider it? I can recommend a literary agent. I’d like to arrange a lunch between you.’

Nick blinked. ‘This is all moving very fast, professor. I… I need to think. Do you and your wife really believe I could write a novel?’

The professor laughed. ‘No, we don’t. We think you could write lots of them! But don’t try to run before you can walk. Where are you spending your summer? Italy again?’

Nick nodded. ‘Yes, I’ve got a bit of postgrad study – nothing formal – in Rome and then Naples.’

‘Well, put some time aside to write a synopsis of a story you’d like to tell. Just a couple of hundred words or so. Then an opening chapter or prologue, just to demonstrate your writing style. Send them to me and I’ll forward them to the agent. When he says “yes” – which he will, I’m sure – we’ll organise that lunch. How’s that? Agreed?’

Nick looked faintly dazed. ‘I suppose so… I mean, yes, thank you, of course. This is very kind of you, sir. I feel I should offer you some token of my appreciation.’

The professor stood. ‘All strictly pro bono my boy, thus far. If the agent agrees to take you on, it’ll be him you’ll be handing tokens to – probably at around fifteen per cent of everything you might earn. But he’s a good man. His name’s Ollie Peterson, by the way.’



Ollie and Nick hit it off at their first meeting and never looked back. The young upcoming literary agent had been forwarded Nick’s synopsis and first chapter of what would turn out to be his debut novel, and signed him up on the spot. It wasn’t quite a bestseller, but received warm reviews and satisfactory sales, and its publisher asked for more.

There had been seven books since then, all set in Roman Britain, all Sunday Times bestsellers, and all vivid recreations of life in a far-flung outpost of the Mediterranean-based empire. If Nicholas Wychwood wasn’t quite a household name yet he was getting there, and now had thousands of devoted readers who slavishly pre-ordered his next book.

Two years before Elise’s death, the BBC had bought the rights to Nick’s fourth novel, Shortsword, and the resulting six-part TV series had become a staple of Sunday evening television. Suddenly replica Roman cultural artefacts were de rigueur in fashionable homeware stores. Ollie and Nick hadn’t seen that one coming and kicked themselves for not grabbing a piece of the action. ‘Next time we’ll have our own line in licensed merchandise,’ Ollie promised.



That evening Nick reviewed his email to his agent, made a couple of tweaks and sent it. He glanced at the kitchen clock. Almost six – wine time, then dine time. Lucy would be home in a few minutes from her after-school drama group and she’d be hungry.

He opened the fridge, took a half-empty bottle of Sauvignon from the bottom shelf and sloshed most of it into a large wine glass. He was planning to cook the fillet steaks he’d bought that morning and was looking in the fridge for the box of skinny fries to go with them when he heard his daughter’s key in the front door.

‘Hi honey, you’re home,’ he called, a variation on their habitual greeting. ‘So are you,’ came the muffled reply as Lucy closed the door behind her.

Moments later she walked into the kitchen. As so often now, Nick was forcibly struck by her resemblance to her mother. Except that recently Lucy had grown so thin. He couldn’t understand why; the girl had an appetite for two. She kissed him absently on the cheek and looked inside the fridge.

‘What are we having for dinner? I’m starving, Dad!’

He studied her profile as she rummaged for snacks, eventually snatching a Scotch egg from the top shelf and taking a large bite.

High cheekbones, retroussé nose, wavy brown hair tumbling past her shoulders. Elise, thirty-odd years ago. Lucy turned to look at him.

‘Why are you staring at me?’

He raised his hands defensively. ‘A cat may look at a king… but to be perfectly honest, Luce, I was thinking you’re getting awfully… slender. Do you feel okay?’

She swallowed and took another bite. ‘Of course,’ she said indistinctly. ‘I’m just growing, is all. I’m fine, Dad, honestly. Stop worrying about me.’

‘Okay. Well, even so, don’t eat anything else – dinner ready in half an hour. We’re having steak and chips, if I can find the bloody chips.’

‘They’re there, Dad, right in front of you on the middle shelf. Honestly, talk about the absent-minded writer.’ She handed him the box and headed for the stairs. ‘I’m going to have a quick bath. We had drama straight after games and there was no time for a shower. I stink. Shout when dinner’s ready.’



Later, washing up alone, Nick reflected on the strange and unexpected spat he’d just had with his daughter. It had started innocently enough. This September was unusually warm and halfway through their meal he’d gone to open the kitchen windows.

‘Aren’t you hot in that jumper, Lucy?’ he asked over his shoulder as he wrestled with the stiff catches. ‘You never wear T-shirts any more. It still feels like summer to me.’

Her response startled him. ‘Oh, for God’s sake, Dad, just stop fussing, will you? I’m too thin; I shouldn’t be in a jumper… blah blah blah, nag, nag, nag. What’s it got to do with you what I wear? Everyone knows women feel the cold more than men do; it’s a proven fact. Leave me alone, please.’ She pushed her chair back so hard that it toppled over onto the flagstone floor, and the next moment she was thumping up the stairs and slamming her bedroom door behind her.

Maybe this was what Ollie had meant about sulks, rolling eyes and banging doors, Nick thought as he dried the dishes. But he was uneasy. Why would his daughter react so angrily to an innocuous remark?

And why had she stopped wearing T-shirts? Nick suddenly realised this had begun back in July when the weather was even hotter than now. Lucy had been permanently in long-sleeved tops for weeks.

A disturbing thought began to take shape. He went into his study, opened a search engine on his laptop and typed in ‘self-harm’. Immediately images of scarred forearms and wrists appeared, alongside extensive notes on the syndrome. They confirmed much of what Nick already knew: troubled teenage girls were particularly prone to slicing blades into their arms. The act of cutting stimulated endorphins and relieved tension. Social media was strongly implicated in the growing incidence of self-harming; adolescents in particular encouraged each other to do it.

With a deepening sense of foreboding, Nick read that one of the tell-tale signs that your child was secretly self-harming was if they started to wear long sleeves in hot weather and displayed defensiveness, even aggression, when asked about it.

There were multiple causes for the behaviour, with depression, anxiety and post-traumatic stress disorder high on the list. As were eating disorders. As if on cue, Nick heard the distant sound of the upstairs toilet being flushed.

He closed his laptop and sat deep in thought. How could he have been so blind? For months now, Lucy routinely went upstairs straight after their evening meal. Was she in the bathroom making herself regurgitate what she’d just wolfed down? Was that why, despite seeming to have such a healthy appetite, she was losing weight? If she had fallen into bulimia’s toxic clutches, had that in turn tipped her into a cycle of self-harm?

Nick had a horrible suspicion that the answer to each of those three questions was ‘yes’. But now even bigger questions left him struggling for answers.

Why was she doing this? The move away from Cornwall had made her happy, hadn’t it? She was slowly settling into her new school, wasn’t she?

If not… what exactly could he do about it?




Seventeen

‘So you’re saying he was a perv?’

Johnson shrugged.

‘Not necessarily. Even if he was, it may have had nothing to do with his murder. But I think both are potentially linked, sir.’

Mark Williamson glanced again at his wingman’s report as it flickered on and off on the computer screen in front of him.

‘This thing’s on the sodding blink again. It’s giving me a migraine. I’m sick of looking at it. Take me through it verbally, Peter, from the start, there’s a good chap.’

‘Of course. I’ve had my doubts about Scanlon’s back story after my DS reported on his initial visit to the parents. Obviously, they were shocked at the way their son had died, but he said they didn’t seem exactly heartbroken. Almost relieved if you can believe that. It seemed as if their son had some sort of hold over them, my sergeant reckoned. After a bit of prodding, the father offered up a theory that Scanlon might have been a cat-killer. Their own moggie disappeared and so did quite a few others in the neighbourhood. The bodies of two or three had been nailed to their owners’ front gates. Scanlon senior wondered if the crucifixion was someone’s idea of revenge.’

Williamson snorted. ‘Oh, for God’s sake, that’s just nuts. Was this cat-killer ever identified?’

‘Scanlon said his son dropped some pretty blatant hints to them that he was behind it. Maybe he did the same down at the pub.’

The DCS scratched his chin. ‘That’s odd. Why would he do that? Imply he was responsible, I mean.’

Johnson nodded at the computer screen. ‘You’ll see it’s all in my report, when that thing’s working again. You need to get tech support in, sir. I reckon it might have been his way of showing off and intimidating his parents. You know, “This is what I’m capable of, don’t mess with me”, kind of thing. Apparently his mum and dad didn’t even dare go into the bedroom where Scanlon ran his computer consultancy business. My DS said they were clearly nervous about showing him the room despite the fact that the guy’s dead.’

Williamson reflected for a few moments. ‘Okay. Now explain the perv theory to me.’

The DCI steepled his fingers before replying. Williamson knew that meant he was marshalling his arguments. Johnson was an intuitive detective; his instincts rarely played him false, but he always backed them up with methodical research.

‘I’ve done some online checks on cat-killers and there are usually two elements in play: sex – would you believe – and control. Convicted cat-killers are often found to have a record of extreme sexual behaviour, tending to the sadistic. They also get their jollies from dominating strangers’ lives, messing with their emotions by torturing and killing the family pet and often leaving the mutilated body on public display. But that’s broad-spectrum. Scanlon’s computer records might have offered some specific clues. We took away his laptop and went through it with a virtual microscope.’ Johnson drew invisible quote marks in the air. ‘ “Nothing to see here” pretty much sums it up. Just regular emails, routine internet searches, stuff to do with his consultancy work. Not even any run-of-the-mill porn, which is odd for a middle-aged single bloke whose parents say never had a girlfriend.’

Williamson grunted. ‘It certainly is. So you suspect there might be a second laptop or iPad?’

Johnson nodded. ‘Yup. I went back to see the Scanlons myself. Everything my DS had reported was bang on the money; in fact, if anything he understated things. Personally, I think the pair of them hated their son. There’s no grief or mourning in that house, take my word for it. They didn’t know anything about a second computer so I called forensics and got them to make a proper fingertip search of Scanlon’s room – apologies, sir, we should have done that on day one – and they noticed that a section of carpet was slightly curled and frayed where it met a corner of the wall. They pulled it back and found a very slim Sony laptop hidden underneath. A matching section of underlay had been cut away, so the Sony was pretty much flush with the carpet. Bingo.’

The DCS smiled. ‘Better late than never, Peter. Well done. And?’

‘Something and nothing, sir. Everything’s super-encrypted. This was two days ago and we’ve yet to crack the passcodes. The tech crew say there are at least three firewalls, maybe more. So Scanlon definitely had a secret. The obvious guess is extreme porn, but why use a separate computer for that? I think he may have been engaged in activities which absolutely required keeping his true identity hidden so he didn’t want to use his everyday computer. That implies two-way communication was going on. Once we’ve got past the encryptions – which we will – we may have motive for Scanlon’s murder. We may even have the killer himself. I still think finding where he, the killer I mean, sourced that winch will be our breakthrough, sir.’

Williamson nodded. ‘Where are we on that?’

Johnson sighed. ‘No further forward, I’m afraid. We’ve contacted every garage we can find in a fifty-mile radius of Cirencester that supplies and fits winches to pickups, four-by-fours, etc. There’ve only been a couple of dozen such jobs over the last twelve months and they all check out. None of the vehicle tyres match the tracks we found at the amphitheatre and everyone had a perfectly good alibi for the night in question, with no connection to Scanlon. We’re widening the search, but I’m beginning to think our killer got his winch off the internet, in which case we’re probably screwed. Sorry, sir.’

The DCS shook his head. ‘Nothing to apologise for, Peter. Keep at it, though. When might we crack those firewalls?’

‘Could be this afternoon, could be this time next week. But we’ll get there.’

‘Keep me in the loop.’




Eighteen


Hi Rosie, soz not to get back after ur last msg, I’ve been bzzzzzzzzzeee!!!

The cuttings still really working and ive lost loads more weight too but I think my dads getting sus. Jst asked me about sleeves + stuff. Had a row + Im upstairs now.

Been thinking about t other stuff u said but not yet sure its 4me or not. Can c its attraction tho. Just to let the whole fucking thing go + sleep 4ever and ever. No more stress or guilt like I feel about my mum + I kno u feel about urs. (Such a weird coincidence that, but means we get what we’re both going thru, right?)

So glad we met on here! R u realy gonna do it, babes? U decided when? Im kinda hoping u don’t cos Id miss u, lol!!! Wd u miss me if I did it Ist? I kno u sd maybe we shd do it togthr but not sure im ready. I fake stuff a lot with my dad, u kno, about being ok and happy, but somtms its like im not faking + its real + I think maybe ill be ok after all. U always bring me bck to t shit reality tho.

Jst tossed my cookies after dinner (LUV t way u taut me 2 say tht 4being sick!!) + feeling a bit weird. Gonna go2sleep soon. Msg me when ucan. Luvu, Luce. Xx

Hi Luce, ur bitch Rosie here! Rosies advce o t day is… fake a bike crash 2 xplain t cuts! Tell ur dad u wnt thru a hej or somthng. He’l wnt 2 blv it + he’l stop bthring u, 4 a while at lst. Simples!

Yeah, Im deffo gonna do it soon. Its like one ok day for evry 4 or 5 shit ones. Cant c the point, can u? Maybe we realy shd do it tgthr. Mite mk it easr 4 us both. Gonna thnk abt it. Wl u 2?

Nthng much els 2 say. Anthr shit day here. Don’t wanna tlk about it.

Sleep tite little Luce! All my luv, Rosie. xxxxx






Nineteen

Lucy finished reading the definitions of ‘schizophrenia’ on her tablet, clicked off the page and lay back on her bed. Well, she definitely wasn’t schizophrenic. That was something, she supposed. So what was wrong with her?

The therapist in Cornwall had been pretty certain: depression and PTSD. He’d said it was more or less inevitable after seeing… well, what she’d seen that day. She still had flashbacks. They were as frequent as ever; crisply, pitilessly defined videos that could re-run inside her head without a moment’s warning. It had happened again at school that very afternoon. The mental recording always started at exactly the same point: an image of her mother smiling at her through the windscreen and giving her the thumbs-up, before suddenly shooting back over the edge of the quayside. The Range Rover sinking in a seething cauldron of bubbles and oil. Her mother’s face staring up. The waters closing over everything like a filthy, liquid shroud.

Lucy hadn’t watched the salvage operation to recover the dripping vehicle, her mother’s body still strapped into the driver’s seat. She hadn’t visited the chapel of rest a few days later to say goodbye. The therapist said that had been a mistake. Lucy should have involved herself in the rituals following her mother’s death: they would have helped her come to terms with it.

Lucy thought that was nonsense. If she hadn’t actually witnessed the accident her therapist may have had a point, but she’d seen her mother die right in front of her, hadn’t she? Accepting what had happened wasn’t the problem. Endlessly blaming herself for it was.

She put her hands behind her head and stared in despair at the ceiling. She’d tried, God knew how she’d tried, to break this perpetual cycle of replays and regrets. But she could no more block the images that plagued her than she could the bitter self-recrimination that always followed. She’d been furious with her mother that last morning and all because of a stupid fucking argument about her iPhone. She’d sulked and refused to speak to her. And then, with brutal suddenness, one of the two people she loved most in the world had been snatched away from her forever.

Lucy told herself that it was directly and indisputably her fault. She’d only turned around and called out to her mother as a sort of peace offering. If they hadn’t argued earlier the exchange would never have taken place and her mother wouldn’t have gunned the engine in response. She would have found a parking space and joined Lucy and her father for lunch. Their lives would have continued undisturbed. Unravaged.

So her father’s grief and pain were, by logical extension, her fault. Lucy felt she had a responsibility to do everything possible to help him recover from the shattering loss of his wife. The last thing he needed was a damaged, guilt-ridden child. That’s why she worked so hard to present herself as the upbeat, optimistic daughter. She had genuinely hoped that a move to the Cotswolds might benefit them both, but she quickly discovered that it hadn’t changed anything in her interior world. Her feelings of guilt were, if anything, more intense.

But recently she’d had found some balm – in Rosie. Rosie seemed to understand all of it; she was turning out to be the older, wiser sister Lucy had never had. Rosie hadn’t lost her own mother, not physically. But she was a hopeless alcoholic dependant on prescription sleeping pills, so lost in her addictions that Rosie’s father had walked out on them years before.

‘That means ive had a bit longer 2cum2terms wth shit than u, babes!’ Rosie had messaged Lucy. Which was why her advice was so authentic. She’d learned stuff the hard way. Like the cutting. ‘Try it babes – it rly helps!’ And it had. Not for long, but for a few hours at least, even a whole day sometimes. Lucy always experienced a wave of relief and the loosening of the tight knots inside her head after cutting. She never would have done it without Rosie to show her the way.

Her bulimia, on the other hand, was all Lucy’s own work. She was proud of it. It signified some small retrieval of self-determination. There was an element of self-punishment too, she realised that. Between the cutting and the bulimia, Lucy felt she had asserted some sort of control over her life.

But always lurking in the background was ‘the other thing’, as Lucy thought of it. She still couldn’t quite bring herself to use the actual word, even to herself. ‘The other thing’ was something for the future. She wasn’t sure how she really felt about it, not yet. Often the mere thought of doing it gave her almost as much relief as the actual cutting did. Other times it frightened her. You could put a plaster on a cut and roll your sleeves down to hide it, let it heal, but there’d be no healing from… the other thing. Rosie called it their one-stop-shop. ‘We’ll go there 2gether 1 day, babes… we’ll do it 2gether, proms!’

Lucy found herself thinking about it more and more often these days. It still frightened her but not, she realised, as much as it once had. Perhaps that was because she was getting so tired. Exhausted by the video replays in her head, ground down by her never-ending guilt. Just so tired of pretending all the time.

Except with Rosie. With Rosie, Lucy felt shriven. Forgiven. ‘Ur lik the priest in 1 of t books im reading for gcse’ Lucy had messaged her recently. ‘Ppl fl btr afr they cnfss 2him. Thts how I fl abt u, Rosie.’

Now, gazing up at her bedroom ceiling, Lucy wondered: if Rosie had been right about the cutting, maybe she was right about the other thing too.

She was too exhausted to think about it any further tonight, though. She still had one more thing to do before going to sleep.

Lucy opened her bedside drawer, reached inside and took out her penknife.




Twenty

‘Will there be a second series of Broadsword?’ Sally asked, taking a long swig of Sauvignon and pushing away her empty plate. ‘I loved the first series. Especially Justus. Honestly. I’m not just saying that because we’re, you know…’

Opposite her, Nick was demolishing what was left of his own meal. He shook his head, speaking indistinctly through a mouthful of moussaka. ‘Er… it’s Shortsword, actually. Well, assuming the new novel gets picked up by the BBC, no, it won’t be ‘Shortsword the sequel’, not really. I mean, it’ll still be set in Roman Britain, here in the Cotswolds, but all the characters will be new. Justus was a foot-slogging legionary in Shortsword and anyway we killed him off at the end of the series, remember? The central character in this one is Cassius and he’s an ultra-cool cavalry officer fresh up from Rome, not a British-born grunt made good like Justus was.’

‘Mmm. Sounds like this Cassius could be seriously sexy.’

‘Yup. Think a young Aiden Turner on horseback, wrapped in a crimson cape fastened at the throat with a gold clasp in the shape of the imperial eagle. Long lance balanced in one hand, reins held loosely in the other. He looks like a male model in fashion-statement faux armour, but really, he’s a combat-hardened veteran at twenty-five in light cavalry battle gear who’s never been unhorsed in battle. When Cassius is riding you down at the full gallop you only have two choices: run, or die.’

She looked at him appraisingly. ‘Hmm. Never mind Aiden Turner. You’d make a pretty good Cassius yourself, Nick.’

‘What?’

‘Oh, come on… what are you, six feet in your socks? Lovely dark curly hair – keep it long, by the way, the way it falls over your collar suits you… and you’re a handsome bugger, so you are. I love the way those blue eyes lengthen when you smile. Oh yes, I’d cast you as Cassius.’

‘You flatter me.’

Sally laughed. ‘It’s not just the way you look. We may only have known each other for a few weeks, but already I’m getting your take on ancient Rome. And I can see you there, Nick, striding around the Colosseum. Because you don’t see any of it as ancient at all, do you? Whenever you talk about it you make it sound almost… recent. Even contemporary.’

Nick looked slightly embarrassed. ‘I know, I know… I’m a bit of a nerd, I realise that. But I always have been about the Romans, ever since I was a kid. Thing is, once you realise they were just the same as us, basically, with exactly the same emotions and hopes and fears… well, they come alive, even after a couple of thousand years.’ He grinned at her. ‘They swore a lot, you know.’

‘What, like we do today?’

‘Absolutely.’

‘Go on then. How would Cassius have said “fuck you”?’

‘Futue te.’

Sally laughed. ‘Did they use the c-word?’

‘Yup. Almost the same as today’s. “Cunnus”.’

‘Wow. What about “sod you”?’

‘Pedicabo.’

She laughed again. ‘This is great. Tell me something else I don’t know about the Romans.’

‘Okay. They told Englishman, Irishman and Scotsman jokes.’

‘Oh, come on!’

‘They did! Well, except they had a barber, bald man and absent-minded professor. One joke was inscribed on a clay tablet around 150 AD. It was found quite recently in the bed of a tributary into the Thames.’ Nick cleared his throat.

‘There’s a barber, a bald man and an absent-minded professor – the Romans loved jokes about absent-minded professors, by the way – on a trip together, and they have to camp in the woods for the night. They take turns to stay up watching their baggage. The barber goes first, and he gets so sleepy he gently shaves the professor’s head to distract himself and stay awake. By the time he’s finished it’s the professor’s turn, and the barber wakes him up. The professor feels his shaven head and sniggers to himself: ‘That idiot barber! He’s woken the bald man by mistake! More sleep for me!’

Sally stared at him over her wine glass. ‘Is that it?’

‘It’s pretty funny!’

‘Hmm… Sorry. Maybe it’s the day I’ve had.’

Nick held his hands up in apology. ‘God, I’m sorry, Sal – here’s me banging on about TV rights and two-thousand-year-old jokes and I haven’t even asked you about your day. Was it a toughie?’

She shrugged. ‘Not especially, but I nearly fucked up during a post-mortem this morning. Did the Romans say “I fucked up”, by the way?’

Nick nodded. ‘Ego futuit sursum.’

Sally sighed. ‘Well, “ego futuit sursum” then. Confession is meant to be good for the soul… Let’s go and sit in front of the fire and I’ll tell you about it.’



When she finished, Nick went to fetch what was left of their wine, carefully draining the bottle into their glasses. He concentrated on keeping his voice as relaxed as possible as he sank back down onto the sofa beside her.

‘The fact is Sally, you didn’t screw up,’ he began. (Good! He reckoned he sounded completely unfazed.) ‘You spotted the taser marks. So what if they didn’t leap out at you right away? A result’s a result. You’re being way too hard on yourself.’ He paused. ‘Anyway… I thought you told me you wouldn’t be involved in this crucifixion case? How’d you get dragged in?’

Sally sighed. ‘The body was supposed to be sent up to London for the post-mortem. Big case. International headlines. Little old Cirencester’s forensic pathology unit not worthy of such an honour. But then the pathologist who was supposed to do it had a minor stroke and we suddenly became Plan B. Or I did. Hence the two hundred and seventy pounds of tasered, ketamised, crucified flesh waiting for me when I turned up for work at five this morning. Early start ’cos the DCS wanted a preliminary report before lunchtime.’

‘I see.’ Nick finished his glass. ‘So how are the police doing? God, such a ghastly crime.’

Sally shifted uncomfortably beside him.

‘I’m sorry, Nick, I’ve probably said too much. I shouldn’t really have told you about the post-mortem, though I know you won’t say anything. I—’

‘Good God, of course not!’ He squeezed her hand. ‘Silent as the grave, I promise. No pun intended. You’ve got to be able to unload a bit, though, Sally. You’re only human.’

She squeezed his hand in return. ‘Yes, but the police inquiry is nothing directly to do with me. Anything I’m told everything about it should stay completely confidential. Even if you were my husband.’

He leaned into her and kissed her cheek. ‘I’m really sorry to have put you on the spot. I didn’t think.’

She shook her head. ‘No, it’s fine, as long as you’re not offended by a “no comment”. Anyway, there’s nothing much left to tell. It’s true what the press are saying: the investigation’s pretty much stalled and has a long way to go.’

Nick nodded, slowly.

‘Well, good luck to them. I hope they catch the bastard. He must be completely insane. Coffee?’



Later, when Sally had fallen asleep, Nick slid quietly out of bed and went downstairs. He wasn’t normally a spirits man but right now he needed a proper drink.

The J&B bottle was at the back of a cupboard where he’d left it after New Year. There were still a couple of fingers left. He emptied all of it into a tumbler, dropped in some ice and wandered into the lounge. He raked up the dying embers of the fire, threw on some kindling, and sank back into the sofa he’d shared with Sally earlier.

Shit, shit, shit. When he’d asked Sally out a few weeks earlier, he had no idea what she did for a living. They’d met at a mutual friend’s dinner party in Tetbury, the only two singletons at the table. Nick suspected their hosts had set them up but he didn’t care. Sally was bewitching; beautiful, funny, clever… and mysterious.

‘I’m a sort of doctor-cum-civil servant,’ was as far as she went when he asked her about her work. ‘Very boring, I’m afraid.’ Only on their third date did she confess to him that revealing her real job to potential boyfriends tended to have, on the whole, a negative impact. ‘They don’t like it when I tell them I slice up bodies to pay my mortgage,’ she’d said sadly. ‘I think secretly they worry that one day I might cut their balls off.’

Nick drained his glass, stood and carefully kicked the fireguard to position it in front of the grate. He needed to stop worrying. He’d completely covered his tracks. It didn’t matter what was in Sally’s report. There was nothing – nothing – to connect the crucifixion to him.

‘Nil desperandum,’ he muttered aloud. ‘Don’t despair. Omne bene futurum… it’ll all be okay.’

A noise on the stairs behind him made him turn. It was Sally, naked, staring at him. The concern on her face was visible in the flickering firelight.

‘Are you all right, Nick? Is anything wrong? Why are you talking to yourself?’

He managed an embarrassed smile and a small, helpless shrug.

‘I’m fine. Sorry… Us writers… I had a bit of dialogue running through my head and I couldn’t sleep. It’s crucial to the plot so I just had to come down here and say it aloud to see if it works.’

Sally relaxed a little. ‘Oh. And does it?’

He moved up the stairs and kissed her.

‘Let’s put it this way: it’s got to.’




Twenty-One


Hi Luce

Babes, ive been thinking. U kno this is my spesh email for spesh people, rite? No one else knos about it. U shd have 1 too! A spesh email acct, I mean. If ur dad reads r msgs there mite b troubs, (4 u, not me.) He wdnt understand stuff like t cutting. I reckn u shd ‘lose’ yr laptop (say u left it on t bus or somthng) but keep it secret for tlking 2me. Yr dad cn buy you a new 1 for regulr use. Use it on yr old email accnt for regular stuff like school+online+yr other frnds.

Wot du think? I also reckn u shd dlete EVERYTHING wve writtn to each othr so far, jst in case, yes? (I cn tell u how to do tht so its properly gone 4ever).

Hi Rosie

OK. Ill do it tomoz. Need 2 think where 2 hide ths laptop. Got an idea tho.

Nite nite, yr Luce. X






Twenty-Two

Arthur Scanlon finished his detailed instructions to Lucy explaining how to permanently delete an email and pressed send. Then he pushed his laptop aside and rubbed his eyes with the heels of his hands before sliding a plate heaped with Marmite sandwiches in front of him. Without getting up, he opened the door of the mini-fridge at the side of his desk and reached inside for a can of beer. Catfishing was thirsty work.

The project was going well, but he knew he was about to enter a critical stage. This was the point where he’d lost control over his two previous targets. It wasn’t that they’d become suspicious about his identity – he was too good and experienced for that – but he’d managed to scare them off. The enormity of what he – or rather, Rosie – was suggesting may have spooked them. They had suddenly broken off all contact and he’d never heard from either again. Or perhaps a parent had somehow discovered what was going on and stepped in to end it. That thought had spooked Arthur in turn. He was as certain as he could be that no one could discover his true identity or whereabouts purely from the emails he’d been sending both girls. How could they? He could have been messaging from anywhere on the planet.

All the same, he became cautious for a while. It took him about a year to start trawling online chat rooms again and found Lucy. An almost subconscious sense of self-preservation was at work now. That’s why he’d suggested that Lucy open a secret email address and delete their previous exchanges from her old one – not just to thwart a prying parent, but to add an extra layer of protection for him. He was guarding his investment, too. He’d spent far too much time and trouble on Lucy to have the ultimate prize snatched away from him.

One thing slightly puzzled Arthur. Lucy had yet to ask him for a photo of Rosie and until she did, he was reluctant to send one or request an image of her. His instinct was not to rush anything, even something as seemingly innocent as this. But he was ready.

He took his time finishing his sandwiches before pulling the laptop towards him and opening a file. Multiple photos of teenage girls appeared on the screen and after some thought, Arthur clicked on one of them.

Six shots came up, all of the same girl. She was probably about sixteen years old, Arthur decided, maybe even seventeen. An older sister for Lucy. He selected a head-and-shoulders portrait. Olive skin, intelligent green eyes, glossy brown-to-black shoulder-length hair. Whoever she was, she looked like a bright kid; she had a slightly ironic, knowing smile. White T-shirt under a jade-green jacket that matched her eyes. Not just a bright kid; a cool kid, an attractive kid. God knows who she was in reality; he’d sourced the photos from the Californian website specialising in anonymous images at least two years earlier.

But to him, she was Rosie. She would be to Lucy, too. Should he send the image anyway? Was he being overcautious?

Serendipity decided for him. His inbox pinged; it was an email he didn’t recognise for a moment but then he spotted Lucy’s name in the handle: urlucy@duckpond.com

Arthur opened the message.


Hi Rosie

OK, iv deleted all r stuff frm my old accnt. Gone 4ever!!! This is my new 1 – no 1 els hs it. Seeng as im only using ths cmputr 4 u+me now, I wnt 2 chnge t homepage. Wl u snd me a pic of u I cn use? Thtd b luvly!!! I cn snd u 1 of me 2 if u lik.

Luv, Yr Luce. (c wht I did with t new address there hahaha?)



Arthur enjoyed a happy coincidence as much as anyone. He smiled before typing his reply.


Hi Luce

How funny! Ws just thinking same – we need pix of eachothr! Amazing! We dnt need email! We cn jst think r mesgs 2 eachothr!!

Ok heres me! Hope u like it! Snd me urs now pls!

Love, yr Rosie.



Arthur sent the email and then sat back to take stock. He was pleased with himself. It had been an excellent couple of days. He’d succeeded in getting Lucy to submerge herself in their conspiracy a little deeper by opening the covert email link and agreeing to hide her computer from her father. Deleting their online correspondence was another tightening of the bonds of secrecy between them. Now they were exchanging photos. It was all undoubted progress.

Arthur nodded to himself. Although he’d stick with the softly softly approach, the time had arrived to begin raising the stakes. It was not quite endgame, not yet. But they were definitely coming into the home stretch.

He reached into the fridge for a second beer. He reckoned he’d earned it.




Twenty-Three

It was almost two weeks since Sally had shared with Nick the details of her post-mortem on Arthur Scanlon.

He’d had been careful to avoid asking her anything more about the case, partly to feign lack of interest and partly because there was probably nothing more she could usefully add even if she was willing to further confide in him. Pathologists reported to the police, not the other way around.

Lying in bed one evening preparing for sleep, Nick put his hands behind his head and for the hundredth time obsessively went over everything Sally had told him. The taser marks, the traces of ketamine. He was impressed with her remarkably accurate estimate of the victim’s alternate periods of total anaesthesia and semi-consciousness; it was almost as though she’d been there. She was clearly bloody good at her job.

But there was nothing to link him forensically to the abduction and killing. Absolutely nothing.

He had always assumed that the investigators would make the logical presumption that a winch of some kind had been involved, unless the executioner (Nick did not consider himself a murderer) had the strength of Samson. Sally’s forensic conclusion, based on those rope burns, was thus immaterial to him.

He had bought the winch for cash almost six months earlier at a Manchester construction company’s close-of-trading sale and kept it hidden in the loft of Willersey Cottage. He’d only fitted it to the pickup in the small brick garage next to the house the day before the crucifixion, then covered it with a heavy tarpaulin before setting out for Bristol. He was reasonably confident no one in the village had seen him leave or return; most of his neighbours would have still been in bed when he got back. Anyway, even if someone had, he had perfectly justifiable reasons for owning a pickup. Nick had been single-handedly refitting his cottage’s kitchen for months. He needed something robust to transport rubble and rubbish to the local tip and collect the new units from a wholesale suppliers in Swindon.

He’d chosen the vehicle with care, eventually rejecting Ford and Mitsubishi pickups for a used Volkswagen Amarok Highline. The VW carried a higher payload and, crucially, had a longer load-length than its rivals. Nick was confident about his choice.

During the long months of planning, he’d hesitated over only one detail: whether to replace the pickup’s tyres immediately afterwards. A garage might think changing four perfectly good ones for no obvious reason was a bit odd, and odd got you remembered. But fortunately the Highline’s tyres were barely legal when he bought it so the tyre centre in Cirencester had seen nothing unusual in replacing them. Nick was confident that all four worn treads would be deep in a landfill by now.

As for the winch, he’d stripped it down, disassembled it, wrapped the pieces in heavy-duty bin-liners and dumped them into a skip at the nearest council-run household waste and recycling centre. He’d noticed two security cameras covering the site but if he was ever asked – which was extremely unlikely – he’d claim he’d been dropping off bits of his old kitchen sink unit. No one would be able to prove otherwise.

Nick was now only troubled by a question indirectly connected to the killing: what was going to happen between him and Sally? He couldn’t see the slightest possibility of a future for them together. The enormity of what he had done would stand between the two of them like a concrete wall – a barrier only he would know was there.

He had no regrets about killing Scanlon. Not that he’d expected to have any during the long weeks of meticulous planning leading up to the night of the execution. The man was human vermin and Nick hadn’t the slightest qualms about exterminating him. But he’d never been under any illusion that what he was planning to do would utterly redefine him. It would be a burden he would have to carry in total secrecy for the rest of his days. A lifetime of loneliness awaited.

He didn’t care. His burning thirst for revenge had consumed him utterly. He was prepared to sacrifice everything on the altar of retribution – everything. His liberty, if it came to it. His emotional freedom, too: any possibility of close relationships in future was out of the question. Some secrets were so terrible they could only be carried alone. Nick knew he was deliberately choosing to be a spiritual castaway, isolated from the world by a deed of such magnitude that he might as well withdraw to a desert island.

So he’d been caught off-balance when, just as he was making his final preparations, he’d met Sally and, almost at once, found himself imagining some kind of future with her. Not necessarily marriage or a life together (although who knew?) but the possibility of a connection that might, just might, be viable after he had… well… afterwards. When it was done.

‘Ha!’ Nick grunted, reaching out to switch off his bedside lamp. ‘You’ve got a connection now all right. So what are you going to do about it?’

He’d soon have bigger things to worry about.




Twenty-Four

Peter Johnson’s mobile went off as he was about to step into the shower.

‘Your phone’s ringing!’ his wife called to him from the bedroom.

‘Fuck. Answer it, will you, love? Tell them I’m coming.’

Moments later he cautiously re-entered the room, naked. ‘Not on FaceTime, are we?’

She laughed. ‘At this time of the morning? What do you think? I haven’t got my own face on yet. Sound only, trust me. Here.’ She tossed the phone across the bed to him. He caught it and turned the speaker on.

‘DCI Johnson. Who is this?’

He heard a woman’s chuckle. ‘Your fully clothed computer tekkie. DS Hopley at your service. Top of the morning to you, sir.’

Johnson smiled. ‘Morning, Susan. I was about to take a shower. Why the breakfast call?’

‘I thought you’d prefer it to a late-night one, sir. I nearly called you just after midnight, but I reckoned you’d be already tucked up in bed. I have news.’

‘Scanlon’s laptop?’

‘Yup. We’re in. Broke through the last firewall late last night.’

‘And?’

‘He was a player. A catfisher. He liked little girls – well, adolescents, teenagers – and he pretended to be one. Very convincing actually. Want me to go into detail here or at the office?’

Johnson considered.

‘Office,’ he said at last. ‘Nine o’clock good for you? I really want that shower.’

‘Sure. But after you’ve seen what we’ve found, you might want to take another one.’



Susan Hopley and her assistant were waiting in Johnson’s office when he arrived soon after nine. Scanlon’s secret laptop was already open on the DCI’s desk, plugged in and charging. The screen glowed faintly.

‘Morning, sir,’ Hopley said. ‘This is DC Woods.’ Johnson nodded a greeting to both detectives as he sat down.

‘Full disclosure,’ Hopley continued. ‘It’s Stuart here who did most of the code-cracking. I keep telling him he should hand in his papers and work in the private sector. He’d make a bloody fortune.’

‘Well, none of us are in this game for the money, are we?’ the DCI drily observed. ‘But I’m glad you’re on the team, Stuart.’ He nodded towards the laptop. ‘What have we got?’

Woods cleared his throat. ‘As I believe the DS has already informed you, sir, our man was a nasty piece of work and that’s probably an understatement. He was a serious catfisher. He—’

Johnson held up his hand. ‘Sorry, I’m a bit vague on that particular word. Explain, please.’

Woods nodded. ‘Of course. Catfishing is the process of luring someone into a relationship by means of a fictional online persona.’ He gestured towards the laptop. ‘Scanlon doesn’t feature as himself in any of the emails and chat room posts on here. He adopted the persona of a 16-year-old schoolgirl called Rosie. Considering Scanlon was unmarried with no children, let alone teenage children, it was a remarkably convincing impersonation.’ He turned towards his sergeant. ‘You certainly think so, don’t you, ma’am?’

DS Hopley nodded briskly. ‘I do. As you know, sir, I have two teenage daughters, thirteen and fifteen. I sometimes see their online messaging and it’s a very distinctive combination of abbreviations and teen slang. Scanlon had it off pat. He must have spent a long time in teen chat rooms studying the form. He comes across as a savvy, cool and sometimes even quite funny adolescent. If I didn’t know he was a 42-year-old saddo still living with his mum and dad I’d be totally hoodwinked.’

Johnson grunted. ‘Okay. So apart from being an expert… um, catfisher, what else do these streams tell us? What exactly was his game?’

Woods took up the briefing again. ‘A double game, actually, sir. Partly pure voyeurism, partly an exercise in control. The voyeurism was pretty much what you might expect: he got teenage girls to talk about their sexual experiences, intimate physical details, masturbation, all the usual. He’d invent stories of his own and encourage them to share. Deeply creepy – some of it makes your flesh crawl – but not in itself actively dangerous. Exploitative and abusive, certainly, but not a direct threat to the person.’

Woods paused. ‘But his attempts at controlling behaviour certainly were. A threat, I mean. Here, Scanlon shifted from pervert to prowler. Once he’d established the girls’ confidence, he began to home in on their insecurities and self-doubt. All the typical teenage anxieties. General appearance, weight, eating patterns, social and family insecurities, drug use, self-harm. The more we read last night, the clearer the pattern that began to emerge.’ He glanced at his sergeant. ‘Ma’am?’

Susan Hopley nodded and angled the laptop so that Johnson could view it. She tapped the return button and the screen lit up.

‘This is a typical exchange, sir. Obviously we’ve printed everything off for you, but I thought you might like to look at this as a for-instance.’ She began scrolling down slowly and Johnson leaned in closer to read.

‘This part is Scanlon – as Rosie, of course. He’s pretending to be depressed and even hints at feeling suicidal. That’s a constant theme in these exchanges. Scanlon would target girls who opened up to him about their feelings of lack of self-worth and melancholia. Once he’d identified someone who was in a vulnerable state, he’d set up an exclusive messaging arrangement with them, usually by email like this one. See what he’s doing here?’ She paused scrolling and tapped the screen with her fingernail.

Johnson peered even closer and began to read.


Hon, I SOOO kno how u feel. Im t same, babes. Somtms I just wanna end it, lik u do. (well, ok, u hvnt sd tht but I cn tell its how u feel undrnth. Im rite, rnt i? Anyway why SHDNT we do it? Maybes wl do it togthr 1 day! Jst go 2 sleep fr evr+evr. Tht’d show evry1, wdnt it!!!



‘Christ. He gets his jollies from persuading them to take their own lives. Sick bastard. Please tell me there’s no evidence here that he succeeded.’

DS Hopley shook her head. ‘No. As you’ll see when you go through the printouts, Scanlon formed two exclusive relationships after catfishing in chat rooms, and they were still ongoing, with the last emails exchanged only a couple of days before he died. He took his time, didn’t try to rush anything. In fact, I’d say at least three quarters of the traffic on here falls into the voyeurism category. It’s only in the last couple of months that he closed in on two especially vulnerable girls.’

Johnson raised his eyebrows. ‘Last couple of months? How far back does this shit go?’

‘Not far,’ Hopley said. ‘Just over six months. It’s a fairly new laptop.’

Johnson nodded slowly. ‘Right. So where does this put us in terms of motive for murder? Scanlon’s a perv with a sick interest in suicide and manipulating vulnerable girls into considering it. Disgusting, but how does that get him nailed up on a cross? Any indication he was rumbled by anyone?’

Hopley shook her head again. ‘Nope. His fake ID held good right up to the end, as far as we can tell. Anyway, even if someone did get suspicious it’s difficult to see how they could have identified the real Scanlon and tracked him down to a specific address in Bristol. Let alone a teenage girl finding the wherewithal to crucify him. Scanlon was a total sicko, but I don’t think that’s why he was murdered.’

There was a long silence. Eventually Johnson stood up and went to the coffee pot that was simmering in the corner of his office. ‘Want some, either of you?’

‘Please. Black, no sugar. Same for both of us.’

Johnson came back with three steaming mugs and sat down again. He took a few sips from his own before speaking again.

‘I think you’re right, Susan. But I think you’re wrong, too.’

‘How so?’

‘Of course Scanlon wasn’t crucified by a teenage girl; the very idea is absurd. And if, as you say, there’s no indication that his cover – this Rosie – was blown, then no one knew the truth; not his targets, not their families. I’ll go through the printouts later but I’m sure you’re right about that.’ Johnson sipped more coffee.

‘But here’s what bothers me. You say Scanlon took his time. He didn’t rush the grooming of these poor kids. He was patient. And he was fluent in internet teen-speak. So I reckon he must have been playing this game longer than six months. A lot longer. How do the very first exchanges on this laptop strike you? As opening dialogue? Or more like a continuation of existing conversations?’

DS Hopley was thoughtful. ‘Conversations interrupted, I’d say.’

‘Exactly. And given that the first laptop we examined had no trace of any of this vile stuff on it, what conclusions do you draw?’

The sergeant sighed. ‘The obvious one, sir. How stupid of me. There’s another computer. Probably hidden somewhere in Scanlon’s house.’

Johnson gently tapped the table. ‘I said conclusions, Susan. Plural. Of course there’s another computer, unless he destroyed it or threw it away. But either way, what else does that tell us?’

Hopley shook her head. ‘I’m… I’m not entirely sure what you’re driving at, sir.’

‘Then allow me to enlighten you. Both of you.’

Johnson closed Scanlon’s laptop and pushed it away with a moue of distaste.

‘Scanlon almost certainly did this, this catfishing, for years. He was clearly extremely skilled at it and that points to long experience. Which in turn raises the question of whether he’d already managed to persuade some troubled young soul to do away with herself.’

He looked over his coffee at DS Hopley. ‘Susan, what if that was one of your daughters? What if you eventually discovered why she’d taken her own life? How she’d been cajoled and manipulated into doing it? What might you do if you tracked the monster down?’

‘I’d kill him.’

Johnson rose. ‘Find the third computer. Find it and we could find our motive. And our killer.’




Twenty-Five

Nick had been keeping his daughter under covert surveillance at home for weeks. He was as sure as he could be that she was harming herself – she still invariably wore long-sleeved tops – and he now had little doubt that she had developed an eating disorder. She was thinner than ever, despite clearing her plate most evenings at supper. Visits upstairs usually followed shortly after. Nick sometimes crept up the stairs after her, hovering on the landing and listening to the unmistakeable sounds coming from the bathroom. The pattern was well-established.

An uneasy truce had descended since their last row. He was loath to break it, but he knew he had to speak to Lucy. How he longed to talk to Elise, to listen to her wise counsel. She would have known exactly what to do and say. But he was on his own.

Eventually Nick took inspiration from Macbeth (‘If it were done… then ’twere well it were done quickly’). He couldn’t see any point in further delay: he knew what he knew. He also felt instinctively that it would be better done on neutral ground, not in the cottage. It was on a sunny Saturday morning that he saw his chance and took it.

‘I’ve got a stupid project to do this weekend, for History, on local landmarks,’ Lucy told him over breakfast. ‘Sooo boring. Any suggestions, Dad?’

Nick looked out of the kitchen window. A hint of summer lingered outside; there were plenty of green leaves still on the trees, swaying lazily in the unusually warm mid-October sunshine.

The idea came to him.

‘Yeah, I do actually. What about the amphitheatre over at Cirencester? It’s only about half an hour’s drive.’ He smiled at her. ‘That place made me what I am today. I’ve told you all that, haven’t I?’

Lucy nodded. ‘About a million times.’

He smiled. ‘Sorry. Look – it’s a gorgeous day outside, probably the last one we’ll get this year. Why don’t we revisit my lost youth? I can paint you a picture of what used to go on there as we stroll around. I’ll be your walking, talking search engine. Who needs Google when you’ve got me? Just record me on your phone and write it all up when we get back.’

‘Sounds like a plan, Dad. Let me get my stuff. Fifteen minutes?’

‘Perfect. We can have lunch at the Lygon Arms in Broadway afterwards. Let’s make a proper day of it.’



Once they passed through the amphitheatre’s defile, the unseasonal temperature rose a few degrees more. Father and daughter walked into a crucible of humidity and heat enclosed by the turf-covered embankments blocking what little breeze there was.

Lucy was suitably impressed. ‘Wow, this is really big, isn’t it? I had no idea it would be like this. Why isn’t this place more famous? Like Stonehenge or something? It’s amazing, Dad. No wonder your head was turned, an imaginative little kid like you.’

Nick nodded. ‘The difference between this place and Stonehenge is that we don’t really know what went on at Stonehenge. It’s mostly informed guesswork. But we do know what happened here, right where we’re standing now, because it’s recorded history.’

He swept his arm in a semi-circle, tracing the slopes above them. ‘And it’s not so different from how we live today. This place would have had the atmosphere of a soccer stadium on a Saturday afternoon. Those terraces would have been divided into groups of fans, each with their favourite gladiator, or slave fighting for his freedom. And there would have been a lot of betting going on.’ He pointed back towards the entrance. ‘See where we came in? That’s where the fast-food stands would have been, lined up on both sides.’

‘Just a minute.’ Lucy fumbled for her iPhone and pressed record. ‘This is good stuff, Dad. The Romans had fast food? Seriously? How do you know?’

He grinned. ‘Because we’ve found it – or what’s left of it. At Pompeii, mostly, preserved in the volcanic ash there. Even the signs advertising what you could buy survived. The Romans called fast food outlets “thermopolium”, from the Greek “thermos”, meaning hot, and “poleo”, for sell.’

‘Hmm. What you might call Maccy-diums!’

Nick threw his head back in laughter. ‘Very good! Put that in your essay. I’ll certainly pinch it for one of my articles.’

She bowed. ‘Be my guest, father dear… Anyway, what was it? The food, I mean. Don’t tell me they had burgers.’

Nick laughed again. ‘Not exactly. But archaeologists have found lots of stuff we’re familiar with today. Fragments of duck bones and the remains of pork and fish and seafood in huge clay pots. They think they’ve identified what we’d call paella today. There were big wooden ladles, for dishing the stuff out, and massive wine flasks. They’d transfer the wine into big beakers and sell it by the mug. The food came on wooden platters. If you returned the cups and platters later on, you’d get a penny back or a parting dollop of food. The aromas around those stalls must have been fantastic!’

‘Stop it, Dad! You’re making me hungry!’

A cue line if ever there was one. Nick seized his moment.

‘Look, just switch that off for a sec, will you, Luce? I want to talk to you about something else for a minute.’

She stopped recording and dropped the phone into her shoulder bag.

‘Okay. What is it?’

Nick turned to face her and gently took her hands into his own.

‘I’m not going to fanny about, Luce. I’ll just come out and say what I’ve been thinking for a long time now.’ He took a deep breath. ‘I reckon you might have a problem with food, an eating disorder. It’s nothing to be ashamed of. Lots of people have them. But I’m your dad and I love you very much and I want to help you get free of it. I think—’

Lucy snatched her hands away.

‘I. Do. Not. Have. An. Eating. Disorder. I DO NOT, Dad! There’s nothing wrong with me. Look at me. Look at me, Dad! Do I look as if I’ve got a problem with food? Just look at the size of me. I’m overweight, for God’s sake!’

Nick swallowed. ‘Lucy… you’re anything but overweight. You’re underweight, my darling. You have been for months. You’re skinny as a rake. There’s almost nothing to you.’

His daughter nodded her head in ironic agreement.

‘Oh, sure, I’m underweight, Dad. Like someone who clears her plate every night would be, obviously. I eat loads, you can see that for yourself!’ She stamped her foot. ‘This is a ridiculous conversation. I can’t believe we’re having it.’

Nick reached out for her hand again, but she pulled back. ‘No. I want you to admit you’re wrong, Dad. And I want you to say sorry to me. Then you can just… you can just drop this, okay?’

He shook his head. ‘No. Lucy. Listen. Of course I see you eating at home in the evenings. It’s obvious that you’re hungry after school, incredibly hungry, these days. That’s why I have our meal ready for pretty much the moment you come through the door. You always seem to be starving.’

She stamped her foot. ‘Exactly! So how can I have a problem with food unless it’s because I’m eating too much of it? God, this is so stupid.’

Nick hadn’t expected this level of denial. Should he press on? He hesitated. It was now or never.

‘Look, Lucy… I know what you do afterwards, upstairs. I’m not deaf. I hear you going into the bathroom. I hear… the noises you make. I hear the toilet flushing and the taps running as you brush your teeth. You know what the word is for what you do.’

She stared at him. Impatience was turning into outright hostility. Her face hardened in a way he’d never seen before as she spat: ‘Oh, I get it. I get it. You spy on me, is that it? And in your mad, fucked-up world you’ve decided that I’m bulimic? Is that the word I’m supposed to know, Dad?’

‘Yes, it is. And it describes you, Lucy. Things are what they are; it’s no good either of us pretending any more. I want to help you. You’re the dearest thing in the world to me. I can help you, if you let me. And look… there’s something else, isn’t there? Something else you’re doing to yourself. It’s why you’ve been in long sleeves all summer, isn’t it?’

Lucy looked wildly around her at the steep terraces that surrounded them.

‘Oh my God! Is this why you got me to come here? To accuse me of all these horrible things? Is this your idea of some sort of… of… oh I don’t know, gladiatorial combat? With your own daughter? Words instead of swords? I—’

Nick stepped forward, pointing to Lucy’s left arm. He spoke gently but with as much authority as he could muster.

‘Show me your arms. Show me your arms, Lucy, and then tell me I’m wrong. We both know what we’ll see, don’t we?’

She held his gaze a few moments and then clapped both hands over her ears, shaking her head from side to side. When she spoke, it was almost in a scream.

‘NO! NO! NO! I’m not doing this, Dad! I’m not listening to any more of this! I’m going. I’ll get a taxi in Cirencester. I’ll grab some stuff when I get home and go and stay with a friend. I can’t believe you’ve done this. I can’t believe it!’

She burst into dry, racking sobs, turned and ran back towards the narrow entrance.

‘Lucy! Lucy!’

Her voice floated back to him, already distant.

‘No! Leave me alone.’

Then she was gone.

Nick stood perfectly still in the centre of the amphitheatre, defeated. He’d made everything worse. Much worse. He’d totally underestimated what Lucy’s reaction would be. What now? He couldn’t unsay any of it. Anyway, he shouldn’t. That would be to enter into a folie-à-deux with his daughter, a conspiracy against the truth.

But he’d obviously mishandled the situation badly. Elise would have been horrified.

The same question kept repeating itself as he walked very slowly back to the car.

What now?




Twenty-Six


Hi Luce. God, what a fuckedup sit8shn, ur dad following u round t house like that. What u eat is nothng 2do wth any1 but u! No wndr u wr so angry. I am 2 on ur bhlf, babes. Also if u wnt to cut, why shdnt u? We kno it RLY helps + its nt as if ur ctting any1 ELS, is it, FFS? Its UR biz, nthing 2 do wth him or anyn.

But its got me thinkng babes. Why dnt we we set a date (u kno – to DO IT). We kp tlking abt it, so why nt at least pick a day? (WE WDNT AXLY HAVE 2, OBVS, but wdnt it feel gd 2 kno we hd r way out all planned+ready? Itd mk me feel bttr – I kno tht 4sure, spshly as we’d b doing it TOGTHR, wdnt we?)

Hav a thnk abt it babes. I thnk we shd at lst pck a date. Cnt do any hrm, can it? B gd 2 kno thrs a way out if we need it, rite?

Luv, ur Rosie. Xx

Hi Rosie

Yeah I agree. I cnt go on lik this. Wen I look bk to whn mum died its lik Iv bn gng down+down+down evr since. YEARS OF IT. SICK OF IT. I kno cutting&evrthing sms 2 hlp, but lets be hnst we bth kno it’s a fuckup rly, dnt we? I dnt wnt 2b doing it frever bt I cnt c a way of stppng, (Cn u?) + now its cum btwn me+my dad + I hate tht. We usd 2b rly close. I fl lk Im lsing him now 2! Iv bn at my frnds 4 t lst 3 nites but I spose I shd go hom tomoz.

Im shr we wont go thru wth it, but yeah, lts pck a date! Ur rite, it WD mk me fl bettr, like I cd just get off a ride I dnt wnt 2b on any mor. Wen dyou thnk we shd do it?

Love, ur Luce. X x

Hi Luce

How ab tur brthdy, nxt month? Nov 17? If I do it wth u (+ I WILL, promis!!!!) it cd b my prsnt to u. Wot u thnk?

T thing is, babes, this is nvr gonna go away, is it? I kno that cos I hate my life as mch as u do urs. Evry time I try + chnge thngs, they jst slip bk to whr they wr. Wts the point, FFS? Wth me its my mum. She hates me. I somtims think shes rite 2. Im such a fuck-up, babes. U kno that, Ive tld u so mny time, hvnt I?

Wth u its ur mum 2, but t opposite. U I mean 2, bt u fcked HER up, but like 4EVER, rite? I kno uv hd therapy – evrthing, tllng u it wasn’t ur fault (+ it wsnt, babes) bt tht hsnt made any diff, hs it?! U cnt go on lik ths. Nthr cn I. I jst want 2 go 2 sleep+never wk up. Why dnt we jst do it (tgethr, thatll mk it so mch easier) + gt it ovr wth?

Wt do u say? Shll we? Dnt wnt to do it on my own!! BT I WLL IF I HV 2. AM gonna do this, babes. Cmon, birthday grl! Say yes!

Ok.

L xxxxx






PART TWO




Twenty-Seven

The coroner cleared his throat before glancing across at the girl’s father sitting in the well of the court. The man was staring fixedly at the floor. The coroner felt deeply sorry for him. To lose a child was terrible, but to lose a child by their own hand… Well, it wouldn’t be the first time he’d had to deliver such a finding or likely the last. He cleared his throat again and began his calm summary.

‘This has been a most tragic case. Lucy Wychwood was an intelligent, active young woman with her whole life before her. We have heard that she had developed certain problems around the issues of self-harming and the eating disorder known as bulimia, but there is no reason to think these could not have been resolved over time. Indeed, Miss Wychwood’s father had already begun that process, despite meeting considerable initial resistance from Miss Wychwood, which is not unfamiliar in such cases.

‘We may never know what was in this young lady’s mind on the night of her death. No note has been found and seemingly she had not confided in any of her friends that she was experiencing suicidal thoughts. Therefore, it may be that this was an impetuous, spur-of-the-moment act, taken with little forethought or preparation.

‘The police statements concerning the scene of death and subsequent pathology reports point unequivocally to death by oxygen deprivation, brought about by the application of a noose, fashioned from nylon rope and applied to the deceased’s neck. I am certain that this was attached by Miss Wychwood and Miss Wychwood alone. I therefore have no hesitation in declaring that the deceased took her own life, for reasons unknown. My profound sympathy goes to her grieving father.’

The coroner nodded briefly to the clerk of the court who stood. ‘Court is adjourned. We will reconvene at two o’clock for the consideration of the next case on the list of proceedings.’

The small knot of reporters in the press gallery shuffled out and the clerk followed his coroner through a side door. In under a minute, Nick was alone in the wood-panelled courtroom. He sat there, still as stone. He eventually rose to his feet when an official, giving a discreet cough of warning, came in to place a fresh carafe of water on the coroner’s desk.

Lucy’s father left the chamber exactly as he had arrived an hour earlier: extremely slowly and in total silence.



Arthur Scanlon finished reading the press reports of the previous day’s inquest with a swirling mix of emotions – pride, exultation, astonishment and gratitude. Twice he rose from his computer screen to perform a little jig of triumph, punching the air as he did so.

He had done it. He had done it. Only now could he be sure, although he’d increasingly begun to believe that the project might have been successful: Lucy had dropped completely off the radar after their final exchange of emails.

That was weeks earlier. Arthur had scanned news websites daily (especially those based in Gloucestershire) for reports of a teenage girl’s death at home. There had been nothing. The days when local newspapers offered comprehensive coverage of their ‘patch’ were long gone. If Lucy had gone through with it, he’d have to wait until the inquest to find out and that could take months.

But there were periods of self-doubt, too, when Arthur speculated that Lucy had simply baulked at the last moment and was simply too ashamed and embarrassed to contact Rosie again. Or maybe she feared that Rosie had gone through with her side of their suicide pact and was consumed by guilt. If so, Arthur certainly hoped that the little bitch was suffering. It wouldn’t be the first time one of his marks had refused at the final fence, and after months of painstaking grooming too.

But something whispered to him that this girl was different. Maybe it was in the tone of Lucy’s final message; there was a calm sense of determination about it. Arthur couldn’t shake off growing feelings of optimism. ‘We live in hope,’ he murmured to himself each time he shut down his laptop after another day’s fruitless online searching.

And now that hope had come to full, glorious fruition. Arthur hadn’t learned of his triumph while alone in his boxroom; he’d seen a report about it on an inside page of his father’s morning paper during breakfast, as the old man opposite him carefully folded his Daily Telegraph back on itself.

TRAGIC COTSWOLD GIRL IN MYSTERY SUICIDE was the headline suddenly facing him. The hand carrying a fourth slice of toast and Marmite froze halfway to its owner’s smeared mouth. Arthur felt as if he’d been jolted by an electric shock.

‘Give me that!’

His father peered over the top of the newspaper, puzzled. ‘Give you what, Arthur?’

His son didn’t bother to reply but snatched the paper from his father’s hands. He flapped the broadsheet’s pages out smooth and began to read.

‘Cirencester schoolgirl Lucy Wychwood took her own life at the family home, a coroner ruled yesterday after a brief hearing.

Describing it as ‘a most distressing case’, Mr Robert Richardson said there was no evidence to suggest why the 15-year-old had asphyxiated herself in her bedroom while her writer father slept. The teenager had, however—’

Arthur thrust the paper back at his father and stood up, trying to control his breathing. He would read the rest online upstairs. But fucking hell. Fucking hell. It had worked. And judging by those opening paragraphs, he was completely in the clear. Lucy had obviously done a brilliant job of hiding her laptop. When she told him where she was planning to conceal it (or rather, when she told Rosie) Arthur had whistled in admiration. Clever. Very clever. Short of someone taking the cottage apart, the device could conceivably remain hidden for decades, even longer, like one of those ancient, encrypted diaries that sometimes surface centuries after they were artfully placed out of sight.

After that last email from Lucy, Arthur had sent his own valedictory. It was brief and, unusually, he dropped almost all his carefully constructed teen speak and abbreviations; Arthur wanted these final instructions to be crystal clear.


Feelin sleepy, babes. Pills starting 2 work I think. Hey, its easier than I thought it wd b! Hon, don’t forget to hide ur laptop before u join me! Luv u babes. Luv you to death. X x x






Twenty-Eight

Nick wasn’t the one who found Lucy. On his daughter’s insistence in the weeks before her death, he had hired a cleaner. He wondered now if that was all part of Lucy’s plan; a way of sparing him the worst – a buffer zone between him and the unspeakable; a scout who could bring him terrible tidings and give him at least a few moments before confronting the horror that awaited him.

Not that the decision to seek a home help had been made without rancour. When Lucy returned home a few days after the debacle in the amphitheatre, she accused her father of spying on her.

‘You’ve obviously been listening at the bathroom door, Dad! I bet you’ve been going through my stuff when I’m at school, too, pretending you’re just in there to clean my room.’ Rosie had helpfully suggested this scenario.

‘Don’t be ridiculous, darling. Of course I don’t go through your things. Why would I? And I don’t press my ear to the bathroom door. I don’t need to. I can hear… well, everything… from down here. Lucy, we need to talk. You’re not well, my love.’

To his surprise, she had given a little ground.

‘Look, Dad, everyone my age goes through stuff like this. Dieting and… experimenting with… things. It’s normal. I’m fine. I’m not ill or anything. But I don’t want you coming into my room any more whether I’m there or not. I’m growing up. I need my privacy. And I’m sorry, but I don’t trust you, Dad. I know you mean well but you’re crowding me. You need to back off. We ought to get a cleaner. You’re busy writing and I’m revising for my exams. Surely we can afford one? Just for a couple of mornings a week, to start with?’

Nick didn’t think they needed a cleaner at all, but he wasn’t going to argue about it. He was keen to mend their relationship and that meant avoiding unnecessary conflict. Next day he visited the village post office and took details of local home helps advertising their services.

The following week, Molly started work at the cottage. ‘I can do you Tuesdays and Thursdays,’ she explained when he’d interviewed her over the phone. ‘Nine to eleven suit you, after your girl’s left for school?’

Nick was punctilious about staying away from his daughter’s room, not only when she was out of the house but in the evenings as well. Lucy seemed to be spending much more time alone in her bedroom these days and they watched far less television together. There were no more flare-ups between the two of them but, Nick reflected sadly, that was largely because they spent hardly any time in each other’s company.

Most evenings, after desultory conversation over supper (which far from wolfing down as before, Lucy now merely picked at) she would retreat upstairs. If she was making herself regurgitate, there was nothing to suggest it. Anyway, Nick reflected, there was hardly anything for her to bring up.

He usually spent the hours before bed, redrafting his latest script for Cassius, the title his BBC producer had favoured. Making his latest hero eponymous meant building up Cassius’s part and Nick was fully occupied writing extra scenes for his cavalry officer.

But no matter how late it was when he went to bed, Lucy’s light was always burning, a thin strip of luminosity fanning out across the hall floor from under her bedroom door.

He always knocked gently before going to his own room. ‘Night, Luce.’

‘Night, Dad.’

‘All okay?’

Her muffled reply was invariably the same. ‘Yeah, just revising and emailing a friend. I’m fine, Dad. See you tomorrow.’

‘See you tomorrow.’

A fortnight after coming back to Willersey Cottage, Lucy’s process of withdrawal was complete. Increasingly she skipped their evening meal entirely, explaining she’d eaten at a friend’s house on the way home. Nick didn’t believe her, but he wasn’t willing to risk another confrontation and the prospect of his daughter storming off again.

One evening, after Lucy had gone up, he phoned his literary agent for advice. Ollie had been reassuring.

‘Mate, she’s in her mid-teens. This is how they are at that age. Anna was exactly the same, spent hours in her room on her laptop or phone. Looking back, I’m sure she was stoned half the time. At least you don’t have that to worry about, do you? I think you’re probably more worried because it’s just the two of you.? Everything must seem a lot more intense.’

Nick had agreed. ‘I suppose that’s true. If her mother were here, we’d probably be laughing about it or at least helping each other keep things in perspective. This is classic teenage stuff, isn’t it?’

‘It is. Totally normal. She’ll come out of it. They all do eventually. You just have to give them the space and time to work through all that adolescent angst.’

Nick felt a little more optimistic after the conversation with Ollie. Perhaps that communicated itself to his daughter because the following Sunday after dinner – which for the first time in days Lucy had shared with him – she came downstairs and, moving almost silently behind him as he worked at his desk, slipped her arms around his neck and shoulders.

Nick almost went through the roof.

‘Jesus! That made me jump! I had no idea you were there!’

Lucy smiled and kissed the back of his head. ‘Sorry, Dad. Didn’t mean to startle you. I just wanted to say… well… I’m sorry. For everything. Everything. And that I love you, very much.’

Nick turned around to face her and brought one of her hands up to his face, kissing it. ‘There’s absolutely nothing to be sorry for, darling, nothing at all. I’m the one who’s sorry. I’ve made a bit of a hash of things recently, haven’t I? I was worried about you, but I only made things worse. It’s just that I love you so much and it made me a bit… clumsy. But we’re all right now, aren’t we, the two of us? We’re good?’

The obliqueness of her reply would come back to haunt him.

‘It’s all going to be fine, Dad, just fine. I promise you won’t have to worry about me, not anymore. I just came down to tell you that. And to say goodnight.’

He rose and kissed her forehead. ‘Goodnight, then, Lucy. Sleep tight.’

‘I will do. Night, Dad.’ She left the room.

Nick turned back to his computer and typed a new message into his email’s outbox.


Hi, Ollie.

Just a quick line to say you were right. Something of a rapprochement just now between Lucy and me! I think it’s light at the end of the tunnel (at last). Such a relief. I do love her so and I was really beginning to think I may have lost her.

Obviously early days but I really think it’s going to be all right now, as long as I don’t mess up.

Phew! Nice to feel some optimism about things here at home again.

*Btw have finished those additions to the Cassius scripts. I’ll send them over in the morning. Talk then.

Night, N.



He pressed Send, switched the computer off, killed the lights and went to bed.



‘Mr Wychwood! Mr Wychwood!’

The cleaner’s voice, coming from upstairs, seemed to fill the little house. Nick, finishing a late breakfast in the kitchen, felt a stab of alarm. The woman sounded demented.

He stood, calling out as he did so. ‘What is it, Molly? What’s wro—’

‘MR WYCHWOOD!!’ Molly was coming down the stairs now; he could hear the pounding of her feet on the last few treads and the noise of them skidding on the polished wooden floor of the hall. Then she was in the kitchen, pale as a ghost and gasping for breath.

‘Oh, Mr Wychwood! Oh, oh, oh!!!’

The relaxed and smiling woman who had arrived at the cottage ten minutes earlier had vanished, replaced by this weeping, wailing apparition.

‘Molly! What’s happened? Whatever is it?’

‘Oh-oh-oh-oh-oh!!’

‘MOLLY!’

Now she had both hands pressed to her mouth and he could hardly make out what she was saying to him. Something about Lucy.

‘Lucy? She’s at school. She would have left half an hour ago.’

The woman shook her head violently from side to side. Pulling one hand away from her face, she pointed at the ceiling. Now her voice was barely above a whisper.

‘No, no, no. No, no, no. She’s up there.’ The pointing finger trembled. ‘She’s up there, Mr Wychwood. Oh, Mr Wychwood… she’s… she’s…’

He stared at her, a terrible, freezing dread beginning to congeal in his veins. ‘What?’ The voice was thick, unrecognisable. ‘What? What’s the matter with Lucy?’

Molly stepped toward him, now reaching out with both her arms, shock in her face dissolving into a dreadful pity.

‘Oh, Mr Wychwood… I’m so, so sorry…’




Twenty-Nine

The last person to enter the bedroom was the PC who made a final sweep for evidence after Lucy had been taken from the house. An autopsy was automatic in such cases – sudden, unexpected or violent deaths, suspected suicides. Police procedure was to report Lucy’s death to the local coroner; it was he who requested a post-mortem, which had been conducted by the duty pathologist.

As Nick would say at the subsequent inquest, Lucy left no note. Her laptop had been left on her dressing table: it was still switched on and connected to the cottage Wi-Fi. Police found no emails or internet searches that gave even the smallest clue that the teenager was planning on taking her own life.

With Nicholas’s anguished permission they also made a fingertip search of Lucy’s wardrobe, clothes and bedside drawers. Nothing out of the ordinary was discovered.

As well as determining cause of death, the autopsy report included other observations. The pathologist found that Lucy was considerably underweight for her height and age and bore the unmistakable marks of self-harming. Interviewed by police – with great sensitivity – Nick told them as much as he knew.

‘I never, ever got the impression she was suicidal,’ he said despairingly. ‘She had issues, for sure, had done since her mother died… We both did, actually, but she’d had a lot of therapy back in Cornwall which definitely helped. Moving here helped even more; it made her really happy, especially at first. That’s why I couldn’t understand the cutting and the bulimia when it started. But she wouldn’t talk to me about it… She just got angry and defensive when I tried to bring it up with her.’

As the headlines faded in the weeks following Lucy’s death, Nick compulsively replayed every recent conversation he had had with his daughter, desperately searching for some clue. Obviously their last exchange – when she’d come down to say goodnight to him – was her farewell; he could see that now. But not at the time, and he was unsparing with himself about it. If only he had paid more attention to what she’d said… her tone… perhaps he could have responded in a way that would have made a difference.

Nick also beat himself up about the way he’d handled Lucy’s eating disorder and self-harming. Why hadn’t he sought professional advice? Even if he’d been unable to persuade her to speak to someone about what she was doing to herself, he might have acquired some insight into her behaviour.

In short, Nick blamed himself for his daughter’s suicide, even though no one else did – not the police, not the coroner, nor any of Nick’s friends. It was a burden he was certain he would carry to his own grave.

Once the police were satisfied there was nothing of any significance to be found in Lucy’s bedroom and had carefully restored her belongings to their rightful places, Nick effectively sealed it off from the rest of the house. Everything inside was left exactly where it was on the day of the tragedy – clothes, books, wall-posters of film stars and singers. It wasn’t a shrine to Lucy, for the fundamental reason that no one ever visited it. The room was tucked away at the end of an L-shaped passage which meant that Nick didn’t even have to look at the door when he made his way to his own bedroom.

He was torn between selling up and moving elsewhere or staying in the place where he and his daughter had, despite their recent problems, shared happy times. Lucy’s room would always be a cursed place because of what had happened inside it, but the rest of the cottage was a storehouse of comforting memories for Nick. He was aware that it was an almost schizophrenic way to live day-to-day, but somehow it worked for him.

Matters might have continued in this way indefinitely if, almost exactly two years after Lucy’s death, the Cotswolds hadn’t been battered by the worst winter storm experienced in almost a century. Along with many of the other homes in the village, Willersey Cottage lost some roof tiles and the gaps between the joists beneath were exposed to torrential rain. But in Nick’s case, this would turn out to be something more than a temporary inconvenience.

It would set in motion a life-changing discovery.



The worst of the night’s storm was over by the time Nick made his way downstairs for breakfast. But though the wailing, shrieking wind had dropped to a steadier, throatier roar, the rain continued to come down in lashing torrents that rattled against the cottage windows like handfuls of gravel were being hurled at it.

‘Oh, bugger. BUGGER.’ Nick stopped short in the kitchen doorway, staring up at the ceiling or what was left of it. Great chunks of plaster had come away and were lying in sodden heaps on the floor and table; filthy rainwater was dribbling through the holes above. Nick grabbed the biggest pots and pans he could find and put them directly underneath the brown trickles. Then he headed back upstairs to discover which upper part of the house had been damaged.

He was only halfway up the stairs when he worked it out. It must be Lucy’s bedroom, of course, or rather the roof above it. The room was directly over the kitchen. Some tiles covering the loft space must have blown off during the storm.

He trudged back into the kitchen and went out onto the rain-drenched patio. He looked up at the roof above Lucy’s room.

Sure enough, six or seven slates were missing in a ragged line. Nick wiped the rain from his eyes as he stared up, feeling something close to dread rise in his throat. Not disquiet about the damage – a morning’s work for a good roofer and all repairs inside would be covered by insurance as well – but about what the damage inevitably meant he must do, now, this morning.

He was going to have to go into her room.

He didn’t go upstairs straightaway. He made himself a cup of tea first and sat at the dry end of the kitchen table, sipping it. ‘It’s just a room,’ he told himself, mumbling the words aloud. ‘Something like this was always going to happen, wasn’t it? So come on, just do it.’

Even so, he made and drank a second cup before finally heading slowly back up the stairs. He paused at the top and then, for the first time in two years, reluctantly turned right and then sharp left into the little corridor that led to Lucy’s door.

There it was, cream-painted, with the shiny fake-brass handle that hadn’t been turned or touched for so long. Nick stared at it for almost a minute. Finally, he reached out and gently twisted the shaft clockwise. As it had always done, the released door immediately swung open under its own weight – most of the old cottage’s doors hung crooked – and there it was in front of him: Lucy’s room.

Perhaps it was a kind of blessing that the storm damage had altered its appearance so much, Nick thought. Just as in the kitchen, the ceiling had come away in large chunks and rainwater was streaming down the far wall, where it disappeared behind a gap in the skirting board. Wallpaper was peeling off and curled down in water-darkened strips to the floor.

The room reeked of wet plaster; Lucy’s bed was covered in a soaking grey pyramid that looked like a miniature industrial spoil heap. Nick was almost grateful: it was nothing like the room he remembered. Nature had forced its way into this lonely sanctum and transformed it from sealed tabernacle to sodden tip.

The spell was broken. Nick stepped forward.



The village roofer had replaced the missing tiles by that same afternoon and an interior decorator in Cirencester would be arriving before the weekend to estimate for the inside repairs.

‘It sounds to me like roughly a week’s work,’ Nick was told. ‘My lads will bring some heaters over tomorrow to dry things out. In the meantime, check the state of that skirting board for me. Hopefully it hasn’t gone rotten and we can simply reattach it.’

It was getting dark by the time Nick returned to his daughter’s room. He carried a torch so that he could get a good look behind the skirting board that gaped away from the bottom of the wall. He was also equipped with a large screwdriver to lever the wooden planking even further out.

For a few minutes he fussed over his task. He was grateful to have something to focus on other than Lucy’s possessions, still dotted around the room on shelves and on top of her wardrobe.

The wooden board seemed in perfectly good condition to him. He was about to get up off his knees and leave when the torch slipped from his fingers and rolled into the loft space behind.

As he scrabbled for it, something further inside was caught in the haphazard beam of light. Whatever it was, it reflected back a dull, flat metallic gleam.

Nick prised the skirting further away from the wall and ducked his head to get a good look behind it. He pulled the focus ring on his torch and pointed it directly at the object.

He was looking at a laptop, its silver-pink lid firmly closed. Nick knew instantly that could only be Lucy’s. She must have hidden it there – that was why the skirting board had come away in the deluge; it was already loose.

He slid his right arm into the space and forced it in all the way up to the shoulder. Even then he could only just reach the laptop with his fingertips: Lucy must have pushed it in there with something, perhaps the long-handled brush borrowed from the kitchen.

Eventually he managed to get some purchase and slowly pulled the computer out. It had been far enough back to avoid the course of the deluge earlier: it was bone-dry.

Nick sat up, cross-legged, and balanced the laptop on his knees. It looked vaguely familiar. Wasn’t it the cheap temporary replacement he’d bought for Lucy when she told him her usual one was in the school IT workshop for repairs? The lid was dusty, but when he flipped it open the screen and keyboard looked pristine. Without much hope, he pressed the power button. Nothing happened. Hardly surprising after two years or more hidden away up here. But Nick was pretty sure that he had a compatible charger downstairs somewhere. It would be a start.

But a start to what, exactly? He stared at the lifeless screen. What secrets might he discover? Why had Lucy gone to such extraordinary lengths to hide this thing? What was on it that she wouldn’t entrust to the laptop that she had kept openly on her desk over there?

Nick felt a cold, prickling sensation at the base of his skull. He suddenly knew with absolute conviction that whatever memories this machine held, they would reveal to him why his daughter had died. He was holding Lucy’s shrouded other life in his hands: an electronic strongbox concealing her alternative existence.

And, as with all strongboxes, there had to be a key.




Thirty

As before, DCI Johnson took personal charge of the hunt for Scanlon’s hidden computer. He didn’t really expect this third laptop to be in Scanlon’s room and it wasn’t.

‘It won’t be as accessible as the one we found under the cut-out square of carpet,’ Johnson told his small team after an hour’s fruitless searching. ‘He almost certainly stopped using it around six months ago. Of course he might have disposed of it since then – but I somehow doubt it because it probably represented his greatest triumph. He’d want to be able to return to the scene of victory in virtual reality anytime he liked. I reckon it’s still around here somewhere.’

‘If it exists,’ muttered one of his team, not quite under his breath. Johnson glared.

‘I’d back Mark Williamson’s judgement over yours any day of the week, sonny,’ he snapped. ‘You take the rest of the upstairs with DS Hopley. DC Woods, you and I can make a start on the ground floor.’

Hours later they had found nothing. Peter Johnson was certain that he was right: Scanlon had owned another secret laptop, but perhaps he’d thrown it into the nearest river after all. In fact, if he had managed to persuade some poor girl to do away with herself, it was probably the wisest thing to do afterwards, along with setting up a new email account and profile on his new device.

The DCI was about to call it a day when Mr Scanlon came into the little dining room where Johnson had been half-heartedly examining the underside of a table. Car keys dangled from one of his hands.

‘My wife was going to make you and your colleagues coffee but there’s not enough milk,’ he said pleasantly. ‘If one of you moves your van from in front of the drive I can nip out in Arthur’s car and get some.’ The dead man’s father, Johnson thought, still seemed remarkably unaffected by his son’s recent passing.

‘That’s all right, Mr Scanlon, I was just thinking of—’ Johnson came to a sudden stop.

‘Arthur’s car? I thought that was your car in the drive. There’s no record of Arthur owning one.’

The man opposite looked slightly embarrassed.

‘Sorry, yes, it is registered in my name, but Arthur always called it his car, you see. He insisted we put him on the insurance. He gave himself first call on it. Well, only call, more like. It’s years since his mother or I were allowed to drive it. He kept the keys and he used to lock some of his stuff in the boot.’

Johnson stared at the older man. ‘He stored things in the boot? Why? Why not keep everything in his room?’

‘I dunno. He was funny like that. Secretive. Maybe he didn’t want his mother or me seeing something… you know… private… if we went into his room. Not that we were ever allowed in. So yes, yes, he did keep some things locked in the car.’

After that it was easy. DC Woods had spent two years in Traffic and knew how cars were put together. After the boot yielded nothing (not even under the emergency wheel), all the carpets had been pulled up and the backs of the seats investigated, Woods had the interior panels of the four-door hatchback carefully prised off and there, hidden behind a rear passenger door, was a slim rectangle wrapped in a thin grey towel. Woods grinned at his DCI. ‘After you, sir.’

Johnson carefully unfolded the cloth to reveal a silver Sony Vaio PC. He smiled.

‘Now. Now we start getting to the bottom of this.’ He handed the laptop to the junior who’d been doubtful earlier. ‘There’s a padded evidence bag waiting in the van for this. Put it inside and then bring it to me – I’ll take it in myself in my own car. I’ll be with the Scanlons – I want to thank them for their co-operation.’

The other man raised an eyebrow. ‘Co-operation in sticking it to their dead son, sir?’

Johnson gave a short laugh. ‘I suspect they’re only sorry they couldn’t do that to him when he was still alive.’



Nick had never thrown Lucy’s laptop away. He couldn’t bear to. Not that there was anything of particular note on it – just sundry emails to friends and a few school essays on Word that she’d never got around to finishing – but they represented her last thoughts on earth and were extraordinarily precious to him.

At least, he’d thought they were her final jottings. Until now he’d believed it was her only laptop. He knew its password (her birthday) because she’d had to tell him when he took it to the tech repair and backup centre, along with his own. Her account had been infected with a random virus which she’d inadvertently passed on to his email address.

Now he wondered if her secret computer used the same password. Of course, the device’s battery had died months before, but the charger for Lucy’s ‘legitimate’ laptop fitted this one too and a few minutes after plugging it in, Nick began opening whatever secrets were locked inside.

He typed in her birthday first.

Entry denied.

Nick tried as many versions of the day he and Elise had welcomed their daughter into the world as he could think of – the date in words, a mix of words and numbers, abbreviated versions and long forms. He even tapped it out in Roman numerals.

Entry denied.

Nick had read somewhere that people who used basic personal information for their computer passwords – birthdays, anniversaries, car registration numbers, addresses – rarely strayed into more abstract areas for further inspiration. He was as certain as he could be that Lucy would have chosen a simple name or number that had some unique significance to her, something she could recall without effort.

He tried everything he could think of. His birthday, Elise’s birthday, any series of numerals or letters, or both combined, that might have meant something to his daughter. In one dark moment he even hesitantly typed in the date of Lucy’s death, wondering – not for the first time – if it had been an act that was long-planned.

Entry denied.

Every so often the computer froze and locked him out because he’d typed in one too many incorrect passwords. He grew weary of waiting for it to re-start, and eventually gave up for the day. He was certain he’d crack the code sooner rather than later, but he needed to give his brain a rest and let his subconscious work on the problem. Maybe the solution would come to him during sleep.

He made himself scrambled eggs and went to bed early, propping himself up on his pillows and forcing himself to concentrate on something else for a while, like his rumbling argument with the BBC over the title of the upcoming series of Shortsword. Nick could see nothing wrong with Shortsword as the programme’s handle – the audience would recognise it instantly from the hit first series – but some bright spark at the Beeb wanted to re-brand it as ‘Cassius’ after the eponymous hero.

Nick began typing an email to the executive producer, trying to keep his irritation in check.

‘I may decide to kill Cassius off,’ he wrote, ’so it would be a mistake to name this series after him. I have to be free to write what I think the narrative should be and follow it wherever it takes me. Cassius is a high-risk, front-line cavalry officer. I don’t want to give him some sort of cartoonish, Disneyesque, charmed life. Those were brutal times. Cassius may die in battle or he may meet an accidental end. He may even take his own life in an act of misguided honour. The Romans commonly—’

Nick stopped writing and stared at the wall opposite.

An accidental death.

A suicidal one.

He had already tried entering the date his daughter died into her laptop without result. But what about the day Elise had drowned? That had had enormous and lasting impact on Lucy, hadn’t it?

A cold conviction began to seep into Nick’s veins. He pushed his laptop to one side and kicked the duvet away. A moment later he was padding across the landing to Lucy’s bedroom. The laptop was still charging, its red power light winking gently in the darkness. Nick snapped on the overhead light and opened the computer’s lid. The screen lit up, its blank code bar inviting a fresh entry.

He swallowed. He knew with absolute certainty that this was the solution he’d been groping towards all day. Lucy’s birthday password on her other computer had been written as six figures, each pair separated by simple forward slashes. He took a deep breath, then entered the date of his wife’s death in exactly the same format.

The screen flashed, winked bright green twice, and darkened momentarily before lighting up again in pure white. Three words, in confident capitals, glowed in cheerful welcome at the centre of the page.

HELLO AGAIN, LUCY!




Thirty-One

The water had stopped dripping from the ceiling in Lucy’s bedroom hours earlier and the big electric heaters the builders had brought up were already doing a good job of drying everything out. But it was stifling in there. Lucy’s secret laptop, secret no longer, was perched on a small table set against the wall furthest away from all the damage. For reasons he couldn’t quite explain to himself, Nick hadn’t wanted to take his daughter’s computer out of the room where it had been sleeping for so long.

But it was simply too hot in there for him to go to work on it. He could see that the battery was fully charged so he unplugged the power and carried the laptop to his own room. He climbed back into bed and propped it up on a pillow in front of him.

For the first few minutes he thought he wouldn’t find anything on it. Literally nothing at all. All the files seemed to be completely empty. His daughter hadn’t used any of the search engines, either, or if she had she’d managed to delete any trace of it. There were no Word documents. All folders reported themselves as being up to date, but there was nothing in any of them.

With rapidly diminishing hopes he clicked on to Lucy’s email. It was the same story there. Nothing in the inbox. Nothing in the outbox. Nothing under sent items, or deleted items, or search folders or drafts. He was about to exit email when something struck him as being odd about the list of headings on the screen. He couldn’t quite put his finger on it for a moment and then he realised what it was.

There was no junk. Not a junk box, empty like all the others. There was no trace of a junk or spam folder at all. Had Lucy somehow deleted the whole thing?

He scrolled down to the bottom of the screen, but the cursor wouldn’t go any further. Nick noticed something else that wasn’t quite right: there was a folder there, right at the bottom of all the others, but it didn’t have any sort of heading or description. It was just a blank, unlabelled rectangle. Without much hope, Nick clicked onto it. Nothing happened. Half-heartedly he double-clicked, just for the hell of it.

This time the laptop flickered, emitted a low bell tone and the screen went blank. For only a few moments. Suddenly it lit up again and there it was: the missing file. Lucy had obviously done what she could to hide it, although not very successfully.

Nick clicked on the little rectangular box that was now marked ‘junk’ and this time the response was instant. The file opened and his jaw dropped slightly.

The display told him there were hundreds of messages there, sent and received. He scrolled down and randomly clicked on one of the received emails.

It was from someone calling herself Rosie. The message was brief, heavily abbreviated – almost in code to Nick’s eye, unschooled in online teen speak – and seemingly to do with sleeping pills. It was dated about a month before Lucy died.

Nick scrolled further down before halting again. This time, he was looking at an email from Lucy to Rosie. It was brief, not much more than a line, saying she would ‘have to think about it’. Think about what?

He began clicking on more emails, indiscriminately. All the messages were either to or from this Rosie. No one else was involved. It was exclusively a two-way correspondence.

Nick pushed the pillow and laptop further down the bed and climbed out. He was going downstairs to make a pot of strong coffee.

It was going to be a long night.



Several months after Nick was settling down into his pillows to begin deciphering the meaning of Lucy and Rosie’s exchanges, DCI Johnson was sliding Arthur Scanlon’s laptop across his DCS’s desk. Williamson nodded approvingly.

‘Good work, Peter, good work. I should have thought of the parents’ car, although I suppose we would have searched it eventually… Now then, what do we have here?’

He looked appraisingly at the Vaio as he flipped its lid open. ‘Looks pretty well-used, doesn’t it? Quite battered, in fact. Any idea how old it is?’

His DCI nodded. ‘Mary in tech support reckons at least five years, based on this particular model. Could be older. She’s checking with Sony. But as you say, sir, it’s been worked pretty hard. Quite a lot of fading beginning to appear on some of the keys – the ‘e’ in particular, of course – and the built-in mouse has seen better days. I reckon we’ll find a lot more evidence of chat room material than on Scanlon’s last one.’

Williamson eased the laptop shut and slid it back across the desk.

‘Agreed. Which means there’s an appreciable chance we’ll find evidence that he was successful in persuading some vulnerable kid into doing what he wanted. Look for someone he increasingly homes in on or takes a special interest in. If she suddenly drops off the radar after appearing to buy into his cajolery about self-harming, or worse, find out who she was – you may have to use her IP address to identify her, of course, if she’s messaging anonymously – and check the public record to see if anyone of that name has made an attempt on their own life.’

He nodded towards the laptop. ‘How long before you manage to hack into this thing, d’you reckon?’

Johnson stood up and dropped the Sony into his shoulder bag.

‘Hard to say. Could be hours, could be days. But after the last one, we know the way Scanlon’s mind worked, pretty much. I reckon we’ll be through his firewalls much faster this time.’

‘Good. Keep me in the loop. I’ve got a feeling about this one, Peter. Whoever crucified the bastard must have been driven by demons beyond your and my imagining.’

He paused. ‘Well, one demon, at least. Scanlon himself. I believe we’re going to find ourselves looking at the kind of revenge murder a lot of people might actually be minded to understand – maybe even to forgive.’

Johnson raised his eyebrows. ‘Really, sir? The guy was nailed to a cross upside down. He died in agony.’

The DCS smiled faintly at him. ‘There speaks a man without daughters.’




Thirty-Two

Nick stared blindly out of his bedroom window. He hadn’t bothered to close the curtains when he’d climbed into bed with Lucy’s laptop hours earlier. Now, light filtered through the leaded, diamond-shaped panes squeezed crookedly into their centuries-old frames distorted with time. Distractedly, he wondered if this old cottage had ever concealed a secret as grotesque as the one he had slowly deciphered, with growing horror and disbelief, during the long hours before dawn.

So. This was why. This was why. At last, he understood. His beautiful, sweet, treasured, darling child had taken her own life because of… because of… this. This evil. This coercive, manipulative messaging that had robbed Lucy of her existence and him of his daughter.

Nick was in no doubt that Lucy had been exploited, tricked and manoeuvred into taking her own life. None whatsoever. He was a writer. He could spot patterns, see the ruses and stratagems that could steer and direct and control a reader’s emotions and, in this case, actions.

Was ‘Rosie’ really who she said she was? A troubled teenage girl in search of a kindred spirit? Nick didn’t believe it for a second. Several times during the night he had forced himself to scroll back through the increasingly intense correspondence to take the back bearings. And yes. ‘Rosie’ was always the one to suggest that the two of them advance to the next level of their twisted little gavotte, their danse macabre. Always ‘Rosie’. Never Lucy.

‘Rosie’ had been consistently clever and subtle about it. Nick could see that with complete clarity. Time after time she had delicately conspired to manage Lucy’s perceptions, to make her believe that it was she, Lucy, who was proposing taking the next step.

If only he’d known. If only he’d stumbled across this infernal device with its dark secrets while Lucy was still alive. He could have saved her; he knew he could. She was an intelligent child; once they’d got beyond her rage at ‘being spied on’, he would have been able to make her see the pattern of manipulation and deceit. Occasionally, as he read and re-read the exchanges, he howled at the ceiling, an animalistic wail of grief and rage and agonised frustration.

‘Oh Lucy,’ he groaned at the glowing screen in front of him, at one critical point in the deadly to-and-fro of dialogue. ‘Rosie’ was beginning to propose their joint suicide. ‘Can’t you see? Can’t you see what this creature is doing to you? Oh, if only… if only I…’

It was only by a supreme effort that he stopped himself hurling the computer against his bedroom wall and smashing it to pieces.

He became increasingly convinced that his daughter had fallen into the clutches of one of those men who… what was the word for it? Ah, yes, catfished; trawled the internet for vulnerable teenage girls, posing as one of their peers. It was principally for sexual gratification, but he’d read somewhere – recently too – that there was a much smaller sub-group of imposters who got their warped kicks from encouraging self-harm and self-immolation; a repellent, sick exercise in control. Very occasionally a perpetrator was identified and prosecuted, but hardly ever.

Now, as the daylight grew stronger, Nick closed the lid of his daughter’s laptop and climbed out of bed. He didn’t feel weary; he felt irradiated, poisoned to his bones. He half-wondered if this was how you got cancer, a shock and a trauma so all-pervading that it distorted your DNA and adulterated your genes.

Almost without thinking, he made his way back to Lucy’s bedroom. The space heaters were still belching out hot air and the atmosphere in the room felt dry for the first time since he had opened the door the day before.

He went around the room, automatically switching off the machines. As their humming and throbbing died away, he gently brushed some of the chunks of dried plaster from his daughter’s mattress and sat down on what had been Lucy’s favourite patterned duvet cover since she was small, a random set of tableaux illustrating children’s fairy tales, all of which featured beds somewhere in the legend.

Three bears peered down at Goldilocks, lying peacefully asleep. A handsome prince kissed his Sleeping Beauty. Little Red Riding Hood stood apprehensively before a toothily grinning wolf as he lay in her grandmother’s bed, barely disguised in shawl and bonnet. Snow White sleeping in the dwarves’ cottage…

Now, Nick could almost hear Lucy’s voice when she was a child. She would tap one of the vignettes at bedtime, demanding: ‘Tell me this one tonight, Daddy!’

Now he was thinking of a very different story, with a very different ending to the ones printed onto the cover beneath him.

No fairy tale this, but a narrative of discovery and retribution. And not justice administered through the offices of the law. No. Oh, no. Nick wanted revenge of a much higher order than anything he might find in a courtroom.

Sitting in the desolation of his dead daughter’s bedroom, he began to plan the first step on his road to retribution.




Thirty-Three

Mark Williamson and his wife were in bed having one of their familiar – and rather enjoyable – arguments about the merits of retiring to either Sheepscombe or Painswick. Dianne favoured the latter while her husband preferred Sheepscombe, but it was a largely manufactured dispute. The truth was that the pair of them loved both villages and found any excuse to discuss or even bicker over their relative virtues. Both knew they’d be happy settling in either one when Williamson eventually took his pension. For Dianne, that day couldn’t come soon enough.

Williamson was in the process of pointing out a property ad for a three-bedroomed Sheepscombe cottage pictured in that month’s Cotswold Life (‘Look at this one, Di – eighteenth century, views all the way down the Stroud valley and a stream running through the bottom of the garden!’) when his mobile phone vibrated on the bedside table.

He grunted and glanced at his watch. Almost midnight. Must be important.

‘DCS Williamson.’

‘Johnson here, sir. Sorry to disturb this late in the evening.’

His boss grunted again. ‘Damn nearly morning. What’s up?’

‘I was sure you’d want to hear this, sir. I was about to go home about three or four hours ago but the tekkies reckoned they were close to breaking through Scanlon’s last firewall, so I hung on. They cracked it a few minutes later. We’re in.’

Williamson sat up straighter, excited. ‘And?’

‘Just as we thought. He’s been catfishing in various teen chat rooms for a long time. Seems to have started about six years ago. Pretty crude attempts to impersonate adolescent girls at first – he was rumbled several times and blocked – but he was a fast learner. Eighteen months in, he got bloody good at it and never tripped up again, as far as I can see. I reckon he—’

The DCS broke in, impatient. ‘Yes, yes – you can take me through his methodology tomorrow. But what about his marks? Did he target anyone in particular? Try to get them to hurt themselves, or worse?’

Johnson managed to conceal his annoyance at being interrupted.

‘I was just coming to that, sir. Yes. He most certainly did. He specifically went after three girls at the very least. As I say, we’ve only just cracked Scanlon’s security screens so these are very much headlines, you understand. But I think we may be on to something. Two of the girls went along with the whole self-harming thing – it seems likely they were already doing it anyway when Scanlon started scamming them – but when he started talking about taking things a stage further, they backed off and when he persisted, they blocked him.

‘But one girl didn’t. Block him, that is. She and Scanlon were in communication for months; almost a year, as far as I can see. Towards the end of the relationship, he was discussing suicide openly with her and she wasn’t scared off like the others. The final messages are pretty explicit. You’ll see for yourself tomorrow, sir, but he managed to manoeuvre her right to the edge.

‘And then suddenly, she isn’t there anymore. Nothing. He messages her a few more times – she hadn’t blocked him like the others – but she doesn’t reply. Doesn’t send him any messages of her own, either. And that’s when he shuts down the account, stops using the laptop and presumably hides it in his parents’ car at some point.’

‘Bloody hell,’ Williamson breathed. ‘Obviously we can get the IP address for this poor child, find out who she is… or, God help her, was.’

‘Sure. It’ll take a while, but we’ll get there. We’ll make a start in the morning. I hope you don’t mind, sir, but I sent the tech crew home once they’d broken through. They’ve been working pretty much round the clock and they needed a break.’

‘Of course, quite right, Peter. Look, this is terrific work. You were right to call me. One more thing. Do we have a name for this girl?’

‘Yes. Naturally we don’t know if it’s her real one – Scanlon calls himself Rosie, by the way – but she uses it consistently from start to finish.’

‘And? What is it?’

‘Lucy. She calls herself Lucy.’



Both detectives knew that only the most sophisticated operators can stay anonymous indefinitely on the internet. Williamson had recently been on a two-day course ‘to bring dinosaurs like me into the 21st century’, as he’d said to his wife. He’d learned that most users have a unique IP (Internet Protocol) reference, the IP being an identification code that establishes the precise location from where the internet is being accessed.

Nick and Lucy’s home broadband account, like all such accounts, would have its own IP number. Every time father or daughter logged on, whether using their iPhones, tablets or laptops, the internet automatically identified their user names and, crucially, their location.

As Johnson switched off his bedside light and, an hour or so later, Williamson did the same, both were certain that they would soon know who ‘Lucy’ was and where she lived. A check on public records, and a visit to her home address, should establish if some harm had befallen her. If it had, then a motive for Scanlon’s brutal execution might, just might, begin to emerge.

Obtaining an IP number required a formal legal application and could take a while, even as part of a legitimate police inquiry. But Williamson had no reason to think that the investigation of Scanlon’s murder would be unduly obstructed. It was only a matter of time. Matters would certainly be helped by the fact that it was increasingly unlikely that ‘Lucy’ – almost certainly a genuine teenage girl – would have made any attempt to hide or erase her IP reference. The operation to establish her identity should be straightforward enough.

Williamson drifted off to sleep easily that night. He was quietly confident that his team was on the brink of a significant breakthrough. A small, still voice whispered to him that Scanlon’s crucifixion wasn’t just a bizarre ritual: it was rooted in some kind of revenge. He wouldn’t dream of confiding that thought to Johnson or anyone else, not yet, at least. He’d need more than his gut to go on.

But Mark Williamson had learned to trust his instincts.



Six months earlier Nick Wychwood was finding the process of tracking down someone through their Internet Protocol infinitely more difficult than the police ever would.

A quick search of the internet informed him that IPs were heavily protected. Obtaining someone’s address through an IP required a formal legal application and, given what Nick already had in mind for Lucy’s troll when he eventually found him (he was almost certain it would turn out to be a ‘him’), using the law to track him down would not be the wisest course. He might as well leave a signed confession by the body.

Body? Certainly. Nick had already decided, with a coolness of purpose that surprised yet reassured him, that this was going to be an extra-judicial execution, and the triumvirate responsible for it – judge, jury and executioner – would be combined in him. ‘A sort of unholy trinity,’ he muttered to himself.

But first he had to identify the monster who had killed his daughter. Nick had no idea how to set about it. It was like looking for an unmarked path through a dense forest at dead of night without a torch. Worse, he was reasonably certain that his quarry would have hidden himself away so comprehensively in the dark woods of the internet that to all intents and purposes he was effectively beyond reach.

Nick was going to need some help.




Thirty-Four

‘Here’s your problem, Nick. You’re never gonna find this guy. I don’t know exactly why you’re after him – that’s your business – and I don’t want to know. But from what you’ve told me, he’ll be hiding behind more firewalls than you’ll find in the White House nuclear bunker. I can’t help you.’

Tom Jewell sipped his coffee and looked dispassionately at the man on the Zoom call. Except it wasn’t Zoom. It was Jewell’s own encrypted version.

He’d only agreed to this virtual meeting because the two of them had a friend in common. Well, more a contact, really; a London literary agent who occasionally pushed writers’ research inquiries his way.

Jewell’s business website described him as The Internet Tec. He made a seriously good living from commissions to dig out obscure nuggets of information buried deep in the virtual world. The so-called Dark Web was bright as day to Tom Jewell. He could navigate through its wormholes and sidestep its defences with total, unfazed ease.

Formerly a highly prized asset of British intelligence, Jewell had eventually realised that he could multiply his value and earnings to roughly the power of ten in the freelance market. He still did occasional work for MI5, but now they paid him more for one assignment than he used to earn in a month. He could pick and choose his commissions, which was why he was inclined to discourage this one. It sounded more trouble than it was worth.

Sitting in his Cotswold cottage kitchen a hundred miles west of Jewell’s Kensington apartment, Nick calmly sipped his own coffee before speaking.

‘Why is it so difficult? I was told you’re the best in your field. And I’ll pay whatever is necessary, I’ve already made that clear, Mr Jewell.’

‘Tom, please.’ The other man paused a moment before continuing.

‘Look. There are problems tracking someone through their IP if they’re smart. For a start, all they have to do is switch off their broadband connection at the mains, leave it for ten minutes, and then turn it back on again. That gives them a totally new IP. But that’s the simple stuff, Nick. Do you know what VPN stands for?’

‘No.’

‘Virtual Private Network. You can set that up to redirect your IP to a completely undisclosed location, in Switzerland, say. And there are ways of firewalling that. Or just doing it all again from scratch. Multiple re-directions. Want to hear some more why-nots?’

‘If you insist.’

‘Okay. So far I’m talking about IPs here in the UK. But how do you know the guy you want to track down lives here? Even if we went down the legal route, if it turns out to be a US-based application that can take for ever and a day. It’s a lot of hassle, believe me. Usually it’s just not worth it.’

‘It’d be worth it to me, Tom. I told you, money’s no object.’

Jewell sighed. ‘I know who you are, Nick. I’ve watched your series on TV, though I admit I haven’t read any of your books. But you don’t understand. We’d need solid grounds for a formal legal application to pick apart this guy’s IP and you’ve refused point blank to offer up any reasons. That means I’d have to do this off-grid. You’re asking me to break the law.’

Nick coughed. ‘I was told that’s not necessarily a problem with you.’

Jewell shook his head impatiently. ‘It’s a good job this connection’s encrypted, my friend, otherwise I’d have just killed the link.’

There was an increasingly tense silence in London and Cirencester for almost a minute. It was the hacker who finally broke it.

‘Look. okay. You’re right. It is fine with me, up to a point – breaking the law, that is. Sometimes it’s there to be broken and anyway I’d only be bending it a little. Well… quite a lot actually, but there are ways and means, I grant you.’

Nick smiled faintly. ‘A positive observation at last. Go on, Mr Jewell – I’m sorry, Tom – what kinds of ways and means?’

‘Just a minute. I need more coffee.’ Jewell disappeared from the screen and Nick heard the quiet roar of a kettle and the clink of teaspoon against china. Eventually the hacker re-appeared on screen, clutching a steaming mug.

‘It’s only instant. Bad habits and all that.’ He grinned suddenly and Nick felt the beginnings of a human connection for the first time since the call began. ‘Where were we?’

‘Ways and means.’

‘Oh yeah, right. So… here’s another acronym for you. Ever heard of OSINT?’

‘Sounds like a deodorant.’

Tom Jewell laughed.

‘It stands for Open Source Intelligence,’ he said. ‘It’s what most non-government organisations use. Or freelancers like me. When you think OSINT, think Hansel and Gretel and their trail of breadcrumbs. When we use OSINT, we’re searching for those breadcrumbs.

‘Let’s say your Twitter name is, oh, I dunno, @nickthevengeance. You may have used that handle elsewhere on the internet so I look for it, find it, get down on the trail – remember those breadcrumbs – and follow you around the internet in the hope of eventually establishing your TRUE name and identity.’

Nick nodded. ‘I think I understand. And you’ve done this successfully before?’

Jewell smiled.

‘Oh yes. I had a client in LA a couple of years ago. Very famous. Very rich. A troll hacked into his network and sent his followers – including his family – disgusting, defamatory messages.

‘The troll was hiding behind multiple user names. But I harnessed the methodology I’ve just described and added a few touches of my own. I got hold of some of the obscene images he’d posted and applied something called reverse engineering to them. Took a while, but eventually I tracked his real name and postal address.

‘He was in Vegas. Ran a string of nightclubs there. Very rich. Well, he was. My client brought the full legal weight and wrath of God down on him. The guy’s living in a trailer park now.’

Nick leaned closer to the screen in front of him.

‘Tom… you started this conversation by telling me it’d be impossible to track my guy down. Now, I’m getting a much more positive vibe from you. So let me feed you something back. I don’t want to go into details, but this is about my daughter. My only child. She… died, a while ago. Since then I’ve discovered there was someone… well, someone making her life a total misery while hiding behind a false identity. My daughter was lied to and exploited and… made very unhappy in her final months. I want this person brought to account. I want them to pay for the suffering they caused. Will you help me? Please?’

Tom Jewell steepled his fingers and stared back through cyberspace. At last, he sighed.

‘All right, I’ll help you. I’ll try, at least. But, Nick, I don’t work for free. This is going to cost you serious money.’

‘I understand that. I’ll take out a second mortgage if I have to. One more question for now, though. What about confidentiality? Obviously when I – or rather you – discover this scumbag’s identity, I’m not going to be sending him a Christmas card. And I won’t be dealing with him through the law, either.’

Tom Jewell smiled and for the first time Nick could see his smile had a wolfish quality.

‘That’s none of my business, is it? In any case, I stand to be implicated in whatever you decide to do with any information I pass to you. I’ve had to keep a lot of confidences in my time, Nick. Some of the nastiest were covered by the Official Secrets Act. So don’t worry about any blowback from me. And that reminds me – anything and everything I send you will have a very short shelf life. I leave no traces. Including this call. In five minutes it’ll be like it never happened.’

Nick nodded. ‘Then we understand each other. What do I do next?’

‘I’ll be in touch.’




Thirty-Five

Mark Williamson didn’t object to last week’s late-night call from his right-hand man; a breakthrough was a breakthrough. But as a rule, the DCS disliked being briefed piecemeal: he preferred to be presented with ‘the whole kit and caboodle’, as he usually described it to his team. Williamson was a patient man.

DCI Johnson, on the other hand, was not. He itched to share the information he was starting to rapidly accumulate about the girl who had suddenly dropped off Scanlon’s email with the totality of a power cut.

His first discovery about ‘Lucy’ came mid-afternoon seven days after a routine application to access her IP registration. His email pinged and there it was. The girl’s full name and home address. It was as easy as that.

Lucy Wychwood. She lived in the Gloucestershire village of Willersey. Why did both her name and the village seem familiar? Johnson picked up the desk phone and called his sergeant.

‘Don? It’s me. Our Lucy’s home details have just come in. Yes, literally this second. I’ll forward them to you now. She was emailing out of an address in Willersey. You know, that picture-postcard place over by Evesham. I’m pretty sure it’s on Cotswold District Council’s patch. Get on to their electoral registration and tax departments right away and see who else lives at that address – her parents, I’m assuming. I’ll get on with an internet search on her name. It’s ringing some sort of bell with me… Yes, Don, as soon as you can, please. Thanks.’

He put the phone down. Lucy Wychwood. Dammit, why was it so familiar? Johnson typed it into his laptop’s search bar and hit the return key.

After less than a second, the screen flickered and lit up with a series of online news items. He scrolled down. Some of them were under the banners of national dailies or the BBC News website, but at least three were local titles. All dated from roughly two years earlier; all used exactly the same four words in their top-of-story headlines. The piece must have been originally fed to them by a single news agency.

Teenage girl’s tragic suicide.

Peter Johnson nodded. Of course. That poor girl who’d hanged herself. He read all the articles carefully. When he’d finished, he sat back for a minute, reflecting. The connection between cause and effect was obvious. If the coroner had known about Scanlon’s vile emails, he would have recorded a very different verdict and the police would have launched an investigation same day.

Eventually he rifled through the pile of print-outs on his desk until he unearthed an enlarged photograph of Arthur Scanlon, the one they’d used at the original press conference. Johnson stared at the blank, expressionless features for a while before speaking in a soft undertone, almost to himself.

‘You bastard… you unutterable bastard. Well, you certainly got what was coming to you, didn’t you? Someone had their revenge for Lucy, no doubt about that.’

He tossed the photo away with mingled disgust and contempt before standing up and crossing to the window. The DCI had the same views as his boss, albeit two floors lower down than the chief’s office.

He bit his lip, deep in thought. In an Old Testament world, that would be that. Scanlon would have been left to rot in hell and his de facto executioner allowed to get on with life. An eye for an eye, a tooth for a tooth.

Peter Johnson wasn’t actively religious, but he had a faith. That explained the small leather-bound Bible he kept on a shelf in his office. He fetched it and searched for the relevant passage. Yes, here it was, Leviticus 24: 19–21.

For the second time he spoke aloud, alone in his office.


And if a man cause a blemish in his neighbour; as he hath done, so shall it be done to him; breach for breach, eye for eye, tooth for tooth: as he hath caused a blemish in a man, so shall it be done to him again.



He closed the book and turned to look out of the window again. He was still deep in thought when his desk phone jangled.

‘DCI Johnson… Oh, hi Don. What’ve you got?’

He listened intently. ‘So just her father? Name?’ His eyes widened. ‘Dammit, that’s ringing bells too! I’m sure I’ve heard of a Nicholas Wychwood somewhere before. I’ll check his background. You already have, have you? So? Who is he? Why do I know the name?’

Even before the sergeant had finished, his superior felt chills running up his spine.

‘Bloody hell. Bloody hell. Of course. It’s all starting to fit. This is turning into a perfect storm, isn’t it?’ Johnson glanced down at the leather-bound book on his desk. ‘Maybe even a biblical one.’



Ten minutes later the DCI had completed briefing his boss. Williamson sat in silence for a while, digesting it all. Finally he spoke.

‘Okay. Let’s talk working theories. I’ll get us started.’ He doodled on the pad in front of him for a moment.

‘So… it looks like Scanlon really did persuade Lucy Wychwood to take her own life. How did she do it, by the way? You’ve haven’t said.’

‘She hanged herself in her bedroom, sir. Cleaner found her the next morning.’

‘Jesus Christ… Was there a note?’

Johnson shook his head. ‘Nothing, sir. Zilch on her phone or laptop. Nothing to indicate that anything was troubling her. Well, not on the devices that were known about at the time, obviously.

The DCS leaned further back into his chair, considering. ‘Okay. Well, now we know differently, don’t we? We’ve seen Scanlon’s emails to Lucy persuading her to get a secret laptop like his and telling her to hide it before she did away with herself.

‘But two years ago no one had a clue why she’d done it. Not her father, not her teachers, not her friends and certainly not the coroner. Verdict: suicide. Case closed. Scanlon goes on his merry way, the unspeakable son of a bitch.’

Johnson gave a cold smile. ‘Not for long. Two years later he’s found nailed to a cross in a Roman amphitheatre. Inverted, just like St Peter. An imperial-style execution.’

He leaned forward. ‘It has to be the father, sir. Nicholas Wychwood’s an expert on ancient Rome. A specialist. He lives and breathes the subject. At some point after losing his daughter, he finds her secret laptop. Maybe he was searching for it, maybe he stumbled across it. Whatever. He hacks into it and sees what we’ve seen, only from the other end of the telescope. He tracks Scanlon down, either himself or more likely paying some internet nerd to do it for him under the wire, and… Well, the rest is history. Roman history, you might say – but played out in the here and now. I think we’ve got our man.’

Williamson raised the palms of his hands.

‘Whoa, Peter – only up to a point. The circumstantial is very convincing, I grant you. But it wouldn’t be enough for a jury. Especially a jury likely to be overwhelmingly sympathetic towards a father robbed of his daughter by a monster like Scanlon. You can hear the conversations in the jury room now, can’t you? “I’d do the same myself.”

‘We’re going to have to get hard evidence, Peter. Wychwood’s done a brilliant job in covering his tracks. We don’t have a sniff of forensics on him. Not yet, anyway.’

‘So where do we start, sir?’

‘That’s the easy bit. Bring him in. I’d like to meet this Nicholas Wychwood. Very much. But unless he makes us a convenient confession, we’re in for the long haul. Constructing a case that the CPS are happy to take to court won’t be easy.’

His junior shifted uneasily in his chair. ‘I’m not sure I’m all that happy about it, sir.’

His boss stared at him. ‘Meaning?’

‘What you just said about the jury, sir. I reckon I might be the same.’

DCS Williamson cleared his throat. When he spoke, the usual friendly undertone he used with his deputy was gone.

‘DCI Johnson, listen to me very carefully. Whoever killed Arthur Scanlon did it in the most sadistic, calculated manner imaginable. It was the most horrific murder either of us have ever had to investigate. It’s not up to us to interpret the motive in a way that somehow offers some sort of excuse or mitigation. We’ll leave that to the accused man’s defence team. And it’s not up to us to decide that Scanlon was somehow deserving of his fate, either. We’ll leave that to God.’

‘Yes sir. I’m sorry, sir.’ The DCS stood, indicating their meeting was over. When he spoke again, his tone had softened a little.

‘Right, then let’s get on and do our duty, shall we? However long it takes. Remember, Rome wasn’t built in a day.’




PART THREE




Thirty-Six

While Nick waited for Tom Jewell to make contact, he reread the entire email exchange between ‘Rosie’ and his daughter at least a dozen times, perhaps more.

He knew every word of it now. He could see the sickening pattern of coercion, control and cunning cajolery for exactly what it was. It was like watching a car crash in very slow motion, a car crash that had taken many months to unfold, a long journey into oblivion for his beloved child.

The final messages from ‘Rosie’ had, of course, gone unanswered. As they were pinging into Lucy’s inbox, she was lying cold and still on a mortuary slab, while her father awaited the results of the post-mortem and, ultimately, the inquest.


Hi babes. U there? U havnt quit on me hv u, hon? Soz, I cdnt do it after all, not when it came to it! Forgiv me. Did u try tho? Wot hapnd? Talk to your Rosie! Xx



The messages stopped on the fourth day after Lucy died. Her inbox received no more. ‘Rosie’ must have realised this was her endgame. Nick wondered what twisted pleasure ‘she’ must have taken from that.

The experience was pure mental torture for him. But he forced himself to go through it. It was important to him that, when the time came, he would suffer no doubts over his right to call this… this devil to a terrible reckoning.

While Nick waited for Jewell to re-establish contact, he had the time to consider the practical means for exacting revenge.

None of his many fantasies satisfied him in the least. Everything was too quick. Stabbing, for example. If he struck a major artery with his first blow, it would all be over far too soon. Shooting would be even more abrupt and, anyway, Nick had never owned a gun and wouldn’t know how to use one if he did.

Poisoning was unsuitable for a host of practical reasons and Nick didn’t want this to be a remote procedure. He planned to be there, up close and personal, when the man who had killed his daughter met his end. Suffocation of some kind was a possibility but, again, the process would be over in a minute or two and, in its latter stages, more or less painless too. It just wouldn’t do.

Inspiration finally struck Nick late one evening, almost two weeks after he discovered Lucy’s secret laptop. He’d been rereading the final messages from ‘Rosie’ and as he snapped the device shut in despair and disgust, he heard himself mutter: ‘I’ll crucify you, whoever you are, wherever you are. Don’t you worry about that. I’m coming for you, you bastard. I’ll crucify you.’

With a sudden jolt of awareness he knew that this was what he wanted to do. His subconscious must have been labouring on the idea because now that it had forced its way to the surface and out of his mouth, it seemed the most natural, appropriate, fitting punishment he could have devised.

Nick was astonished at the effect the realisation had on him. For the first time in a fortnight, he felt strangely uplifted, connected somehow to a sense of purpose and destiny. He was, of course, well aware of crucifixion’s roots in history, and Roman history in particular. He knew that that was one reason he felt a sense of… what was it? yes: familiarity with the method of execution. The more he thought about it, the more convinced he was that he had found the right tool to fashion his revenge.

Obviously, the process would be exquisitely painful and slow. A pre-requisite and one that had eluded his imagination until now. But the ritualistic element appealed to him greatly, too. The Romans had been experts in crucifixion and Nick took grim satisfaction at the prospect of re-creating an imperial execution. Of course, there would be no baying, cat-calling crowds in some first-century auditorium to witness this one…

Or would there?

What about a gathering of ghosts? A throng of phantoms from another millennium? Nick caught his breath as he remembered the Roman amphitheatre on his own doorstep, the ancient theatre of blood where thousands had once gathered to watch the greatest mystery of all: death, enacted for their pleasure.

A site of ritual execution again; a place and at a time of his choosing. Nick smiled with satisfaction as he climbed into his bed and, for the second time that night, he heard himself speak aloud almost without thinking.

‘Valde decet… valde decet.’

‘Very fitting.’




Thirty-Seven

‘How far is it?’ Williamson asked, slowing slightly to peer at a roadside sign advertising a country clothing store and café up ahead. The sign reminded him that he hadn’t eaten any lunch. Not surprising, considering the kind of day it had been.

Sitting in the passenger seat of Williamson’s aging Ford Mondeo, DCI Johnson looked down at his phone. ‘Not far, another seven miles. You ever think about joining the twenty-first century and getting GPS in this thing?’

‘No point. How often do I actually get to leave the nick these days?’

Johnson laughed because it was true. Anyone above a DS leaving the station and the ever-present mountain of paperwork was rare as hen’s teeth these days, but this was not a normal case. Sure, they could have got a couple of uniforms to bring Wychwood in, but Williamson wanted to see the look in his eye when they knocked on his front door.

Slowing as they reached the junction identified by Johnson’s phone, Williamson turned right onto Broadway Road. An expanse of green fields opened up on their right-hand side, with a line of thick trees jutting into the blue sky on the horizon.

‘Are you sure we made the right decision?’ Johnson said quietly, almost as though he was thinking aloud.

‘Right decision about what?’

Johnson turned to look at him. ‘Not telling Sally Crawford, I mean.’

Station gossip about the pathologist’s new boyfriend had quickly circulated. Williamson had thought long and hard about whether or not to tell Sally that her blossoming romance was with the man who might just turn out to be the killer of Arthur Scanlon. He tried to put himself in Sally’s position. What would he do if he learned that his partner was the prime suspect in a brutal murder? He would want to be told, wouldn’t he? But that had him thinking about what he would do next. If it was Dianne who was the suspect, the first thing he would do would be to talk to her. And that was the very last thing Williamson wanted to happen in this case.

‘Wouldn’t be fair to put her in that position,’ he answered finally.

Johnson considered that. ‘I hope she sees it that way.’

‘Besides, all we’re doing is bringing Mr Wychwood in for a chat. That’s all we can do at this stage.’

‘How do you think he’ll play it?’ Johnson asked after a moment.

For the past hour, Williamson had been pondering that very question. The truth was, he didn’t know what to expect. He had looked up Nicholas Wychwood on the internet as soon as they had made the link between Scanlon and his deceased daughter. The books came up first. Wychwood had written a series of historical novels set in Roman Britain that seemed to be quite popular. Williamson vaguely remembered Dianne watching the television series that had been adapted from one of them last year. Lots of mud-streaked battles interspersed with copious nudity. Had he known that the writer behind this story would one day cross his path as a suspect, he might have devoted less attention to his crossword and more to the television. Perhaps if he had read the books, he would have developed some insight into the mind of the man they were about to meet.

And then there was the matter of Wychwood’s first wife, Elise, who had been killed in a freak drowning accident several years ago. Had it been an accident? A wife and a daughter both dead in tragic circumstances. Nicholas Wychwood was either the unluckiest man in the Cotswolds, or something else was going on.

Really, though, there were only two ways it could go this afternoon: Wychwood could agree to talk to them, or he would refuse. Neither choice would necessarily imply guilt, or innocence.

‘Assuming he doesn’t decline to talk,’ Williamson said, ‘he’ll want to sound us out, find out how much we know. He’ll be smart enough to know that we would be arresting him right now if we had the evidence, but I want to see if he’ll deny it.’

‘Maybe we’ll get lucky,’ Johnson mused. ‘Maybe he’ll be so overcome with guilt that he’ll fall to his knees and give us a full confession on the doorstep.’

Williamson smiled thinly and nudged his foot down on the accelerator as they came out of a tight curve in the road. ‘Of all the possible scenarios, I think that is the least likely.’




Thirty-Eight

Some days in Willersey Cottage, it was all too easy to get bogged down in memories. Every nook and cranny of the house held a memory of something Nick had lost. The framed photos of Lucy and Elise; Lucy’s favourite armchair in the living room, unoccupied; the empty bedroom with its posters and well-loved childhood soft toys, encased like a time capsule.

Other days, when the sun shone and the smell of newly mown grass and distant barbecues hung in the air outside, it was possible to believe in a bright future, to feel joy in these memories, rather than pain. Today was one of those days. Summer sunshine drenched the garden, wood pigeons called out from afar, and Nick had spent an enjoyable morning reading the newspaper at the patio table and drinking coffee. He had just finished making lunch for one when the doorbell rang. Carefully, he finished lifting the Spanish omelette onto the plate next to the salad he had prepared and put the frying pan back down on the hob.

He wasn’t expecting anyone. Sally was coming over later and they were going to watch a film, but she wouldn’t finish her shift until this evening. Unexpected callers were few and far between at Willersey Cottage, and he didn’t recall buying anything online that might be too bulky to fit through the letterbox.

Nick walked out into the hallway and saw two figures silhouetted behind the opaque glass panels in the door. Both were men, going by their size and build, and something about the bearing of the pair sounded an alarm bell in his head. On some level, he had been expecting this. The police had come to call.

The figures stood there patiently, not ringing the doorbell again or knocking to hurry him up. Nick paused for a second to compose himself, then opened the door.

Two men in dark grey suits stood outside. The one on the left looked to be in his late fifties, carrying more than a few extra pounds, with short grey hair. The other was younger: probably early forties, with the trim physique of a runner. That they were police wasn’t in doubt. Nick wasn’t sure if the fact that they wore suits rather than uniforms was a good or a bad sign.

‘Nicholas Wychwood?’ the older of the two asked, unsmiling.

‘Yes, that’s me,’ Nick replied, making sure his tone was a mixture of politeness and bemusement. ‘What can I do for you?’

The older one held up a leather wallet with a police warrant card inside. ‘I’m Detective Chief Superintendent Mark Williamson. This is Detective Chief Inspector Peter Johnson. We’d like to speak to you about an investigation we’re conducting.’

‘I don’t understand,’ Nick said, then furrowed his brow in a way he hoped conveyed concern. ‘Has someone been hurt?’

Over Williamson’s shoulder, Nick could see Mrs Lupton across the street in her immaculately kept front garden. The petite white-haired widow was peering at the men on his doorstep with her usual hunger for village gossip. Nick hoped that the two policemen in front of him weren’t about to give her an unexpected treat.

‘You could say that,’ Williamson said. ‘We’re investigating a murder and we believe you may be able to help us with our enquiries.’

‘Oh, gosh,’ Nick said, raising his eyebrows. ‘I’m happy to help in any way I can, of course, but… I’m not sure how much help I can be.’ He half-turned and gestured inside, towards the kitchen. ‘Actually, I’ve just sat down to lunch. Perhaps you could come back later?’

Johnson, the younger one, exchanged a look with his superior and then addressed Nick. ‘Do you know the name Arthur Scanlon, Mr Wychwood?’

With a heroic effort, Nick kept his face completely composed, even though the blood had started pumping in his temples at the mention of that cursed name, the name that he knew was coming. He made a show of thinking about it, then shook his head. ‘I’m afraid I don’t. Should I?’

The two officers exchanged another glance. DCS Williamson raised an eyebrow.

‘Perhaps there’s no reason you should, unless you’ve happened to have watched the news in the last few weeks. You might recall a particular story in Cirencester. That’s not very far from here, is it?’

‘Cirencester,’ Nick repeated, then snapped his fingers. ‘Of course. The man they found murdered in the amphitheatre. That was Arthur Scanlon?’

‘Indeed,’ Williamson said. ‘I would have thought a man with your background would have paid particular attention to a story like that.’

A man with your background. They had done their homework.

‘Of course, I certainly remember it now. The poor sod who was crucified. Absolutely ghastly. But I’m afraid I don’t know anything more than I saw on the news. Did he come from Willersey?’

‘No,’ Johnson said. ‘He lived in Bristol.’

‘If you don’t mind,’ Williamson cut in before Nick could say anything else, ‘we’d like you to accompany us to headquarters at Quedgeley to discuss this in more detail.’

Nick had been anticipating this. He had already thought about how he, an upstanding pillar of the community, would respond to such a request from the police in relation to a crime he knew nothing about. He stiffened and looked Williamson in the eye.

‘I’m sorry, this was clearly a horrific crime, but I don’t see how it has anything to do with me. As you’ve said, Cirencester isn’t far from here, yet there doesn’t appear to be any link to Willersey or to me. If you can’t explain why I should be able to assist with your enquiries, then I’m afraid I’m going to have to respectfully ask both of you to leave.’

Nick held Williamson’s gaze. The older man looked back at him, unblinking. He could feel Johnson’s eyes burning into him too. No question about it, they were very much interested in him as a suspect. This was no tangential investigation. The fact that two very senior officers were on his doorstep told him that much before they had said a word. But now that he had declined the informal request to speak to them, he wondered if they would be able to make it more formal.

‘I didn’t want to go into this here,’ Williamson said, turning to gesture at Mrs Lupton, who was still peering at them over her hydrangeas. Starting, she looked away and began to inspect her lawn. Williamson lowered his voice and leaned closer. ‘But we’ve uncovered some elements of this investigation that may be of interest to you.’

‘What elements?’ Nick asked.

‘It’s about your daughter,’ Johnson said. ‘It’s about Lucy.’



Ten minutes later, Nick had changed into trousers and a shirt and was sitting beside DCS Williamson in the back of a slate grey Ford Mondeo. Johnson was in the driver’s seat. The familiar fields and towns whipped by outside. It was still an idyllic summer’s day, but Nick was no longer appreciating it. None of them had spoken since they left Willersey Cottage. Williamson had pre-empted any further questions from Nick by saying it was better to wait until they had reached headquarters at Quedgeley.

Nick was grateful that they were taking him to the police station because it gave him time to think.

The mention of Lucy’s name had not come as a huge shock, even though hearing it spoken aloud had made him ache inside. Of course they had established the link between Scanlon and Lucy, that was what had led them to him. How had they made that link? No doubt they had found something at Scanlon’s end. A device or even a journal that contained evidence of what he had really been up to.

Unless the two policemen were blundering idiots, they had already worked out that Scanlon’s conversations with Lucy, culminating in the incitement of her suicide, provided one hell of a motive for murder. But if that was all they had, it wouldn’t do them any good.

Nick felt Williamson’s gaze on him as Johnson took the slip road onto the motorway. He glanced over at the older man. Eventually, Williamson broke eye contact and stared out of the window.

A few minutes later they saw the sign for Gloucester, which meant that they were only minutes from Quedgeley. Despite himself, Nick found himself almost looking forward to the next hour or so. He would find out more about what they knew, what had led them to his door. No doubt they hoped they could coax a confession from him. If that was the case, they didn’t know who they were dealing with.

He’d covered his tracks completely. And in any case, his conscience was clear: Nick didn’t feel a shred of guilt for what he’d done to Arthur Scanlon, so he didn’t feel the faintest impulse to confess to anything, let alone murder. Murder? Is that what putting down a dangerous animal was called?

Nick settled himself more comfortably in his seat. This was going to be interesting.




Thirty-Nine

Williamson kept a discreet eye on Nick throughout the drive back to Quedgeley. If he was indeed their killer, he was as cool as a cucumber. The only time he had betrayed emotion was, unsurprisingly, when they had mentioned the name of his daughter. After agreeing to come to the station with them, he had kept silent, just looking out of the window of the car. Williamson knew they needed to handle the next part delicately. At any point, Wychwood would know he could shut up and demand to see a lawyer. He hadn’t done so yet.

They reached headquarters just after two o’clock. Johnson pulled Williamson’s Mondeo into one of the spaces outside and turned off the engine. The three of them got out. Nick paused for a second outside the modern three-storey building, taking it in. Williamson wondered if this was the novelist in him, absorbing the detail of the building for later use.

Johnson led them through reception. They had booked out interview room 3 for the afternoon. I-3 was a tight, windowless space with whitewashed breezeblock walls. It was the smallest and most cramped interview room they had available and it got hellishly hot in the summer, but that was why Williamson liked it: he could quite literally sweat a suspect.

The room was furnished with only a Formica-topped table and three metal chairs, all bolted to the floor. Johnson stood at the doorway and indicated the single chair on the far side of the table.

‘Take a seat, Mr Wychwood. Can we offer you a tea or a coffee?’

‘Call me Nick, please,’ Nick said. ‘If you have a glass of water that would be great, thank you very much.’ Nick sat down behind the table, putting his hands on his thighs and making himself as comfortable as it was possible to get in the chair. Which, Williamson knew from personal experience, wasn’t very.

Williamson turned to Johnson. ‘Sounds like a good idea, bit stuffy in here. Peter, do you mind grabbing us three waters?’

Johnson wasn’t in the habit of acting as drinks waiter, but he stepped out into the corridor without complaint

The pause gave Williamson a few moments to size up the opposition.

Nick looked as though butter wouldn’t melt in his mouth. He had been wearing loose shorts and a t-shirt when they had called on him, but had taken a couple of minutes to change into beige chinos and a white tennis shirt before leaving. His brown suede shoes looked as though they had been plucked fresh from the box. Williamson could already feel sweat gathering at the base of his neck, but Nick still looked cool and collected. A little too cool and collected, considering the topic of conversation. He was looking back at Williamson, holding his gaze firmly.

‘I’d like to get straight to the point if you don’t mind. What does this have to do with my daughter?’

Williamson held up a hand. He could hear Johnson’s footsteps echoing in the corridor outside. ‘Just a moment, Mr Wych…’ he pretended to catch himself, although of course the slip was entirely deliberate. ‘Nick.’

Nick nodded and watched as Johnson came back into the room, carrying three plastic cups misted with condensation.

‘Thank you, Peter,’ Williamson said, taking two of the cups and placing one in front of Nick and one on the table in front of himself. He gestured at the plastic cup. ‘Not the best for the environment, but for obvious reasons, we can’t have glass in here. Some people try to hurt themselves.’

Nick’s eyes narrowed briefly at that, then he smiled and said, ‘Indeed. Give it a few years and you’ll probably be arresting people for less.’

Laughing politely, Williamson placed a digital recorder in the middle of the table. ‘First things first, you don’t mind if we record this, do you? Saves faffing about with paper and it keeps everything above board.’

Nick glanced down at the device. ‘I have no objection.’

‘Good stuff,’ Williamson said. He activated the recorder and spoke into it, giving the date and time and participants present. ‘Right. Down to business. As we told you, we are investigating the murder of Arthur Scanlon.’

‘And you’re about to tell me what on earth that has to do with my late daughter,’ Nick said, his tone hardening. ‘At least, I very much hope you’re going to.’

‘How much did you know about your daughter’s internet usage, Nick?’ Williamson asked.

Nick shrugged. ‘I don’t know. About as much as any parent can claim to these days, which unfortunately isn’t much. I know she played games, watched silly videos, chatted with her friends… all the normal things a thirteen-year-old girl does. If you’re implying that she was involved in anything untoward…’

‘That’s not what we’re implying. During the investigation into Arthur Scanlon’s murder, some details have come to light about his own online activity that are very concerning indeed.’

Nick straightened up and leaned forward across the table. If this was indeed a performance, he was doing everything right. It would take an imbecile not to see where they were going with this.

‘Are you telling me this Scanlon had been in contact with Lucy?’

‘I’m afraid so, Nick,’ Williamson said. ‘And I’m sorry to say it gets worse.’

Williamson told him that the search of Arthur Scanlon’s parents’ house had revealed enough to make them suspicious that Scanlon had been up to something untoward. He kept everything factual and to the point, made no mention of his own suppositions and the muted reaction of Felix and Patricia Scanlon to the death of their only son. That was the part you couldn’t talk about in court, the hunch that led you to dig deeper, to uncover what was below the surface. He explained about the second, more thorough search, finally resulting in the discovery of Scanlon’s secret laptop.

Through it all, Nick listened, his eyes never wavering from Williamson. He made no comment, asked no questions, but Williamson knew he was taking it all in.

‘The laptop was a kind of burner, I suppose,’ Williamson said. ‘He was very careful to keep his illegal activities to this one machine. We think he probably changed laptop every few months since the history on that machine only went back to the start of the year. As you can imagine, our computer forensics people went through it thoroughly.’ He paused. ‘Do you know what the term catfishing means, Nick?’

Nick blinked as though snapping out of a hypnotic trance, so intently had he been listening.

‘Catfishing? Yes, of course. It’s when someone pretends to be someone they aren’t on the internet. They con old people out of their life savings. Pretend to fall in love with lonely singletons and then drain their bank accounts. Horrible stuff.’

Williamson nodded and looked over to Johnson. He wanted to let his colleague take it from here, to subtly remind Wychwood that he was outnumbered in this room.

‘Exactly. In recent years, we’ve seen more and more cases like those you described. Problem is catching the bastards. They can be sitting in a café in Bangkok doing this and, unfortunately, by the time we’re called, it’s too late.’

‘Scanlon wasn’t doing that, though, was he?’ Nick said quietly. He had picked up his cup of water but didn’t look like he planned to take a drink. It was in his hand, halfway between the table and his mouth.

Johnson shook his head. ‘I’m afraid not. What he was doing wasn’t for financial gain; one could understand that, if not condone it. Scanlon was interested in messing with people’s heads. Specifically, young teen girls.’

Williamson almost jumped at the sudden crack. He looked across the table to see water spilled over the table. The plastic cup was crumpled in Nick’s hand. He looked at it in a detached way, as though wondering what it was doing there.

‘Forgive me,’ Nick said absently. ‘Clumsy.’

Johnson got up to grab some paper towels. Williamson wasn’t sure if this was a tactic on Nick’s part to break the flow of the interview, but looking at Nick he suspected it wasn’t.

When the spill was cleaned up, Nick spoke before Johnson could continue.

‘He was in touch with Lucy, wasn’t he?’

Johnson nodded. ‘Lucy and a number of other girls. He pretended to be someone of their age, called himself “Rosie”. He built up a relationship with them. They thought they were chatting to another teenage girl. He put a lot of work into the deception.’

‘That’s one reason we don’t think he was new at this,’ Williamson added. ‘He was very convincing. You could see how even intelligent young people like your daughter were fooled. It’s likely he’d been doing this for a long time. Years perhaps.’

‘What did he want?’

Williamson exchanged a glance with Johnson. He could see a troubled look in Johnson’s eyes, one that he recognised.

‘Some of these predators are after sexual gratification,’ Johnson continued. ‘Scanlon was different, or at least that wasn’t directly what he wanted. He liked control. He was toying with these girls, finding victims who were already troubled and… encouraging them.’

Nick closed his eyes. ‘This is why she killed herself, isn’t it? It was him.’

‘A series of emails was exchanged between your daughter and Scanlon starting in January the year before last. He found her online on some kind of chat room and they began communicating. At some point, Scanlon introduced the idea of a suicide pact.’

Johnson stopped there. Williamson was watching Nick, waiting for him to speak. Nick stared back at him. His features were utterly composed, but Williamson could see something in his eyes that almost frightened him. Pure, undiluted rage. Perhaps not just focused on his daughter’s killer but on the two men facing him.

‘Are you all right, Mr Wychwood?’ Williamson asked softly after the uncomfortable silence had drawn out for more than a minute.

‘Why don’t you get to the real reason we’re here?’ Nick said, his voice even. ‘Why don’t you ask me if I killed him?’




Forty

Then

The winter sun was low, touching the tops of the grassy slopes that surrounded Nick on all sides. As the daylight dimmed, he could almost imagine that he could see the spectral figures of the citizens who would have lined the terraces of the amphitheatre in Roman times. If he closed his eyes, he could conjure up the roar of the crowd, the scent of blood and sweat mixing with the aromatic spices of the hot food being sold by vendors. That brought a momentary smile to his lips as he remembered what Lucy had said on this very spot, ‘Maccy-diums!’ and just as quickly the smile vanished, the pain of remembering bringing him back to the present with a jolt.

It had been a busy few weeks. He was still waiting for Tom Jewell to get back to him. Part of him expected never to hear from the shadowy computer expert again. Perhaps Jewell would simply take the money and run, safe in the knowledge that Nick couldn’t do anything about it. If that happened, so be it. He would find another way to track down the person behind the ‘Rosie’ account. In the meantime, he was making sure he would be ready to act as soon as he had that name.

He planned to pick up the materials for the cross piecemeal, from different DIY stores. He would have to design it first. He was pretty sure there wasn’t an instruction book, but he imagined it would be straightforward enough.

The other equipment he required wasn’t readily available from Homebase or Wickes. To his surprise, the taser was relatively easy to acquire. All he had needed to do was take a day trip across the Channel where he had bought one without fuss in a hypermarket just outside Calais. It was illegal to bring such a weapon back to the UK, of course, but Nick had made enough trips to the continent to know that the risk of encountering a customs officer zealous enough to conduct a proper search of his vehicle was minimal.

It took him a little longer to find the kind of tranquilizer he needed. After some research carried out using a pre-pay phone in a café, far from his own Wi-Fi connection, he had decided that what he wanted was ketamine. It seemed to be a reliable anaesthetic and because it was also used recreationally, it would be much easier to get hold of than most other similar substances. He had spent time making a list of insalubrious pubs to visit in Swindon on a Saturday night, but had barely had time to take a sip of the first drink in the first pub before he was approached by a rail-thin, acne-scarred young man wearing a purple hoodie at least a size too large.

‘You’re looking for something,’ the youth had said as he hovered over Nick’s table in the corner. Not a question, an observation.

‘How can you tell?’ Nick asked, caught between being impressed and amused.

‘All in the eyes,’ the boy said, pointing a spindly index finger at his own watery green eyes. ‘You get to know when somebody has a need.’

The youthful dealer had been dead right about that, of course. But he had no way of knowing exactly what that ‘need’ was.

Now, in the amphitheatre, the sun was almost fully down, the stars winking out from the darkening blue of the eastern sky. Nick had come back to this place several times over the last three weeks and each time he became surer that he had picked the right place. Logistically, of course, it was perfect: even during the day it was quiet. But the location felt appropriate too.

He closed his eyes again and listened for the roar of the second-century crowd. When he opened them again, he could almost see the ghosts of long dead citizens of Corinium lined up on the verges, out of the corner of his eye. Sooner or later they would bear witness to justice being carried out in this place.

The distant chimes of a church bell striking seven reminded him that he couldn’t linger in this place indefinitely. He had an engagement in Tetbury this evening.



‘It’s so good to see you again, Nicky, I was worried you might not come.’ Nancy Ross’s smile was welcoming. She was a genuine fan of Nick’s work; the two had met several times before at book launches and struck up a lively friendship.

Nick grinned and handed over the bottle of wine he had brought. ‘Wouldn’t have missed it for the world, Nancy.’

Nancy ushered him through the hall and into her cavernous living room where a dozen or so people were standing around holding glasses of fizz and picking at hors d’oeuvres. No one he knew ran dinner parties as professionally as Nancy Ross. Even at the aperitif stage of the evening, it was better attended and catered than any of his book launches had ever been. He was relieved to see that he didn’t recognise any of the faces. He had long since grown tired of the people he knew treating him with kid gloves and giving him neck-tilting gazes of sympathy. He could almost hear their whispers when they thought he was out of earshot. ‘His wife and his daughter… the poor man…’ That was why he liked Nancy – she never mentioned his loss, and she unaffectedly called him ‘Nicky’. No one since Elise had done that.

Accepting a flute of Prosecco and a smoked-salmon cracker from a passing member of the catering team, he allowed himself to be drawn into a refreshingly dull conversation with a chartered accountant named Phil and his wife Bonetta.

Half an hour later the throng was beckoned into the dining room. Nancy had set up her usual carefully curated seating plan and directed Nick to one of the two vacant chairs at the far end of the table. He wasn’t too disappointed at not being seated beside Phil or Bonetta.

The harassed-looking caterer was bringing out the starters when Nick heard the doorbell chime. A few moments later, a woman in her mid-30s glided into the room, exchanging waves and greetings with a couple of the other guests before speaking sotto voce with Nancy. Then the new arrival – who Nick could have sworn was one of the professional dancers on Strictly – glanced across at where he had just taken his place for dinner, and made her way around to the empty chair beside him. In a sheer green dress, tall, with her hair in a chignon, she was easily the most striking-looking person in the room. Nick shifted back his chair to give her room to sit down. The woman mouthed a thank-you and sighed.

‘Oh God, she’s done it again,’ she murmured.

‘Who’s done what again?’ Nick asked.

The woman leaned in close enough for him to smell her perfume. ‘Matchmaking. Didn’t you notice we’re the only non-couple here?’ She held up a hand devoid of engagement or wedding ring and sighed again. ‘Every time I come to one of these things, Nancy tries to pair me up with someone wholly unsuitable. Her success rate is zero.’

Nick raised his eyebrows. ‘Thanks for the warning. I’ll try to curb my expectations. Seriously, I had no idea that was what she was up to. I’m sorry.

‘Oh God, no, I’m sorry. I didn’t mean to be rude. You may be the most suitable man she’s tried to set me up with for all I know.’

‘Well, that’s the point, isn’t it? You don’t know. I could be… er…’

‘A serial killer!’

‘That depends. How many people do you have to murder to qualify as a serial killer?’ Nick asked, deadpan.

She laughed. ‘At least three.’ She held up a warning finger. ‘It has to be at different times, though, a single-day spree killing doesn’t count. That just makes you a maniac.’

Nick laughed. ‘In that case, not guilty, on either count.’ He held out his hand. ‘I’m Nick.’

‘Sally.’ She lowered her voice and looked around conspiratorially. ‘We’ll get through this together.’

Nick smiled again. ‘You know what? I think we will.’




Forty-One

Now

Nick Wychwood’s challenge hung in the humid air of the interview room. For a long moment, neither Williamson nor Johnson moved a muscle. Nick held Williamson’s gaze. His shoulders were relaxed, his hands flat on the table in front of him as if he owned it.

Williamson turned to look at his DCI, then looked back at Nick. He leaned a little closer, to make absolutely sure that the recording picked up his next words.

‘Before we go any further, I would like to caution you that you are being questioned under suspicion of involvement in the murder of Arthur Scanlon between 18th and 19th June this year. You are not under arrest at this time and you are free to go at any time. You do not have to say anything. If you would like to stop and take legal advice, you’re welcome to do so. On that basis, are you happy to proceed with the interview?’

Some people had to be prompted to make a positive vocal acceptance rather than nodding or saying something noncommittal. Nick didn’t. He leaned forward a few inches and directed his reply to the recording device.

‘I’m very happy to proceed with this interview. And I’d very much like to find out how you’ve arrived at this line of enquiry.’

‘What line of enquiry is that, Nick?’ Johnson asked, the slightest edge of defensiveness in his tone.

Williamson put a hand on Johnson’s forearm to cut him off and looked back at Nick.

‘Let’s return to what you said a moment ago.’

‘You think I killed Arthur Scanlon,’ Wychwood said. ‘That’s why I’m here, isn’t it? It’s not because you wanted to tell me about Lucy.’

‘Did you kill him?’ Williamson asked flatly.

Nick didn’t blink, didn’t avert his gaze, didn’t launch into any sort of histrionics. Instead, he calmly leaned forward across the table until his face was just six inches from Williamson’s.

‘No.’

‘Well,’ Williamson said. ‘Thank you for clearing that up. We have a few more questions if you don’t mind?’

Wychwood said nothing.

‘I’ll take that to mean you don’t mind. Remember, you’re free to go at any time.’

‘I have nothing else to do this afternoon, Detective Chief Superintendent. My time is yours.’

‘Were you aware of the email communications between Arthur Scanlon and your daughter Lucy Wychwood before we informed you of them this afternoon?’

‘No.’

‘Would you consent to a search of your property to establish that?’

‘I would not.’

‘Any particular reason?’ Johnson asked.

Nick turned to look at him. ‘Would you like me to search your house today? I wasn’t aware I needed to give a reason other than the fact I do not consent.’

‘In any case, we’ll require access to your daughter’s electronic devices,’ Williamson said. ‘Arthur Scanlon is suspected of carrying out malicious communications so a crime has taken place, one we’ll have to investigate.’

‘Are you sure you weren’t aware of these messages?’ Johnson prompted.

‘Quite sure. Forgive me if I seem short with you, but you’ve just told me my daughter’s death was…’ – Nick searched for the word – ‘encouraged by this man. I would like to think you would be focusing on finding out if he had other victims rather than investigating his death.’

‘We have to investigate it all, Mr Wychwood. Any help you can give us will help us get to the truth faster.’

‘As I said, I can’t help you.’

‘You can understand why we have to speak to you, though? This man may be responsible for your daughter’s death. If it was me, if I found out about it…’ Williamson looked over at Johnson. Johnson responded with a sympathetic nod. It was more than just an interview tactic to gain the suspect’s trust. Williamson had thought a lot about what he would have done in Nicholas Wychwood’s position and he was quite sure Johnson had too.

‘But I didn’t find out about it,’ Nick said.

Williamson wondered if Lucy Wychwood’s laptop – if it was still accessible to them which he doubted – would back up that assertion.

‘As you said. Can you tell me where you were on the night of 18th June and the early hours of the 19th?’

‘Can you tell me where you were that night?’

Williamson thought about it. ‘Probably in here. It’s that way most nights.’

Nick sighed and took out his phone. He opened his calendar and scrolled back through the dates, taking his time. Williamson couldn’t help but admire his unflappability. He could be checking a date for after work cocktails for all the concern he seemed to show. He stopped scrolling and looked at the screen.

‘18th June. That was a Saturday.’

‘Correct.’

He looked up from the screen. ‘I was in London.’

‘You were in London on the night of the 18th,’ Williamson said for the benefit of the recording.

‘The whole weekend, actually,’ Nick said. ‘I had a meeting with my literary agent on the Friday and decided to make a few days of it.’

‘Any special reason you wanted to be away for that particular weekend?’ Johnson asked.

‘As I just told you, I was meeting with my agent. His name is Oliver Peterson, he’s with The Pink Agency. I didn’t leave Willersey for months after Lucy’s death. My friends suggested it would be healthy to take a break, so I did.’

‘Do you remember where you stayed?’

‘Somewhere in Bloomsbury, I forget the name of the hotel. I can check that for you, of course.’

‘And can anyone corroborate your account?’

‘My agent. I’ll give you his phone number.’

‘That’s all well and good for the Friday,’ Williamson said. ‘What about Saturday night between ten in the evening and four in the morning?’

Nick thought about it. ‘I was in London on my own. I’m not sure how you expect me to prove that.’

‘Can you recall what you did on that evening?’

‘I went to see a show in the West End, then I had dinner at an Italian restaurant. I can’t remember the name. It wasn’t very good.’

Williamson and Johnson exchanged another glance. Johnson looked a little less sure of himself now. It would have been overly convenient if he had produced an iron-clad alibi, but in the absence of other proof, an alibi that couldn’t be disproved might be good enough. Still, they had a few details to pick over. If they could find a hole in the story, it would give them something to work at.

Williamson leaned back in his chair. He took a sip from the cup of water in front of him that had laid untouched. It was already warm.

‘Arthur Scanlon manipulated your daughter over the course of a period of months. He may very well have been the person responsible for her decision to end her life. You say you weren’t aware of these messages until now.’

Williamson paused, giving Nick an opening to say something. Either reaffirm his denial or qualify it somehow. But he said nothing, just stared back at him.

‘Supposing you had found out. How would you have felt?’

‘I would have put a stop to it, of course. What the bloody hell do you think I would have done? I would have been on the phone to you lot immediately.’

‘But what if you only found out about Scanlon once it was too late? You would have wanted revenge, wouldn’t you?’

He paused again and again Nick said nothing.

Johnson came in, sensing that now was the time. ‘I know I would have,’ he said quietly. ‘I would have wanted to kill him with my bare hands.’

‘It would be understandable,’ Williamson agreed. ‘Did you want to kill him, Nick? Was that how you felt?’

Nick’s eyes narrowed and, for a moment, Williamson believed he had him. Then Nick sighed and shook his head.

‘I don’t think it does any good to torture yourself with hypothetical scenarios. You asked me if I knew about Scanlon. I didn’t. Therefore, I can’t tell you how I might or might not have felt, what I might or might not have done. Do you have any questions that are not hypothetical?’

Williamson suppressed the urge to grimace in frustration.

‘Let’s go back to the night of the 18th.’




Forty-Two

By the time Williamson and Johnson had exhausted every question and every angle they could think of, the interview had been going for over two hours. All three men were sweating in the heat, but Nick looked as though he could go for the same again easily.

Johnson had some urgent paperwork to deal with so Williamson drove Nick back to Willersey Cottage by himself. He wondered if Nick might open up a little more when it was just the two of them, away from the formal surroundings of the interview room and the recording, but it was a vain hope.

The two men didn’t exchange a word until they reached the old cottage. The sky had clouded over since lunchtime, and it looked like the spell of pleasant weather was about to break. Nick unfastened his seatbelt and opened the car door.

‘Thanks for the lift. Is this the part where you tell me not to leave town?’

Williamson turned around in his seat to look at Nick. Even after several hours in this man’s company, he still didn’t feel he had managed to get a handle on him.

‘We’ll be in touch.’

Nick got out of the car and started to go towards the house, then stopped as though he had remembered something. He turned and bent his head to look at Williamson through the open window.

‘This… Scanlon,’ he began, spitting the name like a curse. ‘Whoever killed him… he got what he deserved, didn’t he?’

‘That’s not for me to say, Mr Wychwood.’

‘I told you. Call me Nick.’



By the time Williamson got back to the station, Johnson had wrapped up his paperwork and had spent the last forty-five minutes making preliminary enquiries on Nicholas Wychwood’s account of his whereabouts on the night of 18th June. He was on the phone when Williamson walked back into the office, the landline handset cradled between his neck and shoulder.

‘Right. Right. Okay then. Right. Thanks.’

He put the phone down, a frustrated look on his face.

‘Who was that?’

‘Reception at the Mont Clair hotel in Bloomsbury.’

Williamson raised an eyebrow. ‘How did you know it was the Mont Clair?’

‘I just spoke to Wychwood’s literary agent. He says he mentioned he was staying there.’

‘And did he?’

‘On the night of the 18th?’ Johnson shrugged. ‘A room was booked in his name, someone checked in and out.’

‘CCTV?’

‘None in the guest areas. They seemed very proud of their discretion.’

Williamson thought it over. ‘You would have time to check in, drive back to Cirencester and be back for the morning.’

‘A lot of driving but you could do it,’ Johnson agreed. ‘Unfortunately, the burden on the proof isn’t on Mr Wychwood to show that he didn’t do that.’

‘Very convenient that he happened to be out of town that night, leaving a paper trail that could be checked.’

‘Very,’ Johnson agreed. ‘We’ll see if his credit card or phone history shows up anything.’ His eyes alighted on a scribbled note on a Post-it in front of him. ‘Oh, I forgot to say. Felix Scanlon called when you were out.’

‘Arthur’s father?’ Williamson was immediately interested. The parents had been decidedly hands-off for a murder investigation, although the more he found out about their son, the more he understood why that might be.

‘Yes. He wanted to let us know that he just received a parking ticket in the post.’

Williamson was incredulous. ‘He wants us to fix a bloody parking ticket?’

‘No, this was one of those cowboy private parking companies. Seems the vehicle was parked outside a KFC near Swindon at the wrong time of day.’

‘Right. And what does that have to do with us?’

‘Scanlon Senior said he thought he should let us know because he reckons it must have been Arthur’s ticket. I got him to send it over. The date of the violation was nine days before Scanlon was killed.’

‘So I was right, it’s nothing to do with us.’

Johnson smiled. ‘Like you always told me, boss, it’s all about the details. You have to check everything, no matter how big or small.’

Williamson rolled his eyes, but he couldn’t help feel a swell of pride that his mentoring efforts had not been in vain.

The two men sat in silence for a while. The office was empty but for the two of them which was unusual. A soft patter of light rain fell outside. A rumble of thunder echoed in the distance.

‘Where is everybody anyway?’ Williamson asked.

‘Holliday is attending that road traffic accident on the bypass; Ware is doing an outreach thing with the parish council in Brookthorpe; Tully is in court for the Crozier case.’

‘Good to know some people are making progress today.’

‘You think we can get enough on him for a charge?’

Williamson sighed. ‘Not based on what we have at the moment. We have a lot of work to do to make sure that it doesn’t stay that way.’

‘It was probably in the garage when we called, but according to the DVLA, Wychwood owns a 2016 Volkswagen Amarok Highline, bought used in February.’ Johnson said. ‘He could definitely have fitted a winch to that. I want to get inside that cottage, too.’

Williamson listened, thinking. Every instinct built up over a career stretching across three decades told him that Nicholas Wychwood was their man. But the last few hours had demonstrated that he wasn’t going to give himself up. If they wanted to close this case, they were going to have their work cut out for them. And that wasn’t all. If they made a wrong move at this stage, it could play into their suspect’s hands. And yet… He came to a decision and slammed his palm down on the desk.

‘Right. We’re going to try for a warrant to search the place and his car. If nothing else, we have to search his daughter’s room for more evidence on Scanlon.’ Williamson stood up and straightened his tie, checking his reflection in one of the framed pictures on the wall before turning back to his colleague. ‘We’re going to nail him.’




Forty-Three

Nick sat out in the back garden of the cottage under the awning as the light dimmed. He watched the rain fall in the garden, the sweeping fields beyond blurred and watched over by low clouds.

The sound of keys in the front door snapped him out of his thoughts. He heard the door open, a rustle of bags and then the click of heels on the hall floor. There was a tired sigh, followed by one of the kitchen cupboards opening and closing. He turned in his chair as Sally stepped out onto the patio. She was dressed in one of her charcoal suits over a lilac blouse, her hair tied back. From one of her hands dangled a shopping bag, bulging with what Nick assumed were ingredients for dinner. In the other, she cradled two wine glasses, the stems between her fingers.

‘Sorry I’m late, bloody nightmare of a day.’

Nick couldn’t help but smile as he looked up at her. Sally Crawford looked better after a ‘bloody nightmare of a day’ than most people did after a pampering session at a luxury hotel. Barely a hair out of place and her suit looked as though she had put it on five minutes ago. She plonked the glasses down on the patio table and drew a bottle of Sauvignon Blanc out of the bag, condensation misting the chilled bottle.

‘Do you mind if we have a glass before dinner?’

‘Not at all,’ Nick said. ‘I’ve had quite a day myself.’

Sally put down the shopping bag and sat opposite him. Her brow was knitted with concern. ‘Really? What happened?’

Nick had been thinking about how to approach this conversation since DCS Williamson had dropped him off. It would depend on whether anyone from the police had spoken to her yet and, judging by her demeanour, they hadn’t. That was a relief, at least. One of the things that had been preying on his mind was that Sally had known about this for a while. He had started to think paranoid thoughts. Were they playing a long game? Was their relationship no coincidence? No, that was ridiculous; they had met before Nick even knew Scanlon’s name.

She would hear about his visit from the police sooner or later, of course, so perhaps it was best the news came from him.

He blew out his cheeks, thinking about where to begin.

‘Do you happen to know a Detective Chief Superintendent Williamson?’

‘Yes, of course. He’s working on the Cirencester murder.’

‘Right. Well, this afternoon, he and his colleague knocked on the door. They wanted to speak to me about that very case.’

Sally let out an involuntary laugh and then stopped.

‘You’re serious?’

‘Deadly serious. It’s to do with Lucy. Apparently the victim in Cirencester was communicating with her by email before she died. Your colleagues think he might even have…’ Nick paused. It was no act, he didn’t even like to think about it, let alone say it out loud.

‘Oh, Nick,’ Sally put a hand on top of his. He pulled it away and straightened in his seat. He focused on the tree at the bottom of the garden and kept his voice steady with an effort.

‘He might have somehow inspired, or… coerced her into taking her own life.’

‘Jesus, I’m so sorry.’

Nick looked back at her. ‘Did you know about Scanlon?’ As he spoke, he heard an unintended sharpness in his voice and Sally took a breath as though he had shouted.

She considered before she answered. ‘I didn’t know about Lucy, of course not. I heard that they had found some dodgy stuff on Scanlon’s computer, but I’m not involved in the day-to-day investigation. I had no idea.’

Nick watched her. He thought she was telling the truth. That only made him feel a little worse about having to lie to her.

‘Sorry,’ he said. ‘I didn’t mean to imply you were keeping me in the dark about this. I know you wouldn’t do that, Sal.’

Sally looked comforted by that for a moment. Then she frowned. ‘Wait, Nick. Are you trying to tell me they think you have something to do with Scanlon’s murder?’

‘It would appear so. They took me down to Quedgeley, interviewed me under caution. They wanted to know if I was aware of the emails between Lucy and Scanlon. They wanted to know my whereabouts on the night of his murder.’

Sally stood up, her startled expression firming into anger. ‘That’s outrageous. I know they’ve been struggling to find a suspect for this, but to drag you into it just because…’ She stopped and dug in her handbag, pulling out her phone. ‘I’m going to call him right now.’

‘No, leave it.’ Nick stood up and put a hand on her shoulder. ‘Being taken down to a police station and interrogated was the last thing I needed right now, I’ll be honest. But they’re just doing their job. Thinking about it from their point of view, I suppose this does provide a motive.’

Sally shook her head. ‘You didn’t see what was done to that man. I conducted the post-mortem: I know everything Scanlon went through before he died. I’ll spare you the details, but I know one thing: whoever did that to another human is nothing like you. You don’t have it in you, Nick. You’re a good man.’

Somehow, that stung more than his earlier paranoid suspicions that Sally had been plotting with the police against him.

He sat down and opened the bottle of wine, filling Sally’s glass first and then his own. He was pleased to see that his hand was steady.

‘God, it’s such a mess.’ He took a gulp of wine. Sally left hers untouched. ‘They want to look at Lucy’s laptop. Can they do that?’

She thought about it. ‘Most likely. If she was in contact with Scanlon, it’s pertinent to the investigation.’

‘I suppose,’ Nick said. ‘You’ll forgive me if I don’t want to bend over backwards to help them after today.’

Sally sat down and took a gulp of her wine. ‘God. That certainly puts my shitty day in perspective.’

They sat in silence for a while, looking out at the rain-dulled evening, all thoughts of a home-cooked dinner and a Netflix movie evaporated.

‘What did they ask you?’ Sally said after a while.

Nick glanced over at her. She was still looking out at the fields.

‘I told you. They wanted to know if I knew anything about Scanlon. Then they wanted to know where I was on the night in question.’

‘And…’ Sally turned to look at him. She gave the impression of being unsure if she should be pushing further. Then she made up her mind. ‘Were you able to tell them?’

‘Yes, of course. As it happens I was nowhere near Cirencester that night. I was in London for a few days. Meetings and so on.’

‘Oh, good,’ Sally said, trying and failing to conceal her relief. ‘I mean, good that you were able to give them such a definitive answer. A lot of people can’t tell you where they were last week, never mind longer ago. I suppose that will mean they can eliminate you quickly.’

‘Yes, let’s hope.’

There was another long silence.

‘Listen, I’m sorry to put a downer on the evening,’ Nick said. ‘Maybe we should call it a night and do it tomorrow.’

‘No,’ Sally said. She got up and put a hand on top of Nick’s again. ‘You’re going to sit there and finish your wine and I’m going to put together a nice dinner. We’re going to forget all about this for the rest of the evening. Deal?’

Nick smiled and gave her hand a squeeze. ‘Deal.’




Forty-Four

Then

Nick was driving along the country road between Honeybourne and Bretforton, dusk falling ahead of him, the evening sunset blinding in his rearview mirror, when his phone pinged softly on the passenger seat.

He reached across. His heart leapt into his mouth as he saw the preview of the message. The sender was ‘The Internet Tec’. The message header was, Information Requested. He slowed the car and looked for somewhere to pull over. The road was frustratingly narrow. A minute later, he saw a gate allowing access to a field, the opening providing just enough space to park.

Nick pulled in, the car bumping over the large ruts in the mud from tractor tyres, and turned the engine off. He unlocked his phone and opened the message. It seemed to take an age to open, probably because the signal was so patchy out here. It was a notorious blackspot.

Eventually, the text of the email revealed itself.


From: The Internet Tec <burner@a73de5r336.int>

Sent: Wednesday, February 2, 2022 17:44

To: n.wychwood@gmail.com < n.wychwood@gmail.com>

Subject: Information Requested

Dear client

Please find the requested information on the subject you enquired about. This is accessible by clicking on the View Report link below.

IMPORTANT: to maintain security, this information will automatically delete permanently 10 minutes from the time of this email. Please view and process the information within this timescale.

Do not reply to this email, it is a one-time send-only address

Yours

The Internet Tec

VIEW REPORT



Nick checked the timestamp on the email again. It had been sent at 17:44. It was 17:48. He had been lucky he had passed through an area with a strong enough signal for his phone to receive and download the text of the email. He might only have seen it when he got home, which would have been too late. He tapped on the ‘View Report’ button.

Nothing happened.

It felt as though someone had sucked all the oxygen out of the car, trapping him in a glass and steel coffin.

He tried again and again, stabbing at the screen of the phone with his thumb. The screen buffered and hung.

Shit, he was still out of signal.

The time in the corner of the screen changed from 17:48 to 17:49.

He looked back over his shoulder, the way he had come. His phone had pinged about quarter of a mile back, maybe more. Should he drive back and try to pick up the signal? No, he could be racing back and forward like a Golden Retriever hoping for the best while the time ran out.

Nick twisted the keys in the ignition, the engine roaring to life. He pulled out onto the road, spinning his tyres in the mud and skidding as he gained purchase on the road surface. A red Corsa coming around the bend in the opposite direction had to swerve as he floored it, just managing to avoid a collision. A long blast of horn sounded in the increasing distance as the road opened up onto a straight section.

There was a petrol station just at the edge of the next town. He might be able to make it there in time. There might be a signal there. They might have Wi-Fi.

Might, might, might.

The clock on the dashboard clicked over to 17:50. Four minutes.

The road curved again and he had to slow when a tractor appeared in the middle of the road. Nick swung out into the right lane. There was a lorry oncoming. He made a split second decision and jammed his foot to the floor.

The tractor flashed by on his left. He caught a glimpse of the driver, open-mouthed, staring back at him.

He was close enough to see the lorry driver’s eyes widen as the two vehicles closed in head-on. Nick yanked the wheel to the left and swerved back into the left lane, just missing the lorry.

In the mirror, he saw the lorry judder as it hit the ditch at the roadside. Another horn blast. The tractor was slowing to a stop.

17:51.

The road opened up onto a straight again and Nick could see the sunset glinting off rooftops in the distance now. The needle crept up to seventy as the road widened on the approach to the town.

The clock on the dashboard had just gone 17:53 as he pulled into the petrol station on the edge of town. There was a café and a shop set back from the pumps. Nick pulled into the space closest to the entrance and grabbed the phone. Still no signal.

He opened settings and found the café Wi-Fi, finally catching a break. He had connected here a few months ago when he had found himself unable to access the internet, albeit in a situation with lower stakes. His phone had remembered the details. It connected to the internet and he tapped the button again.

There was a pause. He kept his eyes on the clock. It still read 17:53. If this took any longer…

The screen cleared and he was looking at a page of text on the screen. Quickly, he took a screenshot.

Details jumped out as he scanned the text.

An address. Dates. A name. A picture.

Arthur William Scanlon.

It was now 17:54. As Nick watched, the text on the screen seemed to thicken and swell, as though the letters were holes up through which oil was seeping. A moment later, the whole screen was black.

A final message faded up.

Message Deleted

Nick tapped into his screenshots and found the picture of the details again. He let out a long sigh of relief. He read the name again.

Arthur William Scanlon.

He had a name now.



Nick drove straight back home. He had memorized every line of the one-page report he had managed to screenshot before the time ran out.

Tom Jewell had been as good as his word. He had worked his dark magic to procure everything Nick needed to know. The malignant figure behind ‘Rosie’ was a 42-year-old man who lived in the St Pauls neighbourhood of Bristol. He worked as a web designer, which meant he had probably been able to cover his online tracks reasonably well. Luckily, ‘reasonably well’ hadn’t been enough to elude Tom Jewell.

If this information was accurate, Jewell had handed Nick everything he needed: a name, an address, even a photograph. It was a head and shoulders shot that looked as though it had been taken for a passport or a driving licence. It showed an overweight man with thinning hair, five o’clock shadow dusting his cheeks. Looking at it, Nick was gripped by pure hatred. That Lucy could be dead and buried while the animal responsible for that was still walking the earth? It was obscene. It must not be allowed to stand.

But could he really go through with what he planned?

Even as he asked himself the question, Nick knew the answer. Yes, he could. He must.

Still, he was a rational man and forced himself to consider the possibility that he was planning to do something he might one day regret. He considered the alternatives.

Right now, he had enough evidence to go to the police. He could show them Lucy’s hidden laptop and the messages from Scanlon. He could tell them he had managed to identify the man responsible and hand over Scanlon’s details. All right, perhaps he had broken the law to get this information, but surely that would pale into insignificance next to Scanlon’s crimes. The police could verify the information by themselves. He knew they wouldn’t be able to find anything that would incriminate Tom Jewell, even if Nick had any intention of dropping him in it.

But then what?

Even assuming the police acted promptly, and Scanlon wasn’t able to wriggle out via some legal loophole, what then? Nick had no idea what kind of sentence would be handed down for what Scanlon had done. He wasn’t even entirely sure what the charges would be, though he was certain that incitement to commit suicide was a crime. In the best-case scenario, Scanlon would be sent down for a few years. Probably let out in half the time for good behaviour. There would be surely some kind of stipulation preventing him from communicating online with minors or vulnerable people, but he would know how to get around that.

Nick looked at the picture and was suddenly certain of Arthur Scanlon’s future. He would do a little jail time and be released, probably before his fiftieth birthday, and he would go on to do the same thing again to another child.

A quotation he had read a few days ago bubbled up to the surface of his consciousness as he stared at Arthur Scanlon’s picture, the eyes seeming to stare back and mock him from under the neutral expression. It was a quotation from Marcus Aurelius that he had stumbled upon while doing some background reading for Cassius: ‘Anticipate your final hours.’

More than anything, Nick wanted to hasten Arthur Scanlon’s final hours. He could get back in the car and drive to Bristol now. He could be there in no time, just sixty miles or so down the M5. He could knock on Scanlon’s door and choke the life out of the bastard with his bare hands, watch as that mocking glint in the eyes turned to terror.

But then what?

Nick would just become the last of Scanlon’s victims. He would go to prison, and even with mitigating circumstances taken into consideration, doubtless for a longer sentence than Scanlon would receive for his actions.

No. He had to be patient. He had to make sure that there would be no way this could come back to him. As much as he wanted to act immediately, it meant patience and careful preparation. Nick put the phone down and closed his eyes, allowing the certainty of what he was going to do calm him.

When he opened his eyes, he had already begun to formulate a series of steps to take.

There was a lot of work to do, a lot of preparations to make. But Arthur Scanlon was already in his final hours.




Forty-Five

Nick had visited Bristol many times, sometimes for business, sometimes for pleasure. One weekend, a few months before Elise’s accident, the three of them had driven up for a short break and some sightseeing. At Nick’s urging, they had taken the opportunity to visit the site of the Kings Weston Roman Villa. Even Lucy had been quietly impressed with the intricate bathhouse mosaics. Inspired, Nick returned shortly afterwards to research a scene for his fourth novel, which had been partly set in the Roman port settlement of Abonae, roughly in the location of modern-day Sea Mills. But this time his mind was not on sightseeing or research. Not the usual kind of research, at any rate.

The house Arthur Scanlon shared with his parents was in a brick-built 1930s terrace. The bottom floors had bay windows and exposed red-brick walls while the top floors were pebble-dashed. The Scanlon residence had what appeared to be a freshly painted blue door with neat pot plants on either side of it. Nick parked his Volkswagen Highline in one of the few spaces at the kerb and turned the engine off.

He waited patiently for more than an hour as the occasional pedestrian wandered past and two or three delivery vans dropped off packages to the house. No one gave him a second look. Light rain started and stopped. Just after four o’clock, the blue front door swung inward. Nick watched as a figure stepped outside and descended the steps to the gate.

Arthur Scanlon was bigger than Nick had expected from the photograph. Not just heavy, but tall as well. Six feet four if he was an inch. He wore baggy tracksuit bottoms and a t-shirt that was a little tight on him. Around his neck was an oversized pair of headphones. A canvas backpack hung loosely over one shoulder. He opened the gate and, closing it behind him, stepped out onto the pavement. Sticking his hands in his pockets, he turned and shuffled along the street towards the main road, heading away from Nick, slipping the headphones over his ears. Nick smiled grimly. His quarry was making it easy to tail him.

He looked around for his sunglasses and remembered that Sally had borrowed them to nurse a mild headache the other day, and had left them in the door pocket on the passenger side. Reaching in, he felt something metal and pulled it out. When he saw the small silver medal in his palm he felt a tug of sadness. It was Lucy’s swimming medal from a couple of years ago. He must have transferred it across with the other stuff from his old car when he bought the VW.

He looked up and saw Scanlon shuffling along the pavement. Feeling a dull pain in his hand, he looked down to see that he had been gripping the medal so tight that it was digging into his palm. He replaced it in the door pocket and put the sunglasses on. Looking around to check that nobody on the street was paying him any attention, he got out of the car, locked it and quickened his pace.

He didn’t have any kind of plan in mind. He didn’t know if he would be able to keep following Scanlon without being observed, or if he even wanted to follow him, but he just needed to see his target in the flesh.

In the event, he didn’t have to go far. Scanlon turned onto the main road and walked as far as a small café, taking the backpack off as he pushed open the door. For a moment, Nick considered following him inside, taking another table and watching him, but he decided against it. As much as it turned his stomach to think about it, Scanlon would probably have wanted to revisit (virtually at least) the scene of his crime. He would have looked up news stories about Lucy’s suicide. There hadn’t been many, but Nick knew that the local paper had mentioned that her father was a writer. It was possible that Scanlon knew what he looked like.

Instead, Nick pulled down the brim of his baseball cap and walked slowly by the café, glancing through the window as he passed. Scanlon was in a window seat, laptop open in front of him, staring at the screen. A waitress put a drink in a paper cup in front of him as Nick watched. He didn’t look up or acknowledge her.

Nick kept walking, then crossed the road and doubled back. He slowed as he walked past on the other side. Scanlon was still there, still staring at the screen as he typed. Nick wondered if he was doing it again. Catfishing some poor vulnerable girl. His hands curled into fists. He wanted to walk over there and do it now. End him. But that wasn’t the way. Not here, not now.

He walked back towards where he had parked the car. As he passed Scanlon’s house, the front door opened. Nick knew from Tom Jewell’s briefing that Scanlon lived with his parents so he assumed that the diminutive woman with grey hair who stepped out was his mother. She walked down her front path and started as she saw Nick, as though she was expecting to be attacked at any moment. Inwardly he cursed his carelessness at allowing himself to be seen, but nodded and offered a quiet, apologetic smile for startling her as he gave her a reassuringly wide berth on the pavement.

He got back behind the wheel and watched as Scanlon’s mother shuffled down the pavement in the opposite direction her son had gone, clutching a carrier bag and looking like she carried the weight of the world on her shoulders.

Nick started the engine and pulled out onto the road. He would be on the motorway in twenty minutes. If he was lucky with the traffic he could make it back to Willersey in an hour or so. He had seen the face of his enemy. Now there was work to do.



Nick had set the date before doing anything else. 18th June. A Saturday night, the night before Father’s Day. It seemed appropriate. The amphitheatre at Cirencester was accessible at all hours, but it would be deserted after dark.

From that date, he worked backwards, meticulously planning each step along the way. It was all in his head. The number one priority was, of course, erasing Arthur Scanlon from this world, but number two was making sure he was not caught. He would happily go to prison if it meant that Scanlon was dead, but it would feel like a small victory for Scanlon; that he had managed to take another life away from beyond the grave. That meant leaving no trace, writing nothing down.

Although there were a lot of moving parts to the plan, Nick had no problem keeping it all in his head. Perhaps it was the challenge of wrangling a novel every year, juggling numerous characters and plotlines and timelines and research details and locations without dropping any.

Two days after his Bristol trip, he was on the road to London. Not because London would play any part in the events on the 18th, but because it was where Nicholas Wychwood would need to be while Arthur Scanlon met his deserved end.

He parked on a residential side street in Ealing within walking distance of a tube station. He felt oddly underdressed without his phone or his wallet. As he left the car, he had only the clothes on his back – all recently purchased and not in his usual style or colours – and five hundred pounds in cash that he had withdrawn from the ATM outside the post office in Willersey. As he walked down a street he had never visited before, with unfamiliar clothes against his skin, he felt almost like he was a different person. That was the idea.

The walk took him along the High Street, where there was a phone shop. He stopped in and bought a cheap Motorola and credit with some of the cash.

At South Ealing tube he paid cash for an all-day Zone 3 ticket. It had been years since Nick had used a physical ticket on the Tube. How quickly we get used to changes, he thought.

Of course, he could have dispensed with these precautions. He could have parked at Evesham, taken the train to Paddington and used his credit card to tap in and out on the Tube as usual. He wasn’t going to be doing anything that could get him into trouble on this trip. But caution was the watchword. If he was careful about every detail from start to finish, the possibility that some minor slip could give him away was lessened. An alert police officer might wonder why he had made a trip into London a few weeks before a meeting with his agent. They might even guess correctly that he was taking care to familiarise himself with his alibi.

He took the Piccadilly line twelve stops to Covent Garden. From there, it was a ten-minute walk from his agent’s office which was a stone’s throw from the British Museum. Ollie was away for the next few days at a publishing conference, so Nick knew there was no danger of running into him on the street.

Nick had made a list of prospective hotels in the area, not overly extravagant but comfortable. But there was one important thing that he couldn’t confirm by looking at internet listings. He had visited four of the hotels on his list before he found one that would be suitable.

The Mont Clair Hotel was on a narrow side street off Tottenham Court Road. It was a small boutique place, tucked away behind a single street level door, easy to miss as you were walking by. The reviews were good, though.

Nick climbed expensively carpeted stairs to a reception area, where he was greeted by a young receptionist with braids in her hair and a navy blue jacket over a white blouse. She greeted him with a smile and asked if he was checking in.

‘I’m afraid not, but I wonder if you could help me.’

Nick looked around the space. No visible cameras. That was good. There was a waiting area on the far side of the room with two Chesterfield couches facing each other across a coffee table.

‘I had a meeting with one of your guests the other day. Friday morning, it would have been. At some point I realised I had lost my Fitbit. I’ve been racking my brains to think where I left it and I think it might have been here. We were sitting over there.’ Nick gestured at the couches.

The receptionist gave him a sympathetic head-tilt. ‘I don’t think anyone’s handed anything like that in, but I could check.’

‘Thank you. I don’t suppose you could check your security cameras? That would let me know if I’m imagining things.’

‘I’m afraid we don’t have CCTV. We don’t have any problems and our clients appreciate discretion.’

Nick managed to look disappointed at the news. He thanked her and allowed her to write down a dummy name and a phone number if anyone should hand in a Fitbit. He left by the front door and took the tube back to Ealing. It had been a flying visit but a productive one.




Forty-Six

Nick made two more visits to the quiet street in Bristol. He didn’t see Arthur Scanlon either time, though he saw his father out weeding the front garden. He was as tall as his son but much thinner, with wispy grey hair and glasses with thick brown rims. Nick noticed that he always seemed to avert his gaze whenever someone walked past.

The logistics of getting Scanlon alone were more difficult than he had anticipated. He didn’t seem to leave the house on any kind of regular schedule and at least one of his parents was always around. Nick needed to get him alone somehow. He thought he had an idea of how to do that.

While he worked on that idea, he purchased the last few tools and materials he would need. Almost everything would be available under one roof at any DIY store he cared to visit, but he made a point of buying everything from different stores spread over a wide area. He paid cash for every purchase.

Now he had to design the cross. The experience of working with the architect on his kitchen refit had brought home the importance of properly designing a structure and making sure he had the right tools and materials at the ready. Nick sketched the design, then worked out measurements, materials, dimensions. Arthur Scanlon was a big man, so the cross would have to be large enough to bear his weight. Strong too. Solid wooden beams, six-inch bolts. Nick could assemble it once and then take it apart for transport. Then it would be a matter of reassembling it on location, like an Ikea wardrobe.

He took a long look at the sketch and mentally itemized the materials he would need. When he was sure he had covered everything, he took the paper through to the kitchen and rooted around in the drawer until he found a box of matches. He struck one, touched the flame to one edge of the paper and held it until the flames took hold. He dropped it in the sink and watched as the image of the cross blackened and was consumed.

He staggered the purchase of the equipment over several days, wearing different clothes and a different hat each time, making sure never to look up when he was paying at the till. For most of the purchases, he was able to park a short walk from the store and carry them to the car.

For the ten-foot wooden beams that wasn’t an option. Having them delivered to the house wasn’t either, for obvious reasons. He rented a Transit van and drove to the B&Q superstore in Birmingham.

The beefy Brummie sales assistant helped him out to the car park with the beams, commenting approvingly on the thick work gloves Nick was already wearing.

‘Easiest thing in the world to get a nasty splinter when hefting these things,’ he said. ‘Got a bit of a project on the go?’

‘You know what it’s like, always another job.’

He stopped at a motorway service station and waited for it to get dark before he returned to the cottage and unloaded the beams straight into the garage. Without anyone to help him, this took a lot longer than he would have liked. But Nick was reasonably sure no one had seen him moving around in the dark. Nevertheless, he was drenched in the sweat of both exhaustion and nervous tension by the time he was done.

For the next few days, Nick busied himself with his project. He had cleared out space in his garage to give himself plenty of room to work with. By the end of the third day, the assembly was complete.

At last he could stand back and admire his work. Not bad. Not bad at all. The carpenters and centurions who had prepared for St Peter’s ‘X-it’ (Nick had read somewhere that this was precisely the grim pun a Roman consul had made in the official record of Peter’s execution, 30-odd years after Christ’s) would have approved, he was sure of that.

The cross stood eight feet high, the top of the X just skirting the rafters of the garage. The two beams were drilled, held together with six-inch bolts and wing nuts. After seeing Scanlon in person, Nick had calculated where he would have to be bound to the cross. Heavy duty duct tape would do the job. At first, anyway.

Nick dusted off his gloved hands and got to work dismantling the cross.

He disassembled it and put it back together six times, getting a little faster each time. By the sixth repetition, he barely had to look at what his hands were doing. He turned the lights off and went through the process again twice more, navigating by touch alone. He was confident he would be able to do it in the pitch black. The open night sky over the amphitheatre at Cirencester would provide more than enough illumination.

The other thing he was pleased to discover was that the process was virtually silent. No hammering or drilling, just the occasional squeak of the bolts tightening. He could hear his own breathing and the occasional hoots of owls outside over any noise that he was making in there.

He turned the lights back on, disassembled the cross one last time and carefully stacked the component parts in the corner of the garage. Later, he would bleach and scrub them to make sure that there was no trace of his prints on any of it. When he was ready, they could be loaded onto the flatbed of the VW truck and transported under a tarpaulin.

Opening the back door of the garage that led onto the back garden, Nick stepped out into the night. It was cool, the air perfectly clear. He looked to the south. Thirty miles away, sometime soon, the cross would be reassembled one final time. Arthur Scanlon’s days were numbered and everything was in place.

Almost everything.




Forty-Seven

Arthur Scanlon tapped ‘send’ on an invoice to a client and, out of habit, switched tabs to his email to see if there had been any more missives to ‘Rosie’. Nothing. Again. He sighed and kicked at the floor to move his swivel chair two feet to the left, from where he could bend and open his mini-fridge. He took out a can of Carling and a share-size pack of Maltesers.

Arthur was in what you might call a funk. It had been three nights now since he had heard from Mandy.

It reminded him of the depression he had experienced after Lucy. Perhaps it was inevitable but, after the initial thrill had worn off, he had slipped into a constant dark mood. Ever since then, he had felt deflated.

Oh, there were plenty of ‘playmates’ to chat to. He had still drawn satisfaction from manipulating their emotional states, pushing them a little deeper into the holes they were in, but he missed the bond he had had with Lucy. It was an unavoidable problem, he supposed. Sometimes you have to kill that which you love the most.

He had been very careful for months after Lucy’s suicide. The buzz he had experienced from pushing her over the edge had been better than masturbation, better than any drug high. It had sustained him for a long time afterwards, when he had been torn between fear that the police would somehow track him down and elation at what he had accomplished.

But gradually, the elation had subsided. Even his parents, usually carefully respectful of his space, commented more than once on his mood.

Slowly, he began to re-engage. He started prowling his usual social media hunting grounds for new playmates. It was never difficult. There were so many young girls out there desperate for a connection, a connection that Arthur was only too happy to provide.

When he was a child, his mother had always proudly predicted that he was going to be a ladies’ man. Back then he couldn’t shake the suspicion that she was joking, mocking him somehow. But she didn’t know how right she would be. Arthur currently had three ladies on the go, albeit ladies who did not have the first clue of his real identity.

There was Katie. She had been one of his playmates when he had been conversing with Lucy, but their friendship had cooled for a while. He had to admit that had been largely his own fault. He had fixated on Lucy towards the end to the exclusion of everyone else. When he had reached out to reconnect with some of the others, he had received a cold shoulder from Jess. Katie was cold at first too, but gradually the relationship had taken root again.

Kelsey was new. She was a 17-year-old equestrian. A little older than Arthur’s usual taste, but she rewarded him with constant contact. Kelsey lived in a well-to-do village near Glasgow. Her parents were both lawyers and she seemed to be left to her own devices. Literally, in fact. Arthur had found her on a self-harm forum. He had a folder full of ‘photos’ downloaded from a stock library to send her to document his character’s own cutting, and he enjoyed continually one-upping her.

But in the past few weeks, he had found an even better distraction.

Mandy was fourteen and lived with her alcoholic father. Her mother had died when she was a baby and it didn’t sound as though her life had improved since then. She lived in a small town a short distance west of Swindon, ducked school whenever she could and seemed to have the full spectrum of teenage problems: eating disorder, self-harm, suicidal thoughts. Arthur had found her on the same site where he had met Lucy, in fact. It was proving to be a bounteous hunting ground indeed.

He had barely needed to encourage Mandy. She told him she had already tried to kill herself twice. The previous autumn, she had jumped from a footbridge in the local park and escaped with a broken leg and the excuse that she had fallen.


Need 2 try somewhere higher nx time, Thnk I was afraid



And just three months ago she had been hospitalised with an overdose.


Thnk I took enough that time but dad came home early & found me



Mandy was fruit ripe for the plucking. If anything, it might be too easy to push her over the edge. But then Arthur thought about the feeling when he’d read that news article report of Lucy Wychwood’s death. He craved that elation again. He needed it.

All he could think about was how long it had been since his last interaction with Mandy. She was close to the edge, he could feel it. She just required a little more guidance. He had to be careful, though. Sometimes if you pushed too hard, you could scare them away. He wondered if he might have gone too far the other night.

Mandy had been in daily contact with him up until that point. Arthur had risked suggesting it openly.


Wot if we both go 2gether. It’ll be beautiful



The message had been read. Since then? Nothing.

The soft chime of a notification sounded. Arthur’s pulse quickened as he saw that there was one new message in his inbox. And it was from Mandy.


Hey Rosie

Sorry not bn in touch. Wot u up to? Bn thinking bout what u were saying. Feels lk im a coward u know? Shd have gn thru with it b4. Feels lk I missed my window. Hey I was just thinkn. Would u lk 2 meet irl? Loved the pic u sent and I know MCR is far away but was thinkn I could get bus to u or u could come see me.

Wot do u think? Crazy, rite? Im serious tho, wd be amazing to have you there

M xx



Arthur shook his head. He had had to swerve requests like these before. Not just because of the obvious practical problem in revealing that he was not in fact a teenage girl. The thought of coming face to face with one of his playthings unnerved him. He liked to do what he did at a distance. The distance was part of it.

This was no problem. He had been asked this before and would be asked it again. He had a range of plausible excuses at his fingertips. He thought about it for a moment before tapping out his reply.


Hey Mandz

So good 2 hear frm u! Bn busy at work I h8 this job sooooooo much! 1 day they’ll come in and I’ll be dead on the floor. Love 2 see how they deal with that lol

Oh babes would love to meet irl but I just cant. My dad’s been really bad this week (I know u know what that’s like). I really cant get away. Would love to tho. Bn thinkin about it myself tbh.

Sometimes I have a dream that u and I meet up and we just do it together. Like we give each other strength, u know? I just know we could both do it if we were standing on that edge together.

Do u have a place we could try if we ever meet? U said u would go somewhere with a bigger drop next time. Wd love 2 see it. Maybe we can look at pictures of it and just think bout it.

Your Rosie xx



Arthur read the message over twice, as he always did before sending. It was important to make sure there was nothing that would give him away. Nothing that might ring false. On the second pass, he made a small edit to the third paragraph, capitalising TOGETHER.

He sat back and grinned. Perfect. As he hit send, he felt the familiar rush of excitement. She was one step closer; she was almost there. In some ways this might bring an even greater sense of achievement than his success with Lucy.

He waited, watching the inbox. Mandy was usually online at all hours and she was quick to reply. This time, there was no reply.

He waited another twenty minutes, moving between other chats but always coming back to his empty inbox.



Almost twenty-four hours later, the inbox was still empty when Arthur selected an isolated park bench and turned the burner phone he kept for conversations with his playmates back on.

Had Mandy gone cold on him? No, he didn’t think so, although this made it twice recently that she had gone quiet for an extended period. Her last message, after all, had been a plea to meet in real life. Had his refusal offended her? He didn’t think that could be it either.

A thought bubbled up from the back of his subconscious. What if she wasn’t replying because she couldn’t reply? What would that mean? What if she had actually gone through with it already? The sudden sinking feeling in Arthur’s gut told him how he would feel about that. For her to independently make the decision to take her own life, and for him not to play a part in that decision…

It would be a waste.

He had to know.

He opened up another reply to Mandy. His fingers hesitated over the screen of the phone. He didn’t ordinarily send follow-up messages before receiving a reply. He didn’t have to. Teenagers today were always online, always accessible. Would it sound needy if he sent another message? Even if it did, it was in character for Rosie.


Hey babes

Soz to bother you again. Jst fln kinda alone rite now. No1 to talk 2. I know u know wot it’s lk. Take care

Ur Rosie xx



He hit send and waited. No response. He opened up a web browser on the phone and thought about the information he already had on Mandy. She wasn’t as easy to pin down as some of the others had been. From the information she had given him, he knew the town she lived in. He was reasonably sure he knew which school she attended. The school twitter feed wasn’t as active as some. There were no photos of sports day or the drama club he could pore over to find the pale girl with long dark hair from Mandy’s photos. She said she had a part-time job at a Subway branch in Swindon, but, as with anywhere else in the UK, there were seemingly dozens of them littered around the map. He had managed to get her last name out of her: Blake. He tried Googling the usual terms that would bring up a local news article on the sad suicide of a teen. Nothing.

He went back to his email inbox and hit refresh. Nothing.

Frustrated, he turned the phone off and started to walk back home.

His mother had left a plate of food in the oven as she always did when he was absent at mealtimes. Sausage, egg, beans and chips. The low heat from the oven had dried everything out, hardening the chips and congealing the beans, but he ate the whole meal anyway. Then he went up to his office to complete a coding job on a client’s new mailing list.

The radio silence from Mandy troubled him. Unless it hadn’t been reported, she hadn’t gone missing or killed herself. What if their messages had been discovered? He wasn’t worried about a trail leading to him, but he wondered if it was possible to find out what had happened.

He went to bed and slept restlessly.

The next afternoon, he was online talking to Kelsey when there was an email notification.

Sender: Mandy

Arthur felt a tingle of excitement. He almost wanted to laugh at his eagerness to open the message. It was as though Mandy was hooking him in rather than the other way round. It was amusing to feel on the other end of the equation for once.

His excitement only grew as he read Mandy’s message.


Hey

Soz I didn’t get back, just bn really bad today. Dad said he wished I was dead and I was like if only u knew, right? Anyway. Bn thinking I’m really going 2 do it. Would u be mad if I went without u? Sounds silly but nd 2 know someone is thinkn bout me. 2nite at midnight. Call me a drama queen but I just cnt live one more day in this world. That bridge I told u about? Gna go up there and close my eyes and think of u and step off the edge.

U won’t be mad at me for going first? Right?

Mands xx



Arthur sat back in his chair and read the message over again. She had never been explicit about the location of the bridge in her communications with him, but he knew exactly the one she was talking about.

Mandy had given away just enough hints about where she lived for him to find it. A short distance from her estate there was a large woodland area called Badger Wood. A disused railway line cut through the wood, at one point crossing an old viaduct that featured in some urban explorer YouTube videos as well as several local news articles about suicides.

Just over a week ago, Arthur had driven east and gone for a walk in Badger Wood to see for himself. Access to the railway viaduct was fenced off, but he could see that it wouldn’t be difficult to get past that. Towering seventy or eighty feet above a valley at its highest point, he could see why the old viaduct would attract people who wanted to end their lives. He thought that Mandy was right; a fall from this height would certainly do the job.

He knew from his recce the previous week that Badger Wood was less than an hour’s drive from home. Now Mandy had given him both a place and a time which offered him an opportunity he had never had before. Reading the news articles on Lucy Wychwood’s suicide had been a rush, but the thought of actually witnessing Mandy killing herself… Of course, she might change her mind again. Step back at the last minute, or maybe not even make it as far as the bridge. But the chance to bear witness could not be passed up.

His phone buzzed with a text message; his regular phone, not the burner. He dug it out of his pocket and looked down at the screen, irritated by the interruption. He was even more irritated when he saw that the text had come from his mother.


Will you be home for dinner? Mum.



She used to call habitually until Arthur demanded that she communicate by text if she absolutely had to. Today was a Saturday, which meant his mother’s tasteless spaghetti bolognaise. Never enough herbs or garlic.

He tapped out a quick reply.


Going out tonight.



He put his phone away, took his burner out again and went back to the message from Mandy. He started typing a reply, slipping easily back into the voice of Rosie.


SO jealous. Wish I could be there with u. I will be sitting here thinkn bout u at midnite.

Omg I can’t believe ur gonna go first. I know u can do it Mands. Just close ur eyes and thnk of me. I’ll b right there with u.

Ur Rosie xx






Forty-Eight

All day, since sending the email to Mandy, Arthur had been unable to concentrate on anything else. His mind kept wandering to that lonely woodland path and the towering viaduct over the shallow stream that ran beneath. He kept to the slow lane of the M4, taking his time. There was no need to rush after all. He knew exactly where he was going.

When he had made this trip a week ago to see the viaduct for himself, he had taken a few wrong turnings after leaving the motorway. He had had to stop in a car park outside a KFC to consult the map on his phone. He had been mildly disappointed that the restaurant was closed at the time, even though he had already eaten dinner. Now, food was the very last thing on his mind.

Would she really do it this time? He didn’t know for sure, but he sensed from her words that she meant business.

Tonight, as he got closer to his destination, the anticipation built. It was as if an electrical charge was running through his body. He could park in the same place he had left the car last time, on an industrial estate at the edge of the wood. Although it was within walking distance of the estate where Mandy lived, it was reasonably secluded. At the border of the estate was the start of the walking trail that ran alongside the stream that passed beneath the old viaduct.

It was after ten o’clock when Arthur parked his car outside a vacant unit in the industrial estate. There was a TO LET sign above the door of the unit that looked as though it had been up for a while. There were no other cars around, just as it had been last time he visited.

There was still enough light in the summer sky to make his way along the path without needing to use the torch on his phone. The moonlight glinted off the ripples on the surface of the stream and the tops of the larger stones that protruded above the shallow water. Arthur wondered if Mandy would come this way later on.

He slowed as he heard youthful chattering voices up ahead. He hesitated for a second, thought about stepping off the path, but he had already been seen. A gaggle of teenagers appeared from around a bend. A boy in an Adidas t-shirt with floppy blond hair was at the head of the party. He had spotted Arthur and was regarding him with curiosity. Arthur started walking again, peering at the faces in the group but trying not to make it too obvious.

There were four girls and three boys. The exact kind of ages of the girls he had spent countless hours talking to, bonding with. But something about seeing a crowd of them unnerved him. None of the girls was his Mandy, he was sure of that. One of them lagged a little behind the group. She was slight, with strawberry blonde hair. She looked away quickly as her gaze met Arthur’s.

Not Mandy, but in another situation, he thought this one would be his type. Something about the awkward way she held herself. The way she didn’t seem to be a part of the group as the others were.

Arthur realised he had stared at this one too long and quickened his pace. The last thing he wanted was to be remembered.

As he passed by the group, one of the boys coughed ‘Perv,’ and there was a murmur of nervous laughter from two of the girls. Arthur didn’t look back, but he curled his hands into fists as he walked. Little shits. If only they knew the power he had.

At length he reached the viaduct and looked up at it. From close up the structure reminded him of Mayan ruins lost in the jungle. Arthur knew that the viaduct itself could be accessed by continuing a short distance along the path and climbing the slope where the incline was less steep.

He thought about how long it would take someone to fall from up there to the ground below. What would be going through Mandy’s mind as the shallow stream and unforgiving rocks rushed up to meet her? Would she scream? This was on a whole different level to what he had experienced with Lucy. Not for the first time, Arthur wondered if he was risking too much, getting too close. Even though there was no one else around, he felt exposed, vulnerable.

He turned and retraced his steps along the trail for a hundred yards or so and found a spot of shelter beneath the leaves of a large oak. From there, he had an unobstructed view of the viaduct. Even in the light of the moon, the thick leaves created a pool of inky blackness from which he would not be observed from ground level, let alone by someone standing on top of the viaduct. He checked the time on his phone. Less than an hour until midnight. He dusted off one of the moss-covered boulders at the side of the trail and took a seat to wait for the show.

Once again, he felt anxiety start to bubble up within his chest. This was different from anything he had done before. He was taking a risk, playing a part in the proceedings rather than watching safely from afar.

He switched on his burner phone. There were no new messages from Mandy. Thumb-scrolling through the dozens of emails they had exchanged, Arthur suddenly felt as though he were holding a time bomb. Before he could change his mind, he deleted the trail of emails, then hard-deleted them from the recycle bin. The action lessened the anxiety a little. His conversations with Mandy no longer existed on this device or on his laptop. He knew her email address by heart, and could always re-establish contact if necessary, but in this moment it felt safer to purge the conversations.

At eleven-thirty, he heard someone approaching. Straightening and peering out at the path, he saw a figure walking purposefully along it.

He felt his heartbeat quicken as he saw a slender figure with long hair. Then, as she got closer, he realised it was one of the girls from earlier. The quiet one on the edge of the group who had avoided his gaze. Not Mandy.

Frustrated, he sat back down again.

He watched the clock. Twenty to midnight. A quarter to. Ten to.

Perhaps she wasn’t coming.

At four minutes to midnight, he heard more footsteps approaching. Not on the bridge but along the trail again. He peered out from the foliage. It wasn’t Mandy. It was a man, striding along confidently. Arthur shrunk back into the shadows. Probably another dog walker. He would be gone soon.

But he seemed to be scanning the bushes as he walked. Too late, Arthur realised that he had missed his chance to hide. If he moved now, the man would hear him and wonder why he was skulking around in the dark.

He waited for the man’s eyes to alight on him and calmly said, ‘Evening.’

He had expected the walker to flinch when he unexpectedly saw someone staring at him from the undergrowth, but the man took it in his stride.

He was about six feet tall, slim-waisted but with broad shoulders, and looked to be in his mid-to-late forties. He was dressed in dark clothes.

‘Good evening,’ he replied and stopped, looking back at Arthur.

‘Just resting my legs,’ Arthur said in response to the question he had expected but had not been asked.

The man seemed to consider this but made no acknowledgement.

‘I don’t suppose you’ve seen a girl wandering about out here?’

Arthur frowned. ‘No. Are you looking for someone?’

The man nodded and a look of concern crossed his face. ‘My next-door neighbour’s daughter. She hasn’t come home. Apparently she hangs about down here. Bill – her dad – is a bit worried, so I said I’d come and have a look for her.’

Arthur grimaced inwardly. If there were people down here looking for Mandy, they would find her soon. And worse, he certainly couldn’t stick around. No buzz was worth getting caught.

He straightened up and dusted off his knees. ‘Sorry. I’m about to go back to the car so I’ll keep a look out.’

‘Thanks,’ the man said.

‘What’s her name?’ Arthur asked.

‘Mandy. Mandy Blake.’

Damn it. If Mandy was on her way to the bridge, she certainly wouldn’t go through with it if there were people out here looking for her.

Something seemed wrong, though. This man didn’t seem as concerned as he would be if he knew why she had come down here. He gave the impression of wanting to help out but without any great urgency. Perhaps Mandy had disappeared before and this helpful neighbour assumed this was another false alarm.

Perhaps Mandy would still go through with it once the people searching for her had got bored and gone home. If there were other people looking for her, they weren’t looking too hard. He had heard no calls for her name.

‘Excuse me.’

Arthur stopped and turned around at the man’s voice.

He was twenty feet behind him. He had assumed the man had walked in the opposite direction, but he had apparently retraced his steps. Arthur hadn’t heard his footsteps on the ground this time.

‘Yes?’

‘Sorry, you said you were going back to your car. You’re not parked back in the industrial estate, are you?’

‘Yes?’ Arthur said, elongating the word and failing to keep the irritation out of his voice. Who the hell was this do-gooder anyway? What business was it of his if his neighbour’s daughter stayed out late, when her own father clearly couldn’t be bothered looking for her?

‘Do you drive a Fiesta?’

‘Yes,’ Arthur said, suddenly concerned. ‘Why?’

‘Oh, just noticed you’ve got a flat. Passenger side.’ The man in dark clothes lightly slapped himself on the forehead. ‘Stupid me, I didn’t put two and two together or I would have mentioned it to you earlier.’

‘Shit,’ Arthur said.

‘Sorry to be the bearer of bad news.’

Arthur sighed. ‘Thanks, I’ll go have a look.’

He turned and started to hurry back along the path. This evening was going from bad to worse. The car didn’t have a spare. He was going to have to call the AA. That was bad for more reasons than inconvenience. It meant there would be a record of him being out here, which would be something that might show up if the police ever made a link between him and Mandy Blake.

He realised that the concerned neighbour was still following him.

‘Might just be a slow puncture,’ he said. ‘I’ve got a foot pump in the boot if you need it?’

Grudgingly Arthur nodded. ‘That would be helpful, if you don’t mind.’

The two of them walked back towards the car. Arthur wanted to get his tyre inflated and out of here as quickly as possible. The helpful neighbour didn’t seem to need to fill the silence with chatter which was good. They rounded a bend and the industrial estate came into sight. Arthur could see his Fiesta. Parked alongside was one of those stupid American style pickup trucks, the neighbour’s car, he assumed. There was a tarpaulin stretched over the flatbed and he could see the outline of something bulky underneath.

‘What have you got under the tarp?’

The man seemed confused for a moment, like he had forgotten it was there. ‘Oh, just the mortal remains of my old kitchen. I loaded it up for the tip, but they close early on the weekend apparently. Didn’t feel like unloading it all again.’

He made Arthur feel uneasy somehow. There was something naggingly familiar about him, but he was sure they hadn’t met before. He wanted to get away from him and this place as quickly as he could.

They rounded the bonnet of the Fiesta. Arthur took his phone out and activated the torch to take a closer look. Sure enough, the tyre was completely flat. It had to have deflated since he had parked as there was no way he wouldn’t have noticed had it happened on the drive in. Suddenly it hit him. Those fucking kids. One of them must have done it for a lark. He shone the beam of the torch around, looking for the glint of a nail head but saw nothing.

He looked up at the neighbour. ‘If you’ve got that foot pump…’

‘No problem, give me a second.’

The stranger walked around to his own car and opened one of the back doors.

He returned, carrying a manual foot pump in his left hand. His right hand was in the pocket of his jacket.

‘Thanks,’ Arthur said, reaching out to take the pump. The stranger was looking beyond him at the tyre.

‘There’s your problem.’

‘What?’

‘You’ve got a nail or something in there. Sidewall. That’ll be a new tyre.’

Arthur frowned and turned to look again. How could he have missed a nail in the sidewall?

‘See it?’ The neighbour had gone down on one knee beside him, placing the pump on the ground.

‘No,’ Arthur said. ‘Where do you—?’

The stranger had something in his hand. There was a snapping noise and suddenly something hit him in a chest, and simultaneously a jolting pain was exploding through every muscle in Arthur’s body. He opened his mouth to cry out but found he couldn’t. A moment later, he was lying on the concrete surface with no memory of having fallen. His body was rigid; something was stopping him from moving.

Then there was a different pain, a jabbing in his left arm, and then darkness closed in.




Forty-Nine

Nick held Arthur’s head firmly as he depressed the syringe and didn’t let go until his eyes rolled back and his body went limp.

Because it was the one element of his plan he could not test in advance, Nick had been worried that the ketamine would not do the job, but it had worked just as advertised. The big man appeared to be out cold. Nick had calculated the dosage to take account of Arthur’s size and weight, but he hoped he hadn’t given him too much. Arthur’s death sentence was about to be carried out and Nick didn’t want it to be a painless lethal injection.

He stopped and listened. He could hear nothing but the far-off hiss of traffic on the motorway. Somewhere in the distance, a fox screamed.

With difficulty, Nick rolled Arthur onto his back. His size made it difficult to tell if his chest was rising and falling. He leaned closer, lowering his ear to Arthur’s mouth and heard shallow breathing.

Nick went through his pockets, finding a slim wallet with a few credit cards in it and a cheap mobile phone. He pocketed both, then stood up and went back to his pickup. He lifted the edge of the tarpaulin and dropped the rear gate of the flatbed. Taking out the coiled rope, he attached one end tightly to the winch, then carried the other end to where Arthur lay. He had made a loop on this end and was gratified to see that he had estimated correctly for girth. He tucked the rope underneath the armpits and went back to activate the winch. It hauled him across the ground without difficulty, thanks to the ancient principles of torque and tension described by Aristotle almost two and a half thousand years ago. Nick guided the weighty body onto the flatbed, then climbed up and rolled Scanlon over so that he was face down in the space that had been left clear for him. Alongside was a small box containing a roll of extra-strength duct tape, a Stanley knife and a faded tea towel. Nick cut a length of the tape and used it to bind Scanlon’s hands behind his back.

As he worked, it felt like a part of him was watching himself from afar with an eerie detachment. So far, everything was going precisely as planned. Any concerns he had harboured about whether he would be able to go through with it were banished. Nick had a plan and he was putting it into action one step at a time.

A snort from Scanlon made Nick’s heart skip a beat, but there was no other noise or movement. Perhaps he was a snorer. He took the syringe back out and prodded the needle of the syringe into Arthur’s arm once more. The bastard didn’t even flinch. He was out for the count all right. Nick rolled him onto his side. The last thing he wanted was for Arthur to choke on his own vomit on the drive to Cirencester.

As Nick was fastening the tarpaulin, a voice from the darkness made him start.

‘Did you find your dog?’

Nick turned to see the teenage girl in the hoodie he had spoken to before. He let out a sharp breath and smiled at her. ‘Yeah. Thanks for your help earlier.’

The idea had occurred to him when he saw a group of teenagers hanging around the entrance to the trail. He needed to get rid of them anyway so that he could deflate Scanlon’s tyre, but realised he might be able to solve two problems simultaneously. He had told them he was looking for his Labrador and could use help looking for it. He mentioned he had last seen it near the viaduct. The others didn’t seem that interested, but the girl on the edge of the group had gone to look. She had drawn Scanlon out from his cover.

Seeing her now, Nick couldn’t help but feel a twinge of guilt. It was as though ‘Mandy’, a figment of his imagination, had been rendered flesh. He had caused her to stay out later and now her friends had disappeared. He had been so tense, so absorbed in the execution of his plan, that he hadn’t stopped to think about that.

The girl’s brow furrowed. She looked beyond Nick to the tarpaulin-covered flatbed of the pickup. ‘Where is it? Your dog.’

‘Oh, not here,’ Nick said. ‘My wife just called me. He came home under his own steam.’

‘Good,’ the girl said. ‘Well, I need to get back home too.’ She gazed at Nick’s pickup for a minute then started to turn away.

‘Will you be all right getting back?’ Nick asked. ‘Where did your friends go?’

She looked over to where the group had been loitering. ‘They’re not really my friends. See you.’

Nick watched her start to walk away, hands dug into the pockets of her hoodie, head down. He knew it had to be ten minutes’ walk from here to the main road. He thought about the fictional Mandy again, a lost soul engaging in destructive behaviour. Easy prey.

But he had a job to do and he simply couldn’t jeopardize it at such a crucial stage. Besides, there had been one predator roaming around this area and Nick had just taken him out of the game. What were the odds that there was someone else lurking around waiting to do this young girl harm? Long odds. Long enough.

She would be fine.

Nick jiggled the keys in his hand and looked back at the tarpaulin. He could see the rounded outline of Scanlon’s unmoving body beneath it, alongside the straight edges of the wooden beams. He opened the driver’s door and climbed in, turning the key and feeling the engine rumble to life.

She would be fine.

Fuck, fuck, fuck. Who was he kidding? He buzzed down the window and called after the girl. ‘Hey.’

She turned.

‘It’s a bit late for you to be out. Let me give you a lift home.’

She hesitated for a moment, then said, ‘All right.’



Nick drove along the unlit road, keeping well below the speed limit. The only illumination came from the instruments on the dashboard. The girl’s name turned out to be Gemma, and she lived in an estate a couple of miles away. It would mean only a five-minute detour and Nick was ahead of schedule.

But his mind was in turmoil. What had possessed him to take such a risk? What if Scanlon started to come round before he’d dropped this girl off? Even if he stayed inert and mute, there was the small matter of this Gemma coming forward as some kind of witness later.

Nick could only think that latent paternal protective instinct had kicked in, overriding everything else. And this Gemma looked and sounded about the same age Lucy had been when she’d died. He supposed he’d—

Nick’s thoughts were suddenly interrupted by rustling noise and a faint murmur of surprise from the girl. He glanced to his left and saw her touching a hand to the paper covering on her seat. She looked across and registered the identical cover on Nick’s seat. Too.

‘Why do you have paper over everything?’

Nick thought fast. ‘Just got it back from the garage,’ he explained. ‘I suppose they didn’t want to dirty up my seats with their overalls.’

‘Oh.’ She started fiddling with the dashboard radio before settling for a local station, which was halfway through playing a Taylor Swift song that Nick recognized as one that Lucy used to like.

‘I s’pose I really shouldn’t have taken a lift from a stranger,’ Gemma said after a minute.

‘No, Probably not,’ Nick agreed. ‘But you shouldn’t have been out in the dark by yourself either. Your parents will be worried.’

She snorted at that.

‘What?’

‘You don’t know my parents. They couldn’t care less.’

‘I don’t think that’s true.’

She looked over at him. The dashboard lights glinted off her eyes and for just a second he was reminded of Lucy; her faintly contemptuous look she always gave him when she thought she knew better about something.

‘Do you have kids?’

Nick kept his eyes on the road. He could see the lights of Swindon lighting the sky up ahead. ‘No. No, I don’t have any children.’

His eyes moved to the rearview mirror again, to the outline of the form beneath the tarpaulin. It was still completely inert. Thank Christ for that.

They reached the turn for Gemma’s estate a minute later and she asked him to drop her at the end of her street.

‘You sure you’ll be all right from here?’

‘Yeah. My dad would flip if he knew I’d hitched a lift with a potential psychokiller.’

Not quite yet I’m not, thought Nick, before replying: ‘I thought you said he didn’t care about you.’

‘No, but any excuse to shout at me, you know what I mean?’

She stepped out onto the pavement and turned back. ‘Anyway, it’s okay, I knew you weren’t a psycho.’

‘How?’

‘You were worried about your dog. I trust animal lovers. What’s he called, by the way?’

For a moment Nick’s mind blanked. What the hell was the imaginary dog’s name? ‘Cassius,’ he managed after a slightly too-long pause. His name’s Cassius.’

‘You don’t sound very sure. Weird name, though.’

‘Well, yes, I suppose it is. A lot of people think so. My wife chose it, actually.’

Gemma suddenly gave him a shy smile. ‘Anyway, thanks for the ride, whoever you are.’ She swung the door closed. Nick watched as she trotted along the street of identikit detached homes. She walked up the front path of one of them and pressed the doorbell. A moment later the door opened and Gemma disappeared inside.

Nick shook his head. That had been a stupid deviation from the plan. It would have been a disaster if Scanlon had woken up.

His luck had held. But from here on in, come what may, he was sticking to the programme.



The traffic was quiet on the road to Cirencester. Just long-haul lorries hugging the slow lane and the occasional taxi. Nick kept glancing at the mirror, half-expecting to see a weighty form suddenly sit up beneath the tarp like a shrouded body rising from the dead.

He took a sharp breath when he saw blue lights suddenly appear in the mirror. He slowed and kept to the left lane as he watched the lights close in. With a surge of relief, he saw that the vehicle was an ambulance not a police car. It shot past him at what had to be at least ninety and vanished into the distance.

It seemed to take an age to reach the exit for Cirencester. After the scare with the ambulance, Nick had been chastising himself. This was an insane scheme. He could have dealt with Scanlon quickly and cleanly back at the car park. Then it would have been over; justice would have been served.

Even as he told himself this, he knew that it wasn’t the truth. Scanlon had to know why he was going to die. And he had to know that his end was near.

The road curved around the grounds of Cirencester Hospital, the lights burning in the night. He glimpsed a nurse standing outside A&E smoking a cigarette and staring out into the night.

At the roundabout, he turned off the Bristol Road and navigated the smaller roads that led to the amphitheatre. He passed through the shadow of the Cirencester Obelisk and glanced up at the towering monument, thinking about what was still to come.

The fifty-foot-high obelisk had towered over its surroundings since the eighteenth century, which made it practically modern in comparison with the amphitheatre that lay a few hundred yards beyond it. Unusually, Nick didn’t know much about its history. He was not alone in that. It was something of a local mystery. Some assumed that it was one of the first Lord Bathurst’s follies, scattered around the park. This was all speculation, though. Nobody really knew who had erected it, or why. The lack of markings on the obelisk meant it kept the secrets of its architect, or even the year of its construction. Growing up in the town, Nick had always been drawn to the mystery.

The Egyptians had constructed obelisks at the entrance of their temples. Some historians posited that they represented the sun god, Ra. Nick had selected the Roman amphitheatre as a fitting place for Arthur Scanlon’s demise, but perhaps this relic inspired by an even earlier civilization added an extra layer of appropriateness. A midnight sacrifice to the sun god, close as dammit to midsummer.

With an effort, he turned his mind from the ancient world to the here and now. As he had hoped, there were no other cars around. The last joggers and dog walkers had completed their evening constitutionals and retreated behind closed doors. The night was silent but for the occasional hum of a passing lorry on the Bristol road.

Nick slowed as the truck left the road and bumped along onto the grass. He guided it carefully through the defile and into the amphitheatre itself. He parked and got out, walking around to the back of the pickup and reaching for the tarpaulin. He snatched his hand back when the form underneath shifted.

There was a low moan, like someone waking up with a hangover. Nick realised that this was exactly what was happening. Had he got the dose wrong? He hadn’t wanted the drug to kill Scanlon, but perhaps he had erred too much on the side of caution.

Nick grabbed the tarp and lifted it up, revealing Scanlon’s face. His eyes were dazed, unfocused. He blinked and tried to focus on Nick.

His lips moved, but no sound came out.




Fifty

Arthur tried to focus his eyes. His head felt as if something heavy was weighing down on it. His chest felt heavy too. His tongue felt too big, or maybe it was that his mouth felt as though it was full of cotton wool. His hands were trapped underneath his back. He tried to move and found he could not.

Where was he? He was lying on a hard surface, with a man peering down at him. He couldn’t make out any features; the figure was just a silhouette against the blue of the night sky.

He tried to speak. His mouth formed the words, ‘What happened?’ but no sound came out.

The man said nothing. From his posture, he seemed to be examining Arthur with interest. Then he leaned forward and Arthur felt something sharp prick his arm and suddenly he was easing back into warm, comforting sleep.



When Arthur opened his eyes again it was still dark. He had been dreaming that he was in an old wooden horse-drawn coach moving slowly along a sweeping drive towards a grand country house. The wheels of the coach creaked in a regular rhythm. The house was a sprawling, forbidding building with asymmetrical turrets and peaked roofs and misshapen gargoyles everywhere. In the tall windows stood some of his girls, watching as he arrived. Lucy, Mandy, a few of the others. As he woke, the creaking of the coach wheels as they rotated followed him from the dream.

He was lying on his side this time, blades of grass brushing his cheek. From the angle where he lay, he could see the dark outline of a small hill ahead of him, the deep blue night sky above it.

Where was he?

He felt nauseous. The headache he had experienced on first waking was worse this time. A pulsing, continual beat, like somebody was swinging a hammer against his skull.

Had he been in some kind of accident? Was he still at the scene? This was no hospital. And what the hell was that insistent wooden creaking noise echoing the sound of the wheels of the coach in his dream?

The headache dwarfed smaller pains, but not so much that he was unaware of them. The ache in the shoulder he was lying on, a bruised throbbing from his upper arm. Another throbbing pain in his wrist.

His hands. Even though he was on his side, he still couldn’t move his hands. He tried to shift position and the pain in his wrist sang out, rivalling the headache now. An involuntary moan issued from his lips.

Something was cutting into his wrists, binding them. His hands were tied behind him.

Somebody had tied him up.

He heard padding footsteps. Boots on the grass. A pair of jeans-clad legs appeared, but Arthur could not see anything higher than the knees from his position. They looked like a man’s legs.

The boots stopped six inches from Arthur’s face and he was keenly aware of the helplessness of his position.

He took a sharp breath as the right foot lifted off the ground. Then, almost gently, the foot was placed down on his shoulder and he was pushed over onto his back.

A man stood above him. The same man he had seen when he had first woken from the daze. The light was better here, or perhaps his eyes were just adjusting to the dark. Arthur could see that he was about six feet tall and wore dark jeans, a dark jacket and a dark wool hat. He looked very much like somebody who wanted to blend in with the darkness.

‘Awake again?’ the man said, sounding almost impressed.

Something about the voice sounded familiar. It was so hard to think. Where was he?

And then the man kneeled down and Arthur got a better look at his face. Memories began to bubble to the surface.

The bridge. Mandy Blake. The man who was looking for her, the concerned neighbour.

Panic seized Arthur, racing through his bloodstream like a trail of ignited petrol. This was about Mandy. Somehow, the man knew why he had been there, in the woods.

Arthur moistened his tongue and tried to clear his throat. It hurt. Everything hurt. A symphony of aches and pains, each taking their turn for the solo.

He tried to speak.

‘What…’

This time he managed to make a sound, albeit one that sounded like a gentle breeze blowing through an old chimney.

The man crouching over him said nothing. Just watched him with the mild disinterest of a council roadworker inspecting roadkill.

‘What… happened?’ It was an effort, but the second word had a little more volume behind it.

The corner of the man’s mouth curved up a little as though he was thinking of a private joke.

‘What happened?’ he replied. ‘I happened.’

‘Wh… Where…’

‘Where are you?’ the man prompted. ‘You’ll find out soon enough. Do you know why you’re here?’

Arthur shook his head. ‘Take me… hhhh… hospital.’

The man actually laughed a little at that. Then he shook his head. ‘No, Arthur. You’re not going to hospital. By the time I’m finished with you, no hospital is going to be able to help you.’

Arthur was seized by panic. Not just because of what the man had implied, but because he had addressed him by his name. He knew his name.

He turned his head to watch as the man took a dozen or so paces across the stretch of grass to where there seemed to be a long, flat structure lying on the ground. It was long, the edges sharp and defined against the grass. Something metal or wooden perhaps? There was a toolbox lying open beside whatever it was. The man took out a hand tool, a socket wrench. He leaned over the structure and fitted the socket wrench to something.

The soft creaking sound started again, the coach wheels in Arthur’s dream. A bolt was being tightened. Bolting something wooden together.

He tried calling out again. Surely his voice was loud enough now to carry? The man didn’t react, but kept working on whatever he was doing.

Arthur closed his eyes and listened. The night was silent. Where was he? Still in Badger Wood? He didn’t think so – there were no trees – and what he could see of the surroundings looked nothing like the woodland trail where he had waited for Mandy. Then he focused a little harder. He heard the sound of an engine. Not too close, maybe half a mile or more away. A diesel engine, a lorry or a bus? If there was a road nearby, there might be people, even at this time of… What time of night was it, anyway?

He moistened his lips and tried to summon reserves of energy he was not sure he possessed.

‘Help!’

The effort he put into the call should have produced an ear-splitting yell. Instead, it came out scarcely greater in volume than a cough.

It drew the man’s attention. He stood up and walked unhurriedly back to Arthur.

‘That won’t do you any good. There’s no one around here.’ Then, as if to prove his point, he turned his head to the sky, cupped his hands around his mouth like a megaphone and yelled.

‘Hello! Anybody out there?’

He dropped his hands and they both listened. The diesel engine faded into the silence.

‘Anyone?’ he yelled again.

He shrugged and opened his palms, as though saying, ‘See?’

The man turned and resumed his work.

Arthur slumped back down. He understood now that he had been drugged. That explained the pain in his arm. Injected with something. But when? His recollections were hazy. He remembered watching the bridge, meeting the man who would become his abductor. Then something about his car. He remembered walking back to the car park… He strained, but couldn’t remember anything after this. The concerned neighbour, whoever he was, had clearly jumped him and injected him with something to knock him out.

But why? This couldn’t be about Mandy. No way could anyone have known that he was there to witness Mandy commit suicide. Unless…

It had to be the drug haze. He would have worked it out a long time ago, had his head been straight.

There was no Mandy.

At that moment, the ‘concerned neighbour’ finished tightening the bolt. He stood up, dusting down his knees, and surveyed his work for a moment. Then he turned back to Arthur as though suddenly remembering he was there.

‘Sorry to keep you,’ he said. ‘Would you like to see what it is?’

Arthur said nothing. He was looking beyond the man at the thing that lay on the ground. He still had no idea what it was, but he was becoming convinced that he did not want to know.

It wasn’t up to him, though.

It was the man in the dark clothes. He was wearing gloves. Why? It wasn’t a cold night. Arthur realised he’d been wearing them earlier, too.

As he watched, the man knelt and seemed to be clearing out some kind of hole or pit that had been dug in the earth. There were two such pits. Then he walked the length of the wooden structure and positioned himself at the end of it. With obvious effort, he began to lift it. He straightened, bench-pressing the large wooden object. Then he tilted it forward a little, slotting it into the socket in the ground. He kept pushing it until it was upright.

And then Arthur saw what it was.

‘You asked where you were,’ the man said quietly, not taking his eyes off his handiwork. ‘Welcome to Corinium.’




Fifty-One

Nick dusted off his gloved hands and looked up at the cross, checking that it was straight and firm and secure in the ground. It looked larger than it had in the shed, somehow. More imposing in its final setting. It was a dark X-silhouette against the blue of the night sky.

He turned to Arthur who had managed to raise his upper body off the ground slightly and was staring up at the cross in disbelief.

He crouched in front of him so they were face to face.

‘Do you know who I am?’

Scanlon swallowed. There was a look of disgust on his face. ‘You pretended to be Mandy.’

Nick nodded. ‘Very good.’ Then, fixing his eyes on Arthur’s, he asked the question again: ‘Do you know who I am?’

Arthur shook his head. ‘I don’t know what this is about, but—’

Nick held up a hand to cut him off.

‘My name is Nicholas Wychwood. Does that ring a bell?’

At the mention of ‘Wychwood’ Arthur’s eyes widened. He knew.

‘That’s right, Wychwood. I’m Lucy’s father.’

Scanlon shook his head. ‘No.’

‘No?’

‘You’ve got the wrong guy.’ Arthur’s voice was weak and unconvincing. ‘I swear…’

Nick reached forward and grabbed Arthur’s shirt, bunching it in his fist and pulling the bound man closer. ‘Don’t fucking insult us both,’ he hissed.

Now that the task of erecting the cross was complete, the rage was returning, coursing through Nick’s veins. It was all he could do to stop himself from taking a hammer from the toolbox and bashing Arthur’s face in right there. Only by reminding himself that that way was too quick, too relatively painless, could he keep himself in check.

‘No, you don’t want to do this,’ Arthur whispered.

Nick didn’t dignify that with a response. He turned and walked back to where the pickup truck was parked. He threw off the rest of the tarpaulin and got up onto the flatbed. He could hear Scanlon mumbling denials from where he lay. He wasn’t listening. He detached the cable and the hook from the winch and unspooled it until there was plenty of slack, then carried the hook to where Arthur lay, letting the cable trail out behind him. Arthur’s body twisted as he approached. Nick tucked the hook under the duct tape binding Arthur’s ankles. He had tripled up on the tape to ensure that it would bear Arthur’s weight.

‘You don’t want to do this,’ Arthur repeated.

Nick checked the hook was secure, giving it a yank that brought a grunt of pain from Scanlon, and then looked down at him. ‘What a curious thing to say. You think I’ve gone to all this trouble to do something I don’t want to?’

He took an extra length of rope and worked it under and around Arthur’s upper torso, securing it to the ankle hook and jerking it tight. Arthur started babbling again, but Nick was already walking back to the trailer. He picked up the remote that controlled the winch and stabbed at the start button with his forefinger.

Arthur cried out as the hook began to drag his weight backwards along the ground. Nick kept the button pressed. When Arthur was almost at the cross, he stopped the winch and walked over to the cross, ignoring the whimpering mess. Carefully he looped the cable over one of its arms and went back to the trailer to hoist Scanlon up the rest of the way.

Scanlon was inverted now, his shirt coming down and exposing his belly. He was breathing fast, his skin was pale, beads of sweat misting his face. He seemed too exhausted by the pain to protest. As Nick positioned his legs at the top of the cross and started to tape them into place.

Once he had positioned his arms, he examined the bindings, tugging at all four points to make sure that the wrists and ankles were secure and the duct tape would bear Arthur’s weight before the screws went in. Only a few minutes now.

When he was satisfied, Nick turned away from the cross and looked out across the amphitheatre. The shape of the earthworks and the woods beyond created natural sound proofing. If no one had come running when they heard Scanlon’s screams as he was being dragged, they wouldn’t be coming now.

He turned back to admire the biblical tableau that he, and he alone, had created. The man who had lured Lucy to her lonely death now hung before him, helpless, terrified, completely at a vengeful father’s mercy. Not that Nick intended to show him any. Not a shred.

He would have liked to savour the moment just a little longer, but the night was getting on. Nick pulled his gloves on a little tighter and reached into a side pocket of his jacket. Yes, there it was. The clear plastic bag containing the screws.

He had one more task to perform.




Fifty-Two

It was over. Nick had held eye contact with Arthur as his body jerked a final time and the last drops of life drained from him. Now, the corpse hung heavy on the cross, the grass beneath dark with blood.

He hadn’t known what to expect when this moment came. Now that his work was done, he felt neither elation nor shame. More a strange numbness and an overwhelming feeling of fatigue. Ever since he had found the laptop hidden in Lucy’s room, Nick had been driven and animated by one purpose: to make her tormentor pay for what he had done. He felt an urge to lie down in front of the cross. To wait until morning and be discovered at the scene of the crime.

Instead, he wiped the blood from the blade he’d used to administer the coup de grâce on Scanlon – he’d cut his throat – on the sleeve of his jacket. The dark material betrayed no sign of it, but he knew that there was a lot more blood on his clothes and skin. He checked the scene once more to make sure he had left nothing behind and went back to the pickup.

Driving away from the amphitheatre, he could see that the sky was lightening further. In another hour or so, the sun would be coming up. Nick wondered who would find Arthur. He hoped it wasn’t anyone too young or too old. Whoever made the discovery would carry that vision with them for the rest of their lives. This he regretted more than anything he had done to Arthur Scanlon.

He took the main road out of Cirencester and put as much distance behind him as quickly as possible. Five miles on, he slowed and turned onto a rutted farm track he had found a week before when scouting his locations. The track was large enough for only one vehicle and wound its way for half a mile before skirting the edge of a small lake. He stopped the truck and got out. There was a dead tree overhanging the edge of the lake, and beneath it the ground had given way so that the roots were exposed. Nick bent down and shone the torch beam of his phone inside the cavity behind them to find the objects he had left there three days before.

He reached in and pulled them out. A small aluminium fire pit, lighter fluid and matches, and lastly a waterproof Ziploc bag containing a complete change of clothes.

Nick gathered together some dried twigs and leaves and piled them into the firepit. He took Arthur’s wallet and cheap mobile phone out of his pocket. After dropping Gemma off, he had spent a few moments checking the phone. As he suspected, it was a burner. Very few apps and location services were already turned off. Arthur had not wanted the phone to be connected to him, which suited Nick just fine. He dropped the phone into the firepit on top of the kindling, then took the cards out of the wallet and added them too.

Next, he stripped off every item of his clothing: the gloves, the wool hat, the light jacket, his t-shirt and jeans and his boots, then his underwear and his socks. He registered the chill of the night air, but again at one remove, as though it was being felt by someone else.

He piled the clothes and the boots on top of the leaves and twigs and squirted lighter fluid over them, then dropped in a match. The flames erupted to life and he had to stand back from the heat.

He watched the flames for a moment and then turned to the lake. He walked in until his feet were barely brushing the stones on the bed and ducked under. He would take a proper shower later, but this would do in the meantime. It felt calming to be underwater, a symbolic cleansing after the sacrifice.

The fire was still smouldering as he stepped out of the lake. He poked at the embers with a small branch, making sure the clothes were fully consumed. The boots would take more time to properly burn, but he was satisfied that any DNA evidence would be long gone. When the flames died down, he used the branch to scoop the boots out of the embers and dunked them in the lake to cool down. Then he placed them inside a plastic bag weighted with a large rock and heaved it as far out over the water as he could.

The bag soared up and out and then vanished beneath the surface of the lake with a soft splash. Nick watched the ripples until they disappeared. He tipped the still-hot firepit on its side with the branch and scraped the ashes into the lake, finally pushing in the fire pit itself.

Then he took the Ziploc bag of clothes and walked until he was away from the smoke that lingered in the air. There was a towel in the bag too. He dried himself down and dressed quickly in the loose sweatpants and t-shirt.

Ten minutes later he was behind the wheel again and turning back onto the road. He was tired, so tired, but there was still so much to do. Towing Arthur’s car back to Bristol, he parked it a few yards from his parents’ house. It would beg some questions, but Nick didn’t think they mattered too much. The important thing now was to get back to London. The traffic shouldn’t be too bad at least. This early on a Sunday was as quiet as it got. He lowered the window, feeling the cool of the air on the skin of his forearms.

Something that Arthur had said to him towards the end echoed in his head.

You’ll pay for this.

Nick almost wanted to laugh at that. Maybe it was true, but he had already paid in advance. Killing Arthur wouldn’t bring Lucy back, but it made him feel that justice had been done. Perhaps more importantly, it meant that Arthur would never be able to do the same thing to anyone else’s child.

Three hours later, Nick parked on the street near South Ealing Tube. He took a baseball cap from the glovebox and walked to the station. The handful of Sunday morning commuters paid no attention to him. As far as they knew, he was one of them.

Thirty minutes after that he walked into the hotel, past the unmanned desk, and went up to his room.

Five minutes after that, Nick was lying on the bed, still fully clothed, slipping into the heaviest and deepest sleep of his life.




Fifty-Three

Now

‘Morning, guv.’

Williamson looked up from his computer screen to see Steve Holliday leaning around the doorway. The tone of his voice and the tentative knock that had preceded his entrance told Williamson that the young red-haired PC didn’t really want to be the one to tell Williamson whatever it was that he had to say.

‘What is it?’

‘There’s someone here to see you. Doesn’t have an appointment, but she’s… pretty insistent.’

Williamson sighed. He had been waiting for this since yesterday. ‘Professor Crawford, I take it? You had better send her in.’

Holliday opened his mouth to reply but was unceremoniously pushed aside. Sally Crawford strode into Williamson’s office. She was wearing a well-tailored suit over a lemon-yellow blouse, and the fact that her hair and makeup were so immaculately composed told him that she was on her way to a court appearance. Unfortunately for him, she had obviously decided that this meeting could not wait.

She stood in front of his desk and folded her arms. There was no trace of her usual pleasant demeanour in her expression.

‘Well?’

Williamson looked beyond her to the doorway where Holliday was still hovering awkwardly.

‘It’s all right, PC Holliday, I’ll take it from here. Close the door.’

Holliday nodded gratefully.

‘Steve, wait a second.’ Williamson spoke again as Holliday started to close the door.

‘Yes, guv?’

‘Check if DCI Johnson has left for that conference yet. If not send him in.’

‘Yes, sir,’ Holliday said before stepping out as quickly as he could.

Williamson looked back at Sally Crawford. Her lips were pursed, as though she was having to physically restrain herself from saying something she might regret.

‘Take a seat,’ he said, indicating the nearest of the two chairs in front of his desk. She ignored the offer. ‘You’re here about Nicholas Wychwood, I take it?’

‘Of course I’m bloody here about Nick,’ she snapped. ‘What the hell are you playing at?’

Williamson lowered his voice, hoping she would follow suit. ‘I was going to tell you.’

‘Oh, really? When?’

‘Today. As a matter of fact, I was just about—’

Sally rolled her eyes and put her hands on his desk, leaning across. ‘You were just about to get around to telling me you’ve decided my boyfriend is a suspect on a murder case where I am the forensic pathologist. That’s big of you. You couldn’t have mentioned it before you dragged him down to the police station to interrogate him?’

Williamson cleared his throat. ‘It wasn’t an interrogation; it was an interview.’

‘That’s not how he sees it. This is absolutely ridiculous, Mark. Nick is no murderer.’

Williamson raised an eyebrow. ‘That’s always what the spouses say. There’s no way their husband or wife could possibly have done this thing. And then it turns out they did. Does he know you’re here?’

Williamson wasn’t sure there was a right thing to say to mollify Sally Crawford, but as soon as the words had left his mouth, he realised that he had just said the opposite of the right thing. Sally gave an astounded exhalation of breath and took a moment to formulate her reply.

‘What exactly is that supposed to mean? You think he told me to come down here?’

Williamson held up his hands in apology. ‘Wait a second, I—.’

‘As a matter of fact, Nick had to talk me out of coming to see you last night. I would have bloody well come to your house. I hope you have some kind of explanation. A good one.’

Since she still hadn’t elected to sit down, Williamson stood up so that he was at eye level with her. He perched on the edge of his desk. He was glad she had asked for an explanation, because now he was on more solid ground.

‘As a matter of fact, I do. You’re aware that we’ve been looking into Arthur Scanlon’s online activities?’

‘Nick told me. He told me all about it. You think Scanlon was in contact with his daughter, that his emails might have contributed to her suicide.’

Williamson felt a slight twinge of disappointment. If Wychwood had withheld this from Sally Crawford, it would have been an indication that he had something to hide. Then again, he knew she would find out sooner or later, so perhaps Wychwood had just been smart enough to get in front of the news.

‘That’s correct. And going by what we’ve found, he did more than just contribute. If Scanlon was still in the land of the living, we’d be looking at charging him with culpable manslaughter. If Nicholas Wychwood found out about that, I would say that’s one hell of a motive for killing Scanlon, wouldn’t you?’

‘That’s a big “if”, Mark,’ Sally said. ‘Did Nick say that he’d discovered it?’

‘No. He claimed he knew nothing about it.’

Sally threw up her hands. ‘It took your best IT technicians days to find out there was anything dodgy going on. You didn’t find Scanlon’s secret laptop until the other day. He was very good at covering his tracks, you told me that. Are you telling me that a normal middle-aged bloke with no special training managed to find this information, and then somehow identified the person using a false identity at the other end of an internet conversation?’

‘I don’t think it’s beyond the realms of possibility, no.’

Sally laughed. ‘You don’t know Nick. He can barely get Netflix to work without an instruction manual. There’s no way he would have been able to track someone like Scanlon down, even if he did somehow find out what had happened to Lucy.’

‘Well, someone did track him down. And they executed him. Nicholas Wychwood has the best motive for doing so that we’ve found.’

‘It’s not a motive, it’s just… it’s just a weird coincidence, that’s all.’

Williamson let Sally’s words hang in the air for a moment. For the first time since she had burst into his office, she sounded a little uncertain. Like she was trying to talk herself into something, rather than him.

‘It would be quite a coincidence, wouldn’t it?’

Sally looked at him, her brow knitted. Before she could respond, there was another knock on the door. Louder and more confident this time.

‘Come,’ Williamson said, raising his voice again.

The door opened and Peter Johnson entered. He was dressed in one of his usual suits, paired with an expensive-looking burgundy silk tie today. He was due to speak at a police conference in Plymouth later and, as usual, he was looking effortlessly smart.

‘Steve said you wanted to see me? Oh, hi, Sally.’

Sally did not return the pleasantry, narrowing her eyes accusingly as she looked at Johnson.

Williamson cleared his throat. ‘We’ve just been discussing Nicholas Wychwood.’

‘Good timing,’ Johnson said. His eyes moved from Sally to his superior. ‘Do you want to talk in private first or…’

Williamson shook his head. ‘Professor Crawford will be interested in what you have to say, I think. DCI Johnson has been checking out the alibi that Wychwood gave us.’

‘He was in London the night Scanlon was killed,’ Sally said. ‘He told me. I didn’t ask him.’

‘So he said,’ Johnson commented. He took his notebook from his pocket and flipped to his most recent notes. ‘He told us he travelled to London on 17th June to meet with his agent, a Mr Oliver Peterson. Mr Peterson was able to confirm that they met for lunch that Friday afternoon. He paid and they left at 2:12pm according to Mr Peterson’s credit card statement. At 3:04pm Wychwood checked into the Mont Clair Hotel. The receptionist on the desk thinks she remembers him from a photograph, but she sees hundreds of guests a month, so…’

‘And what about after that? Johnson asked. ‘Anyone see him in London after Friday afternoon?’

‘Not so far as I can establish. If he was indeed in London the whole time as he claims, I haven’t been able to find anyone else who saw him.’

Sally was staring back at him, waiting for him to say more.

‘That’s all you’ve got? Two witnesses who back up his alibi and no one to disprove it?’

Johnson was unruffled. ‘There’s a big gap between 3pm on Friday and him checking out at eleven on Sunday morning. And no CCTV in the hotel. That’s quite rare, in this day and age.’

‘I see,’ Sally said. ‘Good luck standing that up in court. What about phone records? Credit card transactions. Have you checked those yet?’

‘Of course,’ Johnson said. ‘A number of purchases on his credit card in London, including the hotel. Nothing at all on Saturday, though. He says he paid cash for dinner in an Italian restaurant that night, thinks it was probably a place called Trevi on Irving Street, though he’s not sure. They only have CCTV covering the till and it’s wiped weekly.’

‘And his phone?’

‘Location services disabled on his phone, which is rather convenient, but he sent a couple of text messages to a friend from somewhere around Leicester Square on Friday evening. Then the phone was left in his room from Saturday afternoon until the next morning.’

‘ “Left in his room” sounds like speculation,’ Sally said sharply. Williamson suppressed a smile, thinking that he didn’t envy whoever was going to be cross-examining her in court this afternoon.

‘Wychwood said he forgot to take it when he went out to dinner,’ Johnson said, making no effort to keep the scepticism out of his voice. ‘That’s why he used cash to pay rather than his phone.’

‘You have to admit it’s pretty thin, isn’t it?’

‘If this was all it was possible to find, then perhaps,’ Williamson said. ‘But we’re not finished digging yet. And we seem to have found a gap where it would have been quite possible for your friend Nick to drive to Cirencester and kill Scanlon, with plenty of time to go back to London and check out from the Mont Clair.’

‘That’s not exactly a smoking gun.’

Williamson looked at Johnson, who was keeping his own counsel, then back at the pathologist.

‘Think about it. He hasn’t left home in months, then the very night when the man responsible for his daughter’s death is murdered, Wychwood somehow happens to be miles away in London. He makes sure there are all sorts of records that he was there, but no one can find him on CCTV and no one saw him for more than twenty-four hours? We mentioned coincidence earlier. That’s another big one.’

Williamson was watching Sally’s face as he spoke. It was impossible to read. After a moment, she dropped her gaze and examined the elegant Cartier watch on her wrist.

‘I have to be in court in an hour, I’m testifying on the Watson case.’

Williamson had suspected as much. His colleagues over in Gloucester had worked that one. A nasty spousal murder involving a body that had been concealed in a septic tank. Sally Crawford’s deduction on the time of death had been the breakthrough that had allowed the husband to be charged. If all went well today, Professor Sally Crawford would have helped to put away a vicious killer, hopefully for a very long time.

‘Best of luck,’ Williamson said, standing up from his perch. ‘Let’s hope it goes smoothly.’ As he spoke, he realised that Sally wasn’t just mentioning this because it meant she would have to cut their discussion short.

‘Helena Kent is prosecuting,’ she continued. ‘She reckons we have a strong case. Do you know what would happen if she walked into court with what you’ve got against Nick Wychwood?’

Williamson and Johnson exchanged a glance. Neither of them spoke. Sally nodded.

‘Exactly.’

She turned on her heel and went towards the door, stopping when Williamson said her name.

‘Sally… I’m sorry we didn’t tell you. We’re just doing the job, following the evidence.’

She turned to look at him.

‘He didn’t do it.’

‘Maybe you’re right. Maybe we’ll look and we won’t find anything. But we have to look.’

She considered that, then gave a slight nod. The closest thing to a concession she had offered since walking through the door.

‘See you later.’




Fifty-Four

Sally finished in court earlier than she had expected and called Nick on the way back to the cottage to ask if she should pick up something for dinner. There was no need, he told her; he’d already made plans. These involved a couple of excellent rib-eye steaks served with salad and his signature rosemary potatoes.

They chatted over dinner, Coldplay’s Viva La Vida album playing on Alexa low in the background. Nick asked Sally about her day in court and she told him how it had gone, skirting over some of the more unpleasant details in deference to the fact they were eating. He had spent most of the day writing, or trying to write, he admitted. He had told her before that some writing days were better than others, and this sounded like it had been one of the others.

When he went to the kitchen and returned with a second bottle of red, Sally took the plunge.

‘I spoke to DCS Williamson today.’

Nick looked up from opening the bottle. His expression was neutral, as though he had been waiting all evening for her to say this and was well prepared. The song ‘Lovers in Japan’ continued quietly in the background, seeming only to intensify the silence between them.

Finally he said, ‘Oh?’

‘Yes, I know you didn’t want me to say anything, but he should have told me they were interested in you as a suspect. That’s what I was annoyed about. It’s like he decided he couldn’t trust me.’

Nick started to fill Sally’s empty glass.

‘I suppose it was a tricky situation from his point of view, Sal. With us knowing each other and everything.’

‘Still, he could have handled it better.’ She took the glass and sipped from it. ‘I told him it was ridiculous, of course.’

Nick filled his own glass and sat back down at the table.

‘I’m not exactly feeling well-disposed towards them myself, but… Look, he has a job to do. It’s a coincidence, that’s all. I don’t blame them for putting two and two together, even if they made five.’

They were silent for a moment. Sally was impressed that Nick was able to be so magnanimous about his treatment. She could only imagine how she would react in his shoes. And yet, there had been a distance, a coldness to Nick this evening. She was worried that he was holding at least one part of this against her.

‘I didn’t know,’ she said quietly.

Nick seemed to snap out of some deep thought and looked over at her. ‘I know that, Sal. You wouldn’t have been so pissed off at DCS Williamson if you had.’

‘No, I don’t mean about them investigating you. I knew Scanlon had been involved in online catfishing, but I didn’t know that Lucy was one of his…’ She was about to say ‘victims’, but the word felt too harsh in the moment. ‘One of the people he targeted.’

‘All right,’ Nick said. He rubbed his eyes. He looked tired. ‘It was just a bit of a shock, that’s all. To find out like that.’

‘And then immediately being questioned about Scanlon’s murder,’ Sally added. ‘I can’t imagine. I’m so sorry.’ She reached a hand across the table and lay it on Nick’s.

‘They think I found out about it first and that’s why I killed him. To be honest, I can understand why they would think that.’

‘What would you have done?’ Sally asked without thinking. She stopped and wished she could take the question back. But it was too late. Nick withdrew his hand. He picked up his glass of wine and took a drink. When he looked back at her, it was as though something was absent from his eyes. He wasn’t looking at her. He was somewhere else entirely.

‘When they told me about the messages… This man, Arthur Scanlon, he pretended to be another teenage girl, you know. He acted as though he was a troubled youngster. Pretended to sympathise with Luce. She had problems before he got involved, of course. After her mum died, she was like a different person. Eating disorder, self-harming. I really believed she would… I don’t know, this sounds naive. I thought she would snap out of it.’

‘Oh, Nick.’

‘I tried to be there for her, see her through it. But she shut me out. I thought she was all alone, but it was worse than that. She was talking to Scanlon all that time, letting him pour his poison into her ear.’

He stopped talking, seemed overwhelmed. Sally wanted to reach for his hand again, but she didn’t act on the urge.

Nick cleared his throat. ‘When she died, everyone told me not to blame myself. The counsellor said that once someone has made their mind up to do away with themself, there’s very little anyone can do to save them unless they want to be saved. But then I find out about this and I’m not sure that’s true. I think Luce might have found her way through it, if it hadn’t been for Scanlon.’

Nick stopped and took another gulp of his wine, then stared at the glass as though surprised to find it was empty. He put it down on the table and looked back at Sally, holding her gaze.

‘What are you asking me? Would I have killed him if I had known?’

‘Nick, you don’t have to—’

‘I’m very glad he’s dead. Let’s leave it at that.’

‘From what they’ve found out about him, I don’t think anyone would disagree with you. He can’t hurt anyone else now.’

The silence drew out for even longer.

‘Listen, I think I need an early night,’ Nick said.

‘Of course,’ Sally said. She gestured at the dinner plates. ‘I’ll clear up and head home.’

Nick shook his head, pointing to the wine. ‘Don’t be silly. Wouldn’t look good for a forensic pathologist to be done for drink driving, would it?’

Sally smiled. She had got so caught up in the emotion of the moment that she hadn’t thought of that.

‘I suppose not. I’ll call a cab.’

It was Nick’s turn to reach across the table this time. He took her hand and gave it a squeeze. When she looked up at him the life seemed to have come back into his eyes, and he managed a reassuring smile. ‘Don’t be silly. I’m just tired, really. Come on up to bed when you’re ready. I can’t promise I’ll be awake, but…’

‘But?’

‘But it would be nice to wake up with you.’

Once Nick had climbed the stairs and she heard the click of the bedroom door closing, Sally cleared the plates and stacked them in the dishwasher. She thought back to the meal and the pleasant conversation that had scrupulously avoided the subject they were both thinking about. The steak had been excellent. As someone who found beans on toast a bit of a faff, she marvelled at the way Nick could put a meal together. That was why they were so good together. Their differences complemented each other.

She wondered if Nick was asleep yet. She wasn’t close to being tired. She sat down on the couch and turned on the television. The menu screen popped up with recent items viewed. There was the last couple of movies she and Nick had watched together and the television show they had given up on halfway through, and a few suggested programmes and videos. What caught Sally’s attention was an entry marked ‘Lucy’. It had been transferred onto the television’s memory software. Sally hesitated for a moment, then moved the cursor above ‘select’ and pressed ‘play’.

The image buffered and suddenly Lucy Wychwood was on the screen. Sally recognised her from the various framed pictures dotted around the house. She looked to be twelve or so in this video. She had long blonde hair and sparkling blue eyes and was wearing denim dungarees over a white t-shirt. Her eyes were focused beyond the camera as the video started, then she looked straight into the camera and smiled.

‘Hey Daddy. I know you’re going to be away on your birthday, so Mummy thought it would be nice for me to send you a message to open when you wake up. Anyway, I just wanted to say… fifty isn’t that ancient!’

Lucy laughed and Sally heard a woman’s voice from off-screen.

‘Lucy…’

‘Sorry, Mummy,’ she said, rolling her eyes exaggeratedly. Then she smiled again. ‘Just kidding, Daddy. You are the greatest fifty-year-old in the world. Happy birthday!’

Lucy blew a kiss to the camera and then the video reached the end of its run-time and froze.

Sally realised she was smiling at the carefree ebullience of Nick’s daughter. As she remembered what had happened, the smile vanished.

Nick’s birthday was in February. That meant that this video must have been made only a few months before his wife had died. Perhaps this was the last evidence of them as a happy family. Bad enough to lose a spouse in a tragic accident, but to lose your only child as well?

Nick’s words from earlier came back to her as Sally stared at the freeze frame of the smiling youngster.

I’m very glad he’s dead.

She didn’t blame him for that sentiment, thinking about the young life that had been cruelly extinguished. And if Nick had done more than just being glad that Arthur Scanlon was dead – if he had been involved in that death, directly or indirectly – could she really blame him for that either?

Sally switched the television off. She knew she loved the man who had quietly gone upstairs an hour earlier. And yet… and yet… that might mean she was about to share a bed with a killer; a man capable of the most graphic, gruesome, pre-meditated murder. What would that make her?

Sally decided she needed another drink while she tried to work that one out.




Fifty-Five

The harbourside at Fowey was almost deserted in the early morning sunshine. Seagulls circled lazily overhead and out in the estuary small boats bobbed up and down on the gentle waves. Johnson had stayed over in Plymouth last night after speaking at the police conference. The speech had gone down pretty well, he thought. It had focused on the pluses and minuses of body-worn video, or BWV as everyone referred to it. The Scanlon case had been weighing on his mind the whole time, though. It occurred to him that Plymouth wasn’t far from the town where Nick Wychwood had once lived. On the spur of the moment, he had decided to drive to Fowey and take a look at the spot where Wychwood’s wife had drowned.

He parked outside a bakery that seemed to be the only business open this early. The smell of freshly baking bread and pastries wafted out from the shop, making his stomach rumble. He might have to grab something for breakfast once he had finished taking a look at the scene.

He walked over to the small car park by the water. The only other vehicle there was a white minivan with ‘Rankin Plumbers’ emblazoned on the side. Later on, the space would doubtless fill up with tourists stopping for a bite to eat by the water.

There were bollards lining the drop to the water with lengths of chain in between them to guard the drop. Johnson could see that the arrangement looked relatively new. They must have been installed after the accident.

Johnson heard the sound of an approaching engine and looked up. A dark blue BMW was travelling in his direction along the harbourside. It slowed, indicated and pulled into the car park. Behind the wheel was a man in his early sixties in a white shirt, no tie.

The man got out, holding a suit jacket. He pulled it on and approached Johnson. He wore glasses, through which grey eyes regarded the younger man with what looked like suspicion but was probably just his natural demeanour after however many years on the force.

Johnson held out a hand. ‘DS Markham?’

‘Just Neil, now. I retired six months ago.’ The other man said as he shook his hand. ‘Thought it must be you. I see you found the right spot.’

Johnson nodded. ‘I had a look at the scene photographs. Thanks for coming down, I really appreciate it.’

Markham waved the thanks away. ‘Not a problem, I live just up the road.’ He peered over the edge, presumably looking at the spot where the Range Rover had plunged into the depths. He shook his head and looked back at Johnson. ‘So how can I help you?’

‘I just wanted to get your thoughts on what happened here a few years ago. We got the files, but…’

Markham grinned. ‘Always worthwhile talking to the copper who was there, that’s what I thought too, in my day.’

Johnson thought it was amusing how the older man talked about ‘his day’, even though he was referring to the relatively recent past. Perhaps it didn’t seem that way once you had walked away. He would have to ask Williamson when the older cop eventually cashed in his chips.

Markham looked beyond Johnson to the new post guarding the drop. ‘Not much to tell, I’m afraid. Just a lousy, unlucky accident. The lady wasn’t familiar with the new car, she didn’t realise it had been left in reverse. It was an automatic, you see. So when she hit the accelerator pedal, back she went – over and in. Just like that. Happened in the blink of an eye. Makes you think, doesn’t it?’ He shook his head. ‘Husband and daughter saw the whole thing…’ He tailed off, staring at the water.

‘What did you make of him? The husband?’ Johnson asked.

Markham looked away from the water and back at him, his eyes narrowing. ‘Why do you ask? You looking at him for something?’

‘Got it in one. A murder. Bad one. Do you think there’s any way…’

‘That the accident wasn’t an accident?’ Markham finished. He shook his head. ‘No way. Plenty of witnesses. It was a busy Saturday afternoon, not like this. Loads of people around. Everyone we spoke to, it all tied up to what the husband and the daughter told us. The car was checked out: nothing tampered with. Just one of those things.’

Johnson nodded. He was happy to take Markham’s word for it, even if it meant that this line of enquiry was a dead end.

‘You look disappointed, son,’ Markham said, smiling. ‘You were hoping he had form?’

‘I don’t know what I was hoping.’

Markham slapped him lightly on the back. ‘I know, you have to check everything, don’t you? Never know what will come up. But no. Her number was up, that was all. The universe is random. Sometimes you die because you got on the wrong plane: sometimes you die because you chose the wrong place to park. Sorry I couldn’t be more help.’

‘Thanks anyway,’ Johnson said, already calculating how long it would take him to drive back to the Cotswolds.

‘What’s the murder?’ Markham asked.

‘You’ve probably heard about it. Made the national news for a few days. I don’t know about Cornwall, but we don’t get many crucifixions around our neck of the woods.’

Markham let out a whistle. ‘That’s yours? Hell of a thing, the Mail had all the gory details. Poor bastard.’

‘Hmmm,’ Johnson said noncommittally.

Markham’s eyes sharpened. ‘Or not?’

‘Turns out the victim was a bit of a scumbag.’

‘Oh yeah? Nonce, was he?’

‘Not exactly, but you’re on the right track.’

‘And you think the guy who lost his wife over here did it? I don’t get it.’

Johnson looked at his watch. He really had to be getting on the road, but he had come all this way. What was the harm in using another cop as a sounding board?

He told Markham the story in brief. How Scanlon had been catfishing young girls, and one of them had been Nick Wychwood’s daughter who had died by suicide. Markham shook his head.

‘What a waste. You might be on to something with the dad, though.’

‘Oh? You think he could have done it?’

‘Do you have kids, DCI Johnson?’

‘No. Do you?’

‘Two girls and a boy. They’re grown up now: one’s in London, one at university and we might even get the other one out of the house sometime in the next decade. My point is, if someone did anything to one of them, I’d take great pleasure in nailing the bastard to a cross. Do I think he could have done it? I think a lot of fathers could have done it.’

Johnson was taken aback, but he saw that the older man was serious.

‘Point being: never underestimate what a grieving father will do.’



A couple of hours later, Johnson was cruising at a law-observing seventy on the M5, a paper bag containing some cakes for the office resting on the dashboard. What DS Markham had said stayed with him the whole way. Not just his words, but the way his whole manner had changed when he told him what Scanlon had done. The avuncular police lifer, the man who had sworn to uphold the law, was gone. Instead, he was speaking as a father.

And there was something else about the encounter that was nagging at the back of Johnson’s mind. It was infuriating, like half-remembering a tune but not quite being able to bring forth the words to the chorus. Something he had said earlier in the conversation…

And then it hit him.

Sometimes you die because you chose the wrong place to park.

Johnson slowed so abruptly that the Renault behind him had to swerve out into the adjacent lane, blowing past him with a long blast of his horn. Johnson ignored him and pulled the car onto the hard shoulder. He plucked his phone from the charger and went into his email, scrolling back a few days to find a particular email attachment from Felix Scanlon.

He grabbed a pen and notepad from the glovebox and noted down a few details, then he opened a browser and made a series of web searches. When he found what he was looking for, he tapped in DCS Williamson’s number. Five seconds later, his boss answered.

‘How did you get on in Cornwall?’

‘Dead end,’ Johnson said quickly. ‘The accident was an accident. That’s not why I’m calling, though.’

‘All right, Peter, don’t keep me in suspense.’

‘I think I know how he did it.’




Fifty-Six

Williamson looked up from his computer screen as Johnson burst into his office without bothering to knock

‘Did you get it?’

Williamson sighed. ‘Yes, I got it. I must say it gave me quite the swell of nostalgia, being ordered to carry out a menial paper-gathering exercise by a DCI. That hasn’t happened to me in at least a quarter of a century.’

‘Sorry, boss,’ Johnson said. ‘I didn’t have time to explain over the phone, I wanted to get here asap.’

‘Well, I got it,’ Williamson said, waving a sheet of paper. ‘Although you’ll have to forgive me for wondering what the bloody hell a parking charge has to do with a murder investigation.’

‘We didn’t stop to think about how it connected to his murder. Why Scanlon was in a fast-food car park outside Swindon a week before somebody tortured him to death.’

‘I give up. Why was he in a car park outside Swindon?’

‘He had no reason to be there. We know Scanlon’s routine better than he did by now. He barely left his bedroom. He had very few site calls, almost everything he did was done remotely. Nothing in his official email or calendar about a job in Swindon.’

Williamson frowned, starting to see where his DCI was going. ‘So if there was no business reason to be there, and no personal reason that his parents knew about…’

‘…then there might have been a reason related to his other life,’ Johnson said, impatiently.

‘One of his victims?’

‘Yes. Or at least he thought so.’ Johnson opened his laptop. He had saved a screenshot of a map with two pins on it. He indicated the first one. ‘This is the KFC car park where Scanlon’s car picked up a ticket a week before he was killed. Less than two miles from here is a woodland trail.’ He opened another window showing an old railway viaduct, weeds sprouting from the bridge running across the supports. ‘This is the local suicide hotspot. I think Scanlon was checking out the area. I think one of his marks was going to jump from here. Or maybe that’s what he was supposed to think.’

Williamson’s eyes widened as he caught up. ‘You think Wychwood lured him there.’ He scratched his chin as he looked at the pictures and the map. ‘It’s a perfect spot for an abduction, that’s for sure. You want to go down there and have a look?’

‘I’m on it,’ Johnson said. ‘And I think we need to talk to Wychwood again.’

Williamson sucked his teeth. ‘It’ll be difficult. We can pull him in, but I doubt he’s going to speak to us without a lawyer this time.’

Johnson scratched his head. ‘There’s got to be a way. Maybe he’ll come in again. There was something about him last time, like he wanted to know what we knew… or maybe part of him was proud of what he had done. He wanted us to know without being able to prove anything.’

Williamson considered for a moment, steepling his fingers. ‘We made a mistake last time, making it official. I think a less formal approach might pay dividends.’




Fifty-Seven

Thursday

Nick hadn’t slept well. Earlier the previous evening, Sally had left a message saying she was snowed under with work so wouldn’t be coming over as planned. He didn’t doubt she was busy, but it was the first time in their relationship that she had called off a night in.

At 6am he gave up trying to sleep and went downstairs, made a coffee, then set off for a walk. He strolled around the village, enjoying the quiet as the sun began to creep over the horizon and warm the Cotswold stone of the buildings.

Over the past twenty-four hours, for the first time since he had made the decision to kill Scanlon, Nick had begun to feel a creeping sense of unease. He had been careful, very careful. But he couldn’t shake the feeling that the police would find something. He was under no illusion that Williamson and Johnson thought they had their man. Proving it was a different matter, of course, but they were on the right track.

When he had started to plan, Nick wasn’t worried about going to prison. If that was the price of doing what he had done, then it was a price worth paying a hundred times over. But ever since meeting Sally Crawford, that had changed. For the first time since Lucy’s death, he felt like he had something to live for. Now that was all in jeopardy.

He had always known that the police might make the link to him. The knock on the door the other day hadn’t come as a surprise; he had been prepared for it. He thought he had acquitted himself reasonably well in the interview. If they were hoping for a confession, they had been disappointed. Clearly, they didn’t have enough evidence to charge him. Not yet, anyway.

So why was he so unnerved?

Again the answer, in one word, was Sally.

Nick had not bargained on being in a relationship with the forensic pathologist who would be carrying out the post-mortem on Scanlon. The coincidence had introduced a wild card and it was this that was throwing him off balance.

Had he said anything to her over the past few weeks that could have given him away? He didn’t think so, but could he really be certain?

Supposing he had said something… could he trust her not to share the information with the police? She had told him she believed that he didn’t kill Scanlon – even though she hadn’t asked him straight out – but was that the whole truth? There had been a distance between them the other night. Perhaps she agreed with Williamson and Johnson that it was all too much of a coincidence.

So what could he do? Confess to her and hope that she kept his secret? That would be a hell of a burden to put on someone. But could he continue with a relationship built on a foundation of lies?

He bought a newspaper and a pint of milk at the shop and walked home, half hoping to see Sally’s Audi parked outside. When he got there, only the VW Highline was there.

He needed space to think and Willersey Cottage was too full of memories to do that effectively. Perhaps it was time to move on. Would Sally welcome a change of scene? Someone with her skill set would be able to find work anywhere, surely, and as a writer he could live anywhere he liked.

Nick put the milk in the fridge, then locked up again and got into the Highline. Without thinking of a destination, he reversed out of the driveway and headed for the main road. The morning DJ on the radio was in a particularly irritating mood today, so he tried several different stations before deciding on silence.

Is this the part where you tell me not to leave town?

Nick recalled the way DCS Williamson’s eyes had seemed to burn into him as he had flippantly asked that question in the car the other day. Every instinct told him to ignore what may have been a veiled warning and to run. But that would only make him look guilty. Or perhaps guiltier.

He had been driving aimlessly for twenty minutes before he realised where his subconscious was taking him. Immediately he thought of stopping and changing course, but decided to keep going. They do say a criminal is always drawn back to the scene of the crime. Perhaps there’s a reason for that.

At that moment, the first raindrops hit the windscreen. A few at first, spreading into large gobbets, and then joined by more. The traffic seemed to thin out. Nick could see only one other car on the road, a few hundred yards behind him.

It was raining hard by the time he arrived at the amphitheatre. He killed the engine and the wipers and watched for a minute or so as the downpour turned the outside world into blurs of green and grey. Then he rooted around underneath the passenger seat and found an umbrella, realising with a pang that it had belonged to Lucy.

He got out of the car and looked west, towards the part of Cirencester where his parents’ old house was. Had it really been more than four decades since he had grown up in this town?

He thought about the house where he had spent his formative years, long summer days filled with den-building and swimming in the river and reading in the shade of the oak tree at the bottom of the garden, absorbing the history of the place, the artefacts from times past firing his imagination, and none more than the Roman amphitheatre.

He turned away. The rain was coming down hard. As he approached through the main entrance, the earth mound of the amphitheatre rose up before him. It looked very different in the light of day. He had seen pictures on the news immediately after Scanlon’s body had been discovered showing the area cordoned off, serious-faced uniformed police officers guarding crime scene tape. All that was gone now, and if there had been any morbid curiosity from the public, it had died down. There had been no other vehicles in the car park, the weather clearly keeping everyone indoors.

Nick walked through the defile and onwards to the centre of the amphitheatre. He could see where the turf had been repaired at the spot where he had sunk the cross into the ground. The earth seemed softer here, and there was no trace of the bloodstains that had been left. He supposed the police would have eventually hosed down the scene afterwards.

He must have stepped into this amphitheatre hundreds of times, but he always preferred it like this: deserted. It didn’t get particularly busy even at the height of the tourist season, but it was nice to experience the space with no distractions, no noise other than the patter of rain on grass. The earthen walls provided natural soundproofing – something that had been of paramount importance a few weeks before.

Nick closed his eyes and imagined the place two thousand years ago. Crowds lining up on the levels of the mounds, gladiators doing battle here on the flat plain. The voices of the past. And then, unexpectedly, a voice from the present joined them.

‘Fancy meeting you here.’

Nick’s eyes snapped open at the sound of the gruff, familiar voice.

DCS Williamson was striding across the grass towards him. He was wearing a long black raincoat over a blue suit and tie. He carried no umbrella, his greying hair already darkened by the rain.

Nick watched him approach and, with an effort, smiled.

‘DCS Williamson. What brings you out on a rotten morning like this?’

Nick knew the true answer already. The lone set of headlights in the rearview mirror that he hadn’t paid much attention to earlier. Williamson had probably been following him all the way from Willersey.

He extended the umbrella as Williamson drew level with him. It was small, barely enough cover for both of them. Williamson held up a hand to decline. He stared at Nick for a moment before he spoke, as if he was sizing him up, re-evaluating him.

‘I always like to visit the scene of the crime a few times. View it in different weather conditions, different light. It’s amazing the things you see when the light changes.’

‘You’re a dedicated man,’ Nick said, turning his eyes upward to the weeping sky.

‘Ideal conditions actually. No civilians around to get in the way. Nice and quiet.’

‘No civilians other than me,’ Nick corrected. ‘I must say I like the quiet too.’

‘Gives you space to think, doesn’t it?’

Nick acknowledged that with a non-committal incline of his head. Williamson pressed the point.

‘Got a lot on your mind, Mr Wychwood?’

‘It’s Nick, remember?’

‘Forgive me, Nick.’

‘Not especially. I’m hoping you catch the person responsible for this murder if that’s what you’re alluding to. It would be a weight off my mind.’

Williamson considered that and wiped some of the water from his forehead. He took a few paces around Nick, looking down at the patch on the ground where the cross had been.

‘That’s why you’re back, then?’

‘Back?’

Williamson’s expression was guileless. ‘Back in Cirencester. You grew up here, didn’t you?’

‘Ah. Yes. I lived here until I went off to university.’

‘You must know the place very well. Lots of memories, I expect.’

‘It was a nice place to be young. My father said it was a good place to grow up and to grow old.’

Williamson gestured around at the ancient mounds. ‘I suppose it must have inspired you. All this history.’

‘We’re all prisoners of our history, aren’t we, DCS Williamson?’

‘Wise words. Talking of which, perhaps you can help me with a few questions.’

Nick tried not to let his irritation show. ‘I thought I answered your questions the other day. Some of them multiple times.’

Williamson smiled. ‘Background questions. My knowledge of Roman history isn’t what it should be, I’m afraid. A man of your education would know the answers, I would expect.’

‘You want to know about the amphitheatre?’

‘Precisely. I’m interested as to why the killer might have chosen this location. It seems weighted with significance.’

Nick shrugged. ‘Not necessarily. It’s a secluded location near a major road. Deserted at night, no streetlights, little danger of being interrupted. The culprit might as well have picked any suburban park.’

‘If we were discussing a regular, common-or-garden stabbing or shooting I would agree with you.’

‘Ah, the method of execution. I see.’

‘Execution,’ Williamson repeated. ‘Good choice of words. That’s exactly it. Scanlon wasn’t just murdered. He was executed. The very way the Romans used to execute criminals on this ground.’

‘We don’t know that for certain,’ Nick said. ‘But yes, it’s possible.’

‘So doesn’t that suggest to you that the method of execution was chosen because of the location? Therefore, the location is significant?’

‘I suppose so. As you said, we both have our expertise. Speculation on a crime like this is rather more your department than mine.’

Williamson ran his fingers through his wet hair.

‘Why was he crucified upside down like St Peter, and on an X-shaped cross, like St Andrew?’

Nick frowned, knowing he had to be careful not to step into the elephant trap Williamson had just laid for him.

‘I’m sorry, I don’t follow.’

‘Scanlon was hung upside down. The officers who found him thought it was a satanic thing at first: an inverted cross. Only the cross wasn’t the traditional formation like you see in Biblical films.’ He raised his hands and crossed them diagonally. ‘It was an X-shape.’

‘Was it? I suppose I had pictured the traditional T-shape formation.’

Williamson nodded, the hint of an approving look in his eye. He was acknowledging that Nick had avoided admitting too much knowledge of the killing. Was part of him enjoying this? If so, he was the only one of the two of them.

‘Of course, you wouldn’t have any way of knowing that, would you? It’s not like they showed the pictures on the news.’

‘Not as far as I know.’

‘Not a pretty sight, I have to say. But yes, it was reported he was crucified on an X-shaped cross. You’re something of a historian. What kind of significance could that have?’

Nick took his time answering.

‘Well, they called it a St Peter’s Cross because he was upside down. But the fact it was an “X” makes it sound more like a St Andrew’s Cross to me. Like the Scottish saltire, or the Confederate flag in the American civil war which it inspired. Although it’s technically a crux decussata, a diagonal cross in the shape of the Roman letter X. Do you know much about St Andrew?’

‘Scottish bloke, wasn’t he?’ Williamson said. Deadpan, but with a glint in his eye.

‘Born around 10 AD and closer to Galilee than Galloway, actually,’ Nick said. ‘According to the Gospel of Matthew, he was one of the “fishers of men” that Christ recruited.’

‘Maybe there’s something in that.’ Williamson held Nick’s gaze. ‘Scanlon was a catfisher after all.’

‘More than likely it was just a coincidence.’

‘Quite a coincidence.’

Nick gave a short laugh. He couldn’t blame Williamson for trying. ‘When you do what I do, you become quite accustomed to coincidences, happy accidents like that. If you do enough research, you’ll always find little details in history that chime with the themes you’re working with. No, I think the explanation behind the cross formation may be more obvious.’

‘Do tell,’ Williamson said. There was a sardonic tone in his voice, but the look in his eyes that told Nick that he was genuinely interested. So much so that he seemed to have forgotten the rain that was lashing down around them.

To his surprise, Nick found that he too was enjoying this a little too. Perhaps the roles of writer and detective were not so different when it came down to it. Both were interested in piecing together a story to get at the truth.

‘Andrew the Apostle, or Andreas, as he would probably have referred to himself, lived to be quite long in the tooth for a disciple. He was martyred in 60AD. Crucified in the city of Patras in Western Greece. He requested the crux decussata himself. He felt he was unworthy of being crucified on the same kind of cross as Christ. Maybe your killer felt the same way, that the so-called victim was unworthy of respect.’

‘You’re glad it happened, aren’t you?’ Williamson said quietly. ‘Even if you didn’t do it, you’re happy about it.’

Nick leaned forward so close that the umbrella, meagre though it was, sheltered them both.

‘He killed my daughter, Detective Chief Superintendent. Just as surely as if he’d done it with his own hands. Don’t you think he deserved to die?’

Williamson didn’t blink.

‘I think that’s not up to you or to me. That’s why we have laws. Scanlon belonged in prison for a long time.’

Nick stepped back again. ‘And exactly how close were you to putting him in prison before he turned up dead?’

Williamson didn’t reply to that.

‘That’s right. You didn’t even know what he’d been up to until a week after the bastard was in the ground. Even if he’d been found out, you and I know he wouldn’t have been punished properly. You’re asking if I’m happy? No, DCS Williamson, I’m not happy. I’m not happy that my daughter is dead when she could have been saved. I’m not happy that this had to happen. But if this was the only way to get justice, I’m content with that.’

‘What were you doing in Badger Wood the night Scanlon was killed?’ Williamson asked.

The question hit Nick like a physical blow. How in the hell did Williamson know about Badger Wood? Was he bluffing? No. He knew something.

With a herculean effort, Nick kept his face composed.

‘I’m afraid you’re mistaken. I was in London the night Scanlon met his maker. I believe we already covered that.’

‘You were in London a few hours before and a few hours afterwards,’ Williamson said. ‘In between? Who knows?’

Nick wanted to wind this up and get as far away from Williamson as he possibly could. What had he been thinking? He should have walked away as soon as the policeman approached.

‘This has been an interesting conversation, but I think I’ve helped you as much as I’m able to. If you’ll excuse me, I have an errand to run.’

Williamson didn’t move. His hands were in his pockets. He was staring back at Nick with an unnervingly triumphant look in his eye. He knew he had rattled him. Was he just playing with him now, waiting before delivering the coup de grâce?

Feeling a little dizzy, Nick decided to make his move. If Williamson was about to snap the cuffs on him and reveal some incontrovertible evidence, so be it. He walked past Williamson, heading back to his car. Williamson didn’t move. When Nick had gone ten paces, he called after him.

‘We’ll be in touch soon, Nick.’

Nick stopped but didn’t look back. He tried to think of something to say and then shook his head. He had already said enough. Instead, he started walking again. It was all he could do not to break into a run.




Fifty-Eight

Almost had him, Williamson thought, as he watched Nick Wychwood stride out of the amphitheatre. He was sure of it. He had put a hell of a lot of effort into that poker face, but it wasn’t good enough to fool a cop who had been staring into the eyes of the guilty for over thirty years.

He waited until he heard the engine of Wychwood’s Volkswagen Amarok Highline truck growl to life and pull out of the gravel car park before taking out his phone and dialling Johnson. The DCI picked up on the first ring.

‘Where did you get to, boss?’ Johnson asked, without preamble.

‘Went for a drive, ended up at Cirencester amphitheatre.’

There was a pause on the other end, then Johnson said simply, ‘Oh yes?’

‘You’ll never guess who I ran into.’

‘I think I will,’ Johnson said. ‘What was he doing there?’

Williamson considered before answering. That was a good question. In a funny way, he thought Wychwood was doing the same thing as him: woolgathering, thinking things through. ‘We had a chat.’

‘Did he give anything away?’

‘Not really. He was a cool customer, just like the other day. At least he was until I mentioned Badger Wood, then he made his excuses and left. There’s definitely something there. Which is why I’m hoping you’ve got something for me.’

There was a pregnant pause.

‘Well?’ he prompted irritably.

‘Sorry, don’t get your hopes up, this might not go anywhere, but…’

‘What?’

‘You might want to get back here ASAP.’



‘Where is she?’ Williamson asked as he bashed through the doors into the main office as though he was a gunslinger striding into a saloon.

Johnson was waiting for him.

‘She’s in with PC Ware. She’s been getting a bit impatient, but we’ve managed to mollify her with some doughnuts.’

‘How the hell did you find her?’

‘That part was dumb luck. The rest of it was following the breadcrumbs.’

Johnson quickly talked him through the whistlestop tour he had embarked on the evening before. He had visited the KFC car park which had posthumously awarded Arthur Scanlon his parking ticket. As expected, there was nothing much to see. From there, he drove onwards to Badger Wood and the disused railway viaduct that had been the site of several local suicides.

‘As soon as I got out of the car, I knew it was the right place,’ Johnson continued. ‘It felt right. It’s the kind of place that’s perfect for an ambush. It was late evening when I got there, but at night it would be deserted. Maybe a mile from the nearest house, no lights, no cameras. And it wasn’t just that. Part of the trail is lined with pine trees.’

‘Professor Crawford’s post-mortem said the victim had pine needles on the soles of his shoes,’ Williamson said quietly.

‘Pine needles and mud that was particularly rich in clay. No pine trees or clay-rich mud around Cirencester amphitheatre. Obviously the forensic people can do their thing and geolocate the combination of mud and so on, but this is the place, I’d bet my pension on it.’

Williamson raised an eyebrow. ‘Not worth all that much for your generation, is it?’

‘I took a walk along the path, just to see if anything jumped out. Nothing did. There are a few places that would work for an ambush, but I didn’t strike it lucky on blood stains or torn clothing. When I got back to the car, a bunch of teenagers were hanging about. They didn’t seem too approachable at first…’

‘Until you told them you were a copper and then they were really unapproachable?’

Johnson gave a short laugh. ‘One of them stuck around to talk. I asked him if he had been here a few weeks ago. They hang out there most Saturdays apparently. I asked if he had seen anyone suspicious around or maybe a vehicle with a winch. He mentioned seeing a creepy-looking guy there that night. Said he was tall and heavy.’

‘Did you show him a picture of Scanlon?’

Johnson nodded. ‘I had one on my phone. He couldn’t swear to it, but he said one of the girls in the group was standing closer to the big guy, said he looked like a weirdo. He thought her name was Gemma, but didn’t have a last name for her, said she’s not really part of the group. I pressed him and he told me she worked in the local newsagent. I went down there this morning and guess who sold me a copy of the Guardian?’

Williamson was impressed but not surprised. Johnson was right that he had benefited from a lucky break, but Williamson knew from long experience that smart coppers make their own luck.

‘Well, what are we waiting for?’

Johnson picked up a thin cardboard folder from the desk and led his superior through to interview room one. This was a much nicer space than the box where they had attempted to sweat Nick Wychwood the other day. It was used for interviews where intimidation was the opposite of the goal. There were windows looking out on the car park, a long boardroom style table and faux-leather chairs that were almost comfortable.

At the far end of the table, PC Caroline Ware was sitting with a teenage girl. The girl was dressed in baggy clothes. A black hoodie over a black t-shirt with some kind of Japanese animation character on it. Her long hair was strawberry blonde with multicoloured streaks on one side. In front of her was a takeaway cup and an open box of pastries from the little bakery in the business centre. A Danish with two bites out of it lay on a napkin.

Ware looked up as they entered. She was in her early thirties, with jet-black hair and blue eyes. ‘Ah, there you are, sir,’ she said, her Irish lilt never failing to sound soothing. She turned to the girl and smiled as she got up from her chair. ‘There you go, Gemma, I told you they wouldn’t be long.’

‘Thanks, Caroline,’ Johnson said. He waited for Ware to leave. ‘Gemma, we really appreciate you waiting a little longer. That pastry looks good.’

Gemma raised her head, her green eyes peering out from beneath the unruly blonde locks. With a noncommittal shrug she picked up the pastry and took another bite.

Johnson gestured towards his colleague. ‘This is Detective Chief Superintendent Mark Williamson. We’d really like to speak to you about what you saw that night a few weeks ago.’

‘Thank you for coming in, Gemma,’ Williamson said, deploying his most reassuring smile. ‘I hope my colleagues made it clear you’re not in any trouble. We just want to talk to you.’ He pulled out the chair furthest from Gemma and sat down.

Gemma shrugged again and mumbled, ‘S’all right.’

Williamson smiled and turned his gaze to the pastries. ‘Do you mind if I…?’

Gemma nudged the box across the table in Williamson’s direction. He selected a cinnamon whirl and offered the box to Johnson. Johnson held up a hand to decline, a look of amusement on his face.

‘DCI Johnson is something of a health enthusiast,’ Williamson said. He patted his ample stomach lightly. ‘I, as you can see, am less so.’

If the teenager caught the joke, she gave no indication.

Johnson took the seat beside Williamson and offered his own reassuring smile. Williamson noted that his colleague’s was a lot more convincing than his own. ‘Gemma, can you tell DCS Williamson what you told me?’

She looked from one to the other but didn’t speak.

‘You were out with friends that night,’ Williamson prompted. ‘Saturday, 18th June. You went to the woods near the old railway viaduct.’

She took a long time to consider this. She had the air of someone with a natural distrust for authority figures. Williamson knew she was mentally replaying every word, looking for pitfalls.

‘Yeah.’

‘You’re not in trouble, remember that, Gemma.’

‘Okay.’

Slowly, painfully, Johnson began to extract information. Several times, Williamson wanted to laugh at how tight-lipped she was. It was all so familiar from his own experience of raising teenagers. This one was a lot cagier than he was used to, though, which suggested that she was involved in something she didn’t want them to know about. He wanted to reassure her that unless she was covering up a different murder, he couldn’t give two hoots what under-age drinking or drug misadventures she was worried about them uncovering.

Slowly, reluctantly, Gemma began to talk. She told them she had gone to Badger Wood to hang out. At one point, they had seen a tall, overweight man walking along the trail.

‘It was weird,’ Gemma said.

‘Weird how?’

‘He didn’t look like he belonged there. You sometimes see grown-ups out there, but usually they’re walking a dog or running. He didn’t have a dog and he didn’t look like he was a runner, you know what I mean?’ She made this last comment while glancing at Williamson’s paunch. Johnson stifled a laugh with a short cough. Williamson chose to ignore him.

‘Did he say anything to you?’

Gemma shook her head. ‘He kind of… inspected us. Like he was looking for someone he knew. But I don’t know.’ She shivered. ‘Just looked like a creep.’

Williamson turned to Johnson. ‘Have you shown her the pictures?’

‘Was waiting for you,’ Johnson said.

He opened the cardboard file in front of them and arranged six colour photographs on the table. Headshots of Caucasian men in their thirties to fifties. Arthur Scanlon was in the top right corner.

Gemma reached over and prodded her thumb on Scanlon’s picture.

Williamson asked if she was sure. She said that she was. He felt a jolt of electricity. They were on to something. He glanced over at Johnson. He could see that his colleague still had something else to say.

‘Tell us about the other man.’

Gemma kept talking. A while later, the group had got separated and Gemma had decided to walk home. On her way back along the trail, she had met a man wearing dark clothes and a wool cap. He asked her if she had a second to talk. She had been wary at first, but he had seemed all right.

‘I know how to spot a perv,’ she said, shooting accusing looks at Williamson and Johnson.

Everyone thinks that, Williamson thought, but did not say out loud. If only all the wrong ’uns were so easy to spot.

‘He said he was looking for his dog, asked if I had seen it running around anywhere.’

‘Did he say what kind of dog it was?’

‘Labrador. I told him I would look out for it. I never saw it, though.’

Silently, Johnson opened the file once again. Six more colour photographs. This time showing slimmer-looking men in their early fifties. Nicholas Wychwood was in the bottom left corner.

‘Gemma,’ he began as he laid them out on the table. ‘Do any of these—’

‘That one,’ she said, pointing at Wychwood’s picture.

Williamson and Johnson exchanged a glance.

‘Are you sure?’ Williamson asked.

‘Yeah. He was wearing a wool hat, but that was him.’

‘You’re certain this was the man who said he was looking for his dog in Badger Wood that night,’ Johnson prompted.

‘Yep. It was really dark the first time, but I got a better look at his face the second time.’

Williamson’s eyes narrowed. He looked at Johnson who seemed just as surprised.

‘The second time?’ Johnson asked,

‘When I saw him getting in his truck later. His headlights were on so I could see his face more clearly. He had something at the back of the truck with a cover over it.’




Fifty-Nine

Nick was barely aware of driving home. As he turned off the engine in the driveway of Willersey Cottage, he realised he had completely blanked the last half hour. In that time, the rain had stopped, the clouds had cleared and a warm sun was already making steam evaporate from the wet road surface.

DCS Williamson was on to him. Somehow he had made the link to Badger Wood. Perhaps he had put together the whole puzzle. How the hell had he done that? It didn’t matter. All that mattered was the situation had now changed. Before, he had been confident that they merely had a healthy suspicion that Nick’s alibi was not the whole truth. Now it was clear that they knew at least one thing that they should not have known.

Something made him look across to the passenger seat and the pocket in the door, and it was like a puzzle piece had slotted into place. He leaned over and reached in.

The medal – Lucy’s swimming medal – was gone.

Gemma. The girl he had given a lift home, against his better judgement. How had the police found her, though? There was nothing to lead their investigation to that location, so there would have been no need to go and canvas for witnesses. It was useless to speculate. The only important thing was that they knew. But how much did they know?

Nick went inside the cottage and climbed up the stairs to his writing office.

He sat down in front of his computer and looked out through the bars of the blinds at the view across the rolling hills. His mind was racing.

He had half-expected to find the police waiting for him when he got home. That hadn’t happened. DCS Williamson hadn’t had uniformed officers ready to take him away from the amphitheatre, either. What did that mean? He forced himself to calm down and think rationally.

It meant they didn’t have the evidence yet. They were on the right track, but they didn’t yet have everything.

But still. The feeling of the walls closing in was inescapable. Nick had hoped that he had headed off the threat with his careful precautions and with his performance at the interview the other day. Now it seemed that another knock on the door was not just possible, but inevitable.

He looked at the framed photograph of himself, Elise and Lucy on his desk. It showed them smiling for the camera. They were sitting on the terrace of their favourite café in Fowey, the harbour full of bobbing boats to their left, the sunset reddening the sky behind them. An old man with kind eyes had offered to take the picture when he had seen Nick struggling to take a selfie of the three of them with his phone in one hand and a mint choc chip cone in the other. Elise and Lucy were holding their own ice creams, Lucy’s chin smeared and dripping with her favourite mix of strawberry and vanilla.

That had been the summer before Elise’s accident. One of the last photographs of them all together. Nick touched a finger to the glass in front of the picture.

‘I’m sorry.’

He thought of what might follow. A trial. A media circus. A long stretch in prison, no matter the mitigating circumstances.

He opened the top drawer in his desk and rooted around until he found his passport. Thank God he had remembered to renew it when it expired last year. There was a hundred grand or so in the savings account. Could he withdraw it? Perhaps now was the time to cut his losses and go. He opened his laptop and Googled countries with no extradition treaty with the UK. Cambodia. Belarus. Japan, surprisingly.

He closed the laptop and rubbed his eyes. What was he thinking? He couldn’t flee the country. That was a pipe dream, probably doomed to failure.

He looked back at the photograph, at Lucy and Elise’s smiling eyes, and he knew that it was worse than that. Running away would feel like he was running away from their memories too.

What to do? Call his lawyer, let her know she might be needed? Esther Reilly was a force of nature when it came to conveyancing and the drama with that production company a few years back, but did her firm handle criminal law?

Put that idea to bed for the moment. He could call Esther if it came to it, but he would wait for the police to make the first move.

His eyes drifted to the vase of lilies that Sally had put on his desk the other day to brighten the place up. Perhaps there was someone else he should talk to. Someone who was owed the chance to hear it from him rather than from DCS Williamson.

What would she think? Did a part of her already know? They had skirted around the issue the other night, but she had seemed reassured enough to spend the night with him at any rate.

Steeling himself, Nick picked up his phone and dialled Sally’s number. As he listened to the phone ringing, he still wasn’t entirely sure what he would say. Confess everything? Or just tell her that they had to talk more about the investigation. Yes, that was it. He could tell her that the police were still interested in him and wait for her to make the next move. If she asked him straight out, he would be honest with her. If she didn’t want to know, he would respect that.

He felt only a little sheepish at the swell of relief he felt as Sally’s phone went to voicemail.

Hello, you’ve reached Professor Sally Crawford. Please leave a message. If it’s an emergency, you can contact…

Nick cleared his throat as he waited for the beep. He was relieved when his voice came out sounding steady and relatively normal.

‘Sal, hi, it’s me. Nick. Listen, I don’t know if you’re busy just now but… Well, I’d really like to talk to you. In person, if possible.’ He hesitated, wondering if he should say more, then finished with a clumsy ‘Okay. Anyway… bye.’

He ended the call. Sally couldn’t help but work out that something was wrong from that message. Would she ring him back? Had she, perhaps, seen his number and decided not to pick up?

He sighed and told himself to get a grip. Sally would either call him back or she wouldn’t. It was out of his hands now. He had plenty of other things to worry about in the meantime.

Badger Wood. How the fuck had Williamson made the link to Badger Wood?

He forced himself to sit down and recall that night. Strangely, he hadn’t felt nervous or conflicted, the way he had expected to. After such meticulous planning, it had felt almost as though he was an actor in a play, running through his lines, hitting his marks. Only when he had Scanlon bound to the cross did he really start to feel anything. And that was justified rage.

He ran through it all, step by step. Driving to the quiet industrial estate on the edge of Badger Wood, taking his time. The only deviation from the plan had been when he saw the girl from the group of teenagers again. He had known it was a mistake to give her a lift. She would have been fine. Why couldn’t he just have left her?

He took his phone and went down to the bottom of the garden. The wooden reading chair was still damp from the rain, but Nick barely noticed it. Sooner or later, someone would call.




Sixty

Sal, hi, it’s me. Nick. Listen, I don’t know if you’re busy just now but… Well, I’d really like to talk to you. In person, if possible.

Sally listened to Nick’s message for the third time and sighed. Then she put the phone down on the passenger seat of her Audi and stared out through the windscreen at the empty car park.

She had been on the phone to a DCI in Gloucester when Nick called, trying to help him out with a question about a case from six months ago and then combing through reports on her laptop. Only later had she seen the missed call. From the tone of his voice, she knew exactly what he wanted to talk about.

But did she want to talk to him?

Unbidden, memories of the post-mortem of Arthur Scanlon came back to her. The wounds that had been inflicted, the elevated levels of cortisol in the blood, indicating how terrified the victim must have been when he died. Sally had conducted hundreds of post-mortems over her career. She was long past the point of being emotionally engaged, but that didn’t mean that she couldn’t form conclusions about the perpetrators.

Before she knew anything about Arthur Scanlon’s life or crimes, he had simply been another anonymous murder victim. She was able to judge what had been done to him dispassionately, and yet, she couldn’t help reflecting, as she sometimes did when sifting through the aftermath of some of the worst crimes, What kind of person could do this to another human being?

Did she want to talk to Nick? Not at that very moment, no. Nick was right; if they had to talk, it should be in person. She would make her mind up later. In the meantime, she had a stack of paperwork to get through and an interview for a new admin assistant.

Sally reached to open the driver’s door and then bit her lip. Nick’s voice echoed in her ear. He had sounded haunted, hounded in that message. Had DCS Williamson managed to find some incriminating evidence? Even if he had, she was probably the last person Williamson would tell, given the circumstances. She looked at the entrance to her building and suddenly knew exactly what was going to happen. She was going to walk in there and sit in front of a stack of paperwork for hours, taking none of it in, accomplishing nothing worthwhile. Her mind would not be on the job.

She picked up the phone again and called her office number.

Juliette answered, the receptionist’s usual sparkly enthusiasm bursting out of the phone speaker. Sally cut her off halfway through her usual greeting.

‘Hi, it’s me. Listen, I hate to do this, but I’ve got an absolute nightmare of a migraine and I’m going to be no good to anyone today.’

Juliette’s voice switched to maternal sympathy. ‘Oh, Sally, I’m so sorry, do you need me to…’

‘Cancel my meetings, yes,’ Sally said. ‘Do you mind sitting in on the interview for the new assistant for me? I can catch up on everything else later if I feel better. Oh, and Juliette? Don’t put any calls through for a bit.’

She hung up, put her seatbelt back on and started the engine. She pulled out of the car park and turned south. Quedgeley Police HQ was only fifteen minutes’ drive away.

Peter Johnson was in the front office as she walked in.

He looked up from his screen. ‘Hello, Professor Crawford, what brings you—’

‘Is he in?’

Johnson looked around the bustling office. No one else seemed to be paying them much attention. With a look of relief, he turned back to Sally. Lowering his voice, he said, ‘I don’t think we should…’

‘What?’ Sally asked. She leaned forward, lowering her own voice. ‘You don’t think we should talk about Nick? What’s happening, Peter? Are you still set on pinning this on him?’

He bridled at that. ‘We’re not pinning anything on him. We’re following the evidence.’ He sighed and rubbed his eyes before looking back at her. ‘Jesus, this is a mess. You’re the bloody forensic pathologist on the case and halfway through it becomes a conflict of interest to talk to you.’

Sally was torn between laughing and wanting to pick up his mug of coffee and throw it in his face. Instead, she said coldly, ‘I’m so sorry you’ve been inconvenienced.’

‘He’s guilty. You should keep your distance.’

‘Is Detective Chief Superintendent Williamson in?’ she repeated slowly.

A door opened and Sally looked up. Williamson stood in the doorway of his office, his expression weary. ‘Professor Crawford. You’d better come in.’

He asked her to take a seat.

‘I was actually about to call you.’

‘You were?’

The DCS nodded. ‘I wanted to talk about your report. Arthur Scanlon had pine needles on his shoes, correct?’

‘Yes. There could be all sorts of explanations for that.’

‘He also had dirt on his heels that was rich in clay, not the sort of dirt that you could have picked up in the location where he was found. Forensics put together a profile of the kind of place where he could have picked up that combination of materials and we narrowed it down to a woodland trail near a small town west of Swindon.’

Despite herself, Sally was intrigued. She had come in here to have it out with Williamson, find out once and for all what the evidence was against Nick. She realised he was showing her but doing it in a way that piqued her interest as an investigator.

‘All right,’ she said. ‘But all that proves is that the victim was somewhere else before he was abducted. Maybe he went for a walk earlier in the day.’

‘Agreed, but it gave us somewhere to focus on. There’s nothing much on that trail other than an old railway viaduct. There have been a number of suicides there over the years.’

As soon as Williamson said the word ‘suicides’, everything clicked into place.

‘Somebody lured him there,’ she said quietly.

‘We think so, yes,’ Williamson confirmed. ‘The catfisher was catfished.’

‘And you think it was Nick.’

Williamson shook his head softly. ‘I know it was Nick. We have a witness who believes she saw him in the area. Obviously, he was smart enough to set up the alibi and not take his phone with him, but he was seen, and he was observed transporting something in the back of his vehicle with a tarpaulin over it. I spoke to Wychwood this morning.’

That made sense, Sally thought. That was evidently what had prompted Nick’s phone call to her earlier.

‘What did he say?’

‘He was sticking to the line that he has nothing to do with this, right up until the moment I mentioned that specific patch of woods. Then he turned a funny shade of green, made his excuses and left.’

Sally sighed and dropped her gaze.

Williamson got up and walked around the desk. He raised a hand as if to put it on Sally’s shoulder, then thought better of it.

‘I’m sorry. As things stand, it looks like we’ll have enough to take this to the CPS. I don’t want to have to rely on the testimony of a teenage girl, but I imagine we’ll find more evidence now we know where to look.’ He cleared his throat. ‘It might go easier for him, for everyone, if he confesses.’

Sally looked up, feeling suddenly enraged. ‘Are you asking me to talk him into it?’

‘Not at all. But if I was his friend, I’d be telling him to hand himself in.’

‘Scanlon murdered his daughter, Mark.’

‘Technically, that’s not the case. If Scanlon was alive to arrest, we could have charged him under section two of the Suicide Act. A few years inside max. If he had a decent lawyer, we would have been lucky to show him the inside of a cell.’

‘And you think that’s all right?’

‘I think it’s the law. The minute we start deciding which laws we like and which we don’t, it’s anarchy. You know that.’

‘So, by your own admission, even if the authorities had caught Scanlon, he would never have been properly punished for his crimes. How can you judge a father… how can you judge anyone for deciding that Scanlon had to pay for what he did?’

Williamson shook his head. ‘You’re too close to this, Sally; you’re not talking like yourself. We can’t simply turn a blind eye to vigilantes.’

‘Don’t fucking patronise me, chief’, she said, emphasizing the word because she knew it would get his back up. It didn’t work. Williamson’s face remained impassive.

‘As I said, we don’t have to like it, but we have a job to do.’

Sally was silent for a long moment. Her phone buzzed in her pocket. Probably Juliette at the office calling to ask if she needed a delivery of ibuprofen.

‘Do you want to get that?’ Williamson asked.

‘Sure. I think we’re finished talking.’

Reaching for the door handle, she turned back and looked Williamson square in the eye.

‘Scanlon was still doing it, wasn’t he? He was going to keep going and none of us bold defenders of society had any idea about it. And we still wouldn’t have had any idea if someone hadn’t stopped him, would we? How many other kids was he talking to? Do you know?’

Williamson opened his mouth and was suddenly lost for words. Sally opened the door, striding through and closing it with a slam.




Sixty-One

Williamson stared at the closed door for a minute after Sally Crawford’s abrupt exit. A soft knock snapped him out of a daze.

‘Come.’

Johnson appeared at the door, his normally unflappable expression showing genuine concern. ‘Just doing a welfare check, boss. From the look on Professor Crawford’s face, she was leaving the site of another murder.’

Williamson motioned for him to come in and close the door. He sighed. ‘I’m not sure I blame her.’

‘She’s not handling it well.’

‘The fact that her boyfriend is almost certainly a murderer? No, I don’t suppose you or I would handle that well either.’

Williamson couldn’t remember the last time he had craved a cigarette this badly. Not that he could smoke in the office, these days. He rooted around in his drawer and found a half-finished packet of Polos, slipping two into his mouth.

Johnson sat down. ‘You reckon Gemma Watson’s statement is enough?’

Williamson had been thinking that over all morning. The truth was, he wasn’t sure. ‘I’d prefer to have something physical that could put him there. We have enough to make a pretty good case but… it all depends on the jury, doesn’t it?’

Williamson drummed his fingers on the desk. Sally Crawford’s parting shot had rattled him. And it had only rattled him because it had hit a nerve, chiming with misgivings he already had.

‘Boss?’

He looked over at Johnson. ‘Sorry, I missed that.’

‘I said we’ll find something. We know he did it; we know he was at Badger Wood that night. He made a mistake in giving the girl a lift; chances are he made more than one.’

‘Hmmm,’ Williamson said.

‘What’s up? You seem distracted.’

Williamson had wanted time to think this through by himself, but perhaps it was just as well he had a trusted colleague to talk it through with. ‘Did you look at the other transcripts from Scanlon’s secret laptop?’

‘All of them, you know I did. He was a sick bastard.’

‘Indeed.’

‘She thinks he had it coming, didn’t she?’ Johnson said, gesturing back at the door Sally Crawford had gone through a few minutes earlier.

‘She’s as qualified to judge as any of us, I suppose,’ Williamson said. ‘She carried out the post-mortem; she’s under no illusions.’ He turned to his computer, tapped on his keyboard to wake the screen and navigated to the saved transcripts of the Scanlon conversations. ‘What do you think, Peter?’

Johnson looked surprised to be asked. ‘I think he deserved it all day long. We’re all better off without that bastard drawing breath. But what you said was right too. If we start letting members of the public act as judge, jury and executioner, where would we be?’

Williamson’s eyes went to the screen. He scrolled through some of the transcribed messages from ‘Rosie’. The manipulative compliments mixed with veiled criticisms. The careful grooming, leading unsuspecting victims closer and closer to a cliff edge.

‘You’re not sure about that anymore, are you?’ Johnson asked quietly.

Williamson looked up from his screen sharply. ‘You misunderstand. I still believe that one hundred per cent. I still know it’s the truth. Just because Scanlon deserved to die doesn’t mean he shouldn’t have gone through the system.’

Johnson nodded, though he didn’t look like he entirely agreed. Not for the first time, Williamson wondered if there was a single person involved with this case who had an entirely black and white view of such concerns anymore.

‘But that’s not what I’m thinking about.’ He looked across the desk at his DCI. ‘When do you think we would have caught him? Scanlon.’

Johnson’s brow furrowed as he considered the question. ‘How do you mean?’

‘Just what I said. When do you think we would have caught him?’

Johnson blew out a puff of air and held up his hands. ‘I don’t know. When he made a mistake, left a link to one of his victims.’

‘ “One of his victims”,’ Williamson repeated. ‘That’s just it. You saw the transcripts. Another four girls he was in the process of grooming. God knows how many he had already harmed over the years. There might well be other Lucy Wychwoods we’ll never know about. Did you talk to any of the families of the new four?’

Johnson shook his head. ‘Not directly. They’re all over the country. I know we made sure they had Family Liaison Officers.’

‘I did,’ Williamson said. ‘Something about Scanlon’s conversations with Kelsey Thorpe really bothered me. Not so much the stuff on his end, which was the same old slow-dripping poison, but her replies. I talked to her mum on the phone. Do you know what she said?’

Johnson leaned forward.

‘She thanked me. I felt guilty about that. Because, in reality, as you and I both know, Peter, we didn’t know Scanlon existed until Nick Wychwood executed him.’

Williamson looked back at the screen and scrolled through some of the hundreds of messages that had passed between Scanlon and 17-year-old Kelsey Thorpe. Random lines caught his eye.

Would be impossible without u

Ur my bestie, so good to have someone 2 talk 2

Was really close 2day

In disgust he turned off his screen, banishing the words of Arthur Scanlon to the darkness. Then he looked down at the surface of his desk, clenching his fists before he continued.

‘Mrs Thorpe asked to read the transcripts. The FLO advised against of course, but we couldn’t stop her. She says she knows without a doubt that her daughter was serious about wanting to kill herself. She’s in counselling now; we made sure she was fast tracked. But something she said the other day has stayed with me ever since.’

‘What was that?’ Johnson prompted after a long pause.

‘She said, “My Kelsey would have been dead right now if you hadn’t caught this man.” ’

There was a long silence, the two men staring at each other across the desk. Then Johnson dropped his gaze and took a deep breath. Williamson sensed that his DCI was holding something back.

‘What is it?’

Johnson met his boss’s gaze again. ‘You said you wanted something else that would put him at the scene. When I gave Gemma Watson a lift home, she gave me just that. Something that absolutely proves that he was at the scene.’




Sixty-Two

Nick was sitting at the patio table in the back garden of Willersey Cottage when the doorbell rang.

He got up, checked his reflection in the French doors. He was dressed in one of his most comfortable suits and a soft linen shirt. He had gained a few pounds since he had bought it, which was probably just as well because they would confiscate his belt, wouldn’t they? For the same reason, he had chosen slip-on loafers with no laces. He looked all right. If this was his last day of freedom, he was at least facing the prospect with dignity. He smoothed down an errant hair, slid the door open and stepped inside the cottage.

Two unmoving silhouettes at the front door, just as there had been the other day.

He opened the door.

DCS Williamson was on the right-hand side this time, Johnson on the left. Different suits. Sphinx-like expressions. No hint of triumph or disappointment. If they had the final piece of the puzzle they needed, he wasn’t going to find out from their faces. Nick didn’t give them the satisfaction of a resigned sigh.

‘Good afternoon.’

‘Good afternoon, Mr Wychwood,’ Williamson replied. No ‘Nick’ this time. Nick didn’t correct him.

The pause hung in the air and Nick found himself feeling like a condemned man waiting for his sentence. Of course, that was all still to come.

‘Well,’ he said after a moment. ‘Are you coming in or am I going with you?’

‘We’ll come in to begin with if that’s all right with you,’ Williamson said.

Nick pulled the door open wider. He walked back through the house, not looking to check the two men were following him, and out into the garden.

‘Why don’t we sit here?’ he said, indicating the table and chairs. ‘Not much of the summer left. Might as well appreciate it while it lasts.’

‘Quite,’ Williamson said. He took the nearest chair. Nick took the one opposite. Johnson hesitated for a moment before taking the third chair.

‘Should I call my lawyer?’ Nick asked.

‘You’re welcome to do so at any time,’ Williamson said. ‘To reiterate, you don’t have to speak to us.’

Nick sensed that Williamson didn’t want that to happen. Perhaps he held out hope that Nick was going to confess. If so, he was in for a disappointment. Nick had all but resigned himself to being arrested, but if they wanted to close this case, the least he was going to do was to make them prove it.

‘So it’s not a social call, then. Glad I didn’t offer biscuits.’

Williamson and Johnson exchanged a glance and Nick caught the briefest nod from Johnson.

‘We have a witness who identified you as the man she saw in Badger Wood, not far from Swindon, on the night of Saturday, 18th June.’

‘The witness must be mistaken. As I told you, I was in London that night.’

‘Arthur Scanlon was abducted from somewhere near that spot. We have physical evidence that puts him there. He had visited the site a few days before and his vehicle incurred a parking ticket nearby on the 9th.’

Shit. Nick had wondered how they had found out about Badger Wood and there it was. Not a mistake he had made, but one Scanlon had made. Ironic that a man guilty of such serious transgressions would commit such a trivial one as one of his last acts. The police had followed the trail and found the girl who had seen him. He wasn’t a lawyer, but that was still pretty thin, wasn’t it? Unless he admitted that it had been him, it was her word against his. And even if they could prove he had been there, they still had to prove he was the one who had abducted and murdered Scanlon.

‘Interesting,’ Nick said. ‘But I’m afraid your witness is mistaken.’

Williamson and Johnson exchanged another brief glance and this time Nick was gratified to see a frustrated narrowing of Johnson’s eyes.

‘We have enough to arrest you for the murder of Arthur Scanlon,’ Johnson said. ‘You had the motive, because of what happened to your daughter. We have a witness who can testify that she saw you in the precise spot where Scanlon was abducted at the approximate time he went missing. You rendered him unconscious with an injection of ketamine and drove him to Cirencester, an area you know very well, where you murdered him in the amphitheatre, drawing on your knowledge of Roman crucifixions.’

Nick let silence hang in the air for a moment before he answered.

‘You have enough to arrest me, you say. But you haven’t done so yet.’

‘We wanted to talk to you one last time,’ Johnson said. ‘Give you a chance to come clean before it all gets official. You might think I’m just saying this, but it really would help you. You need to get in front of this, explain why you did what you did.’ His voice softened. Genuine sympathy, or just a tried and tested interrogation technique? ‘I think most people would have to admit that there are mitigating circumstances here.’

As Johnson talked, Nick started to feel a little more confident that this was not the end. They had worked out what happened; they had a witness; they knew everything. But based on what Johnson had told him so far, he didn’t think they would be able to prove it beyond reasonable doubt. That was why they were here, generously offering him one last chance to speak off the record. They wanted to give him enough rope to hang himself.

He straightened in his chair. ‘Let me talk through the sequence of events as you’re describing it, DCI Johnson. You’re saying that somehow I managed to do what no police force managed to do and discover that Arthur Scanlon incited my daughter’s suicide. Then, instead of simply going to the police, I came up with an elaborate plan to take revenge.’

Nick got up.

‘Then I picked my moment and drove all the way from London to this Badger Wood place – for what reason, I’m not sure – where I knew Scanlon would be. This despite the fact that I had no way of knowing where he lived, even if I had somehow found out about his communications with Lucy. I somehow overpowered and kidnapped Scanlon, and then drove him another… what, twenty miles?’

‘Seventeen miles, give or take,’ Johnson said. ‘About half an hour’s drive, that time of night.’

‘I drove him all that way, risking discovery, just to crucify him in Cirencester. Why would I take all those risks? Why not, if I was able to track him down, simply go to his house and stab him or strangle him?’

Nick turned and regarded the faces of the two men, waiting for their response.

‘I can think of a few reasons,’ Williamson said. ‘But none of them matter, because the fact is, someone did do all those things. And I believe it was you.’

Nick smiled thinly. ‘You think it was me. But you can’t prove it, can you? Otherwise you wouldn’t be here. We’d be having this conversation in that tiny room at your police station with my lawyer present.’

Neither man said anything. Johnson looked… Did he look almost sheepish? Williamson’s expression, however, was as impossible to read as a carved statue.

‘DCI Johnson,’ Williamson said after a long pause, never averting his eyes from Nick’s, ‘could you give us a minute alone?’

Johnson looked from Nick to his superior and then back again, then murmured an acknowledgement and got up from his chair.

Williamson and Nick held each other’s gaze until they heard the soft sound of the front door closing behind Johnson.

‘You did it, Mr Wychwood. You know it and I know it.’

Nick sat back down at the table. ‘That’s not really enough, though, is it?’

‘By itself? No, of course it isn’t,’ Williamson said. ‘But Sally Crawford knows as well.’

For the first time, Nick felt a surge of real anger. Up until now he had given Williamson the benefit of the doubt. Williamson was only doing his job, following the evidence, looking at the most likely suspect. But what he had just said went beyond that.

‘Is that some kind of threat?’ Nick asked sharply. ‘Leave Sal out of this. I know you already put pressure on her to get me to confess. She has nothing to do with it.’

Williamson shrugged off Nick’s glare as though he hadn’t even noticed it. Perhaps he hadn’t. God knows how many hardened criminals he had come face to face with.

‘I’m afraid that’s where you’re wrong. She has quite a lot to do with this as the pathologist who carried out the post-mortem on Arthur Scanlon. As a matter of fact, it was her work that helped us to find the Badger Wood scene. We might never have found that piece of the puzzle if it wasn’t for Professor Crawford. A lot of her colleagues would have missed the pine needles on Scanlon’s shoes. She didn’t.’

Nick didn’t doubt that. He sensed that Williamson had something else to say. Something that might explain why he had wanted to speak to Nick alone.

As if in answer to his unspoken thoughts, Williamson reached into his jacket and took something out from his inside pocket. He held it up to the light. It was a clear plastic bag with a label on it. Inside was a familiar shape. It took Nick a second to realise what it was. Lucy’s swimming medal. Gemma must have taken it from the pocket on the passenger side of the car.

He felt a tightness in his chest.

Williamson was watching his reaction. He nodded slowly, as though Nick had just answered all his questions.

‘It belonged to Lucy, didn’t it?’

Nick said nothing. He dropped his gaze as Williamson continued.

‘Gemma said she didn’t really mean to take it. She said she was curious to see what it was, that’s all, get it into the light once she was back inside her house. An impulse theft; one of those teenage things. She had the decency to feel guilty about it afterwards. Actually asked us to give it back to you if we saw you. But, you know, Mr Wychwood, I don’t think we’ll be doing that just yet. This is evidence.’ He put the bag back into his pocket.

Nick remained silent, face expressionless. After a few moments, the detective continued.

‘So. Now we have an eyewitness and physical evidence that says you were in the location where Arthur Scanlon disappeared on the night he was murdered. I don’t think we’re going to have a problem getting this to court, do you?’

Nick shrugged. Williamson was looking at him, but his expression – even now – was impossible to read.

Finally, Nick spoke. His voice was level; calm. ‘All right. Why don’t you just get to the point. What now?’

He knew the answer. He would accompany Williamson and Johnson in their car or perhaps there was a marked police car parked out of sight ready to take him away. He would be taken to the police station again, but this would not be a conversation under caution. He would be arrested; he would be allowed to call his lawyer and then the gears of the system would begin to grind. Remanded in custody, a long wait for trial, then the trial itself. Then, if Williamson’s confidence was not misplaced, prison. For how long?

‘What now?’ Williamson repeated. He seemed to take a moment to consider this, as though he hadn’t given the matter much thought until prompted by Nick’s question. He stood up and took a couple of steps onto the grass. ‘Have you lived here long?’

‘You know I have. I bought the place and moved us here after my wife died.’

‘Forgive me. I’ve been doing this job for too long. Every day I ask questions to which I always know the answer. Still, it’s a lovely house. A lovely village.’

Nick issued a brief, humourless laugh. ‘I thought it would be a second chance for Lucy and me. You can see how well that worked out.’

Williamson turned and squinted at Nick, as though he were an archaeologist examining some unexpected new find. ‘How did you find Scanlon? That’s the only thing I haven’t been able to work out.’

Nick shook his head. ‘I’m not going to help you. You’ve done pretty well on your own.’

‘Hmm,’ Williamson said. ‘If you found the messages, I suppose you could have found an expert to trace them to source. Illegal, of course, but… Well, I don’t expect you would have let a minor thing like that stop you. You’re not sorry, are you?’

Nick thought about giving the speech again. About telling Williamson that he still woke every night and had to cope with the remembering. The knowledge that Lucy was dead and her killer had still been out there, a constant, lethal menace to others. Instead, he simply said.

‘No. Not at all.’

Williamson held his gaze a long moment and then nodded.

‘No, I suppose not. And it would be hard to find someone who would blame you for that. I wonder how a trial might have gone.’

Nick blinked, not sure if he had heard right.

‘I’m sorry?’

Williamson took a deep breath of the afternoon air.

‘Evidence is a funny thing. Items are collected in bulk. Sometimes they’re pivotal to a case, other times they’re of absolutely no use.’

Nick said nothing, watching the other man closely.

‘The other funny thing about evidence: sometimes it goes missing.’ Williamson held up the bag and examined it as the sunlight glinted off the tarnished metal. ‘Sometimes it vanishes before anyone, other than an old cop who’s seen too much, can recognise its significance.’

Before Nick could say anything, Williamson broke the seal and opened the bag. He examined the medal one more time, making no effort to avoid smudging any fingerprints, and then turned and tossed it to Nick.

Nick caught it one-handed and opened his palm. The sun glinted off the tarnished metal in his palm. He looked up at Williamson.

‘I don’t understand.’

Williamson took three paces towards him, closing the gap between the two men.

‘Thank you for your time, Mr Wychwood. The case remains open, of course, but I don’t think we’ll need to bother you again.’

Nick felt his head swimming. Was this some kind of trap? Some kind of cruel game Williamson was playing? ‘I don’t understand.’

‘What’s to understand? You’re not going to give us any more reason to be interested in you, are you?’

Nick shook his head quickly. ‘No, of course not.’

‘Good. Now, if you’ll allow me, I have a report to file.’

With that, Williamson walked to the French doors and back through the house. Nick followed him, almost subconsciously, his feet drifting along the hallway. At the door, he watched Williamson get into the unmarked car that was parked outside. He and Johnson exchanged a few words, Williamson looking straight ahead the whole time.

And then, with one look back at Nick, DCI Johnson started the engine, pulled out onto the road and drove away.




Sixty-Three

‘You really want to finish on a loser?’ Johnson asked once they were back in Williamson’s office at headquarters and he had made sure that the door was closed behind them.

‘It’s not a loser, Peter,’ Williamson said, sitting down behind his desk and loosening his tie. ‘We worked the case, we know what happened, and we’re sure as we can be that it won’t happen again. You’re not a boxing man, are you?’

Johnson shook his head. ‘Never saw the appeal. I saw enough blokes having their heads bashed in as amateurs when I was in uniform.’

‘You’re missing out; it’s a noble sport. Anyway, my point is, sometimes, the knockout punch isn’t needed. Sometimes you win the fight on points and you both walk away.’

‘What are you going to tell Harp?’

Williamson had been giving this a lot of thought. Frank Harper, the Chief Constable, was a cautious man and all about the percentages. Harper was uncomfortable with taking gambles, and Williamson had long become accustomed to presenting information to him in a certain way to achieve the desired result.

‘I’ll say we know who did it but we have insufficient evidence. Certainly not enough for the CPS to be sure of a safe conviction.’

‘He’s not going to be satisfied with that, is he?’

Williamson rubbed an ache in the back of his neck. ‘This case has been sucking up resources for weeks. I’m betting that a part of him will be grateful that someone’s willing to say it’s time to cut our losses. In days gone by we would have had to worry about the media keeping on our backs, but you know what attention spans are like these days. A man being crucified got a day of national headlines over a month ago. It’s barely even in the local papers now.’

‘Maybe so but you know what Harp is like. Even if he accepts that we’re going to put this one on the back burner, he’ll want to shoot the messenger.’

Williamson sighed and looked out of the window that had been his view for the past ten years. ‘That’s why I’m going to be the messenger.’

Johnson raised an eyebrow. ‘You really want to take that on?’

‘Best person to do it. Especially since I’m going to preface that by notifying him that I’m taking retirement.’

‘So you’re making it official, then? I don’t know quite what to say. Congratulations?’

‘Congratulations will do nicely. I’ve been waiting for the right time, you know that. I think this is it.’

Johnson grimaced slightly. ‘Sticks in the craw a little bit. Like you’re taking a bullet for a killer.’

Williamson shook his head. ‘I’m not doing it for him. I’ve spent thirty-seven years enforcing the law. You know what that’s taught me?’

‘What?’

‘Above all, that the law is a blunt instrument. You need to know how to apply it and when. Nicholas Wychwood committed pre-meditated murder. If we follow the law to the letter, he should go away for a long time. And yet…’

‘The guy had it coming.’

‘There’s that and also the fact that Scanlon was going to keep doing what he was doing. I think his murder saved at least one life. Sometimes the best thing you can do is do nothing.’

There was a silence. Neither man spoke for a while.

‘What are you going to do now?’

Williamson considered the question. He hadn’t really thought about that up to this point. What was he going to do now, today? What was he going to do for the rest of his life?

‘I have a load of paperwork. More on the way once the Chief Constable accepts my resignation. But you know what? It can wait.’

He got up and took his car keys out of his pocket.

‘Where are you going, boss?’ Johnson asked.

‘There’s a first time for everything. I’m going home early.’



Later, over dessert, Williamson told Dianne about his decision.

‘Mark, are you sure?’ Her face betrayed scepticism, as if he was about to admit this was an elaborate and cruel joke, but he just smiled.

‘As sure as I’ve been about anything for a while.’

‘Oh, that’s wonderful.’ Dianne rushed over and embraced him. ‘But what about waiting for next year? What about…’

‘It’s time, Dianne.’ Williamson said, disentangling himself reluctantly. ‘When you know, you know.’

Dianne beamed. Then she remembered something and her green eyes took on a quizzical look. ‘The crucifixion case. You solved it?’

Williamson hesitated before answering. Should he tell Dianne the whole truth? That they had found the killer but he had decided to let him go? Should he burden her with the knowledge? In the end he simply said, ‘We closed the book on that one.’

She opened her mouth to ask something else and then thought better of it.

‘They’ll miss you, but you don’t owe them anything. You did a lot of good, Mark.’

‘Did I? Sometimes I wonder.’

She squeezed his hand. ‘You always did what you thought was right. That’s the important thing.’

Williamson smiled. ‘I’ve still to serve out my notice period, but I have the day off tomorrow.’

‘A day off?’ she repeated with mock-incredulity. ‘Goodness, you have changed. What shall we do?’

‘You and I are going to get in the car and drive up to Sheepscombe and start looking for somewhere to live.’

Dianne clapped her hands. ‘You’re really retiring. Oh, darling, you know I never wanted you to leave before you were ready, but this is wonderful news. In fact, it calls for a celebration.’

She hesitated for a moment, then said, ‘Painswick. Let’s look in Painswick.’

He laughed. ‘We have time to look in both places. We have lots of time, now.’

She kissed him again and then dashed into the kitchen. Williamson knew she would be getting out the bottle of champagne that had been lying at the back of the fridge for years, waiting for this occasion.

He relaxed back into his chair. Dianne couldn’t know how much what she had said had eased him. You always did what you thought was right. He had, right up until the end.

It wasn’t perfect, but he thought he could quite happily live with it.




Epilogue

Nick sat outside Sally’s house in Upper Slaughter in the Highline for a few minutes before he could summon up the courage to knock on the door. Sally still hadn’t responded to any of his calls or texts. If the relationship was over, he could understand that. But he wanted to hear it from her.

He got out, walked up to the door and pressed the doorbell. There was no answer. He waited a minute, two, his ears straining to hear movement inside. A moment later, the door of the neighbouring house opened. A youngish man with a prematurely receding hairline emerged, eyeing Nick suspiciously.

‘I’m looking for Sally Crawford. Do you know her?’

The younger man took his time answering, his suspicious eyes evaluating Nick. ‘Haven’t seen her for a few days. You tried giving her a call?’

Nick went back to the VW and got in. He sat for a while, drumming his fingers on the steering wheel, and then started the engine and pulled out of the parking space. The route back to Willersey took him past a brown ‘site of historic interest’ sign that directed the way to the amphitheatre. Suddenly he understood that he would never escape the past if he remained in this area. Everywhere around him was a reminder of Lucy, of Elise, and of what he had done to avenge Lucy. He needed a fresh start. He had hoped that Sally would want to be a part of that, but clearly that was not to be.

The sun was dipping low in the sky as he entered Willersey, just touching the treetops, lighting everything up in golds and reds. It was a beautiful place. He and Lucy should have been happy here for years.

He took a sharp breath when he took the turn into Church Street and saw that the front door of the cottage was open. Shit.

Williamson had lied or perhaps he had been overruled. They were back. Perhaps they were already in there with a warrant, tearing the place apart. Well, so be it. They wouldn’t find anything in there. Nick parked the Highline and got out. He walked up to the door and into the house. From the sounds ahead, he could hear that one of them was in the kitchen.

He barrelled straight ahead down the hall. He was in no mood for this after today.

‘What the bloody hell do you think—’

He stopped mid-sentence as he burst into the kitchen and saw a familiar figure standing in front of the open fridge.

Sally turned around with a start.

‘Nick!’

‘Sorry, I thought you were…’ He shook his head. ‘That doesn’t matter now. I’ve been trying to get hold of you.’

Her head tilted and she nodded. ‘I know. I’m sorry I’ve been ducking your calls. I just… had a lot to think about.’

Softening, Nick stepped forward. He was about to reach out and pull her in for a hug, then he stopped himself.

‘I know, Sal. This hasn’t been easy for you.’

She cleared her throat. ‘DCI Johnson called me earlier. He says they’re not going to charge you. Insufficient evidence.’

‘Yes,’ Nick said.

He waited for her next question, knowing that he owed her the full truth and that she would have it if she wanted it. Hell, if she asked him to, he would make the confession and hand himself in.

Sally opened a bottle of white wine and poured a glass. She turned and walked out through the French doors to the garden, without looking back to see if Nick was following. He stepped outside into the evening air. The smell of the earlier downpour mingling with cut grass was on the breeze. Far off, in some other back garden, he could hear the sound of children laughing.

Sally spoke with her back to him, looking out at the view.

‘You have to understand, it was quite a shock. Being involved in the investigation, carrying out the post-mortem on Arthur Scanlon, and then… finding out that…’ She stopped and turned to him, placing the wine glass on the table. ‘Tell me something, Nick, and promise me you’ll be truthful.’

Here it came. Nick bowed his head. ‘Ask me.’

‘You didn’t know what I did for a living before… I mean, I wasn’t a part of this, was I?’

The suggestion hurt more than any accusation of a crime. She was asking if he had planned it this way. If the relationship itself was all part of some grand scheme to get away with murder.

He shook his head firmly. ‘No, God, no. I didn’t know until the night you came home and talked about it. You never spoke about work before that.’

Sally searched his eyes, deliberating. Evidently, she decided she could believe what she saw there.

‘All right.’ She sighed. ‘It was Williamson’s decision to drop it, wasn’t it?’

‘I think so. He came to see me today. Sally, do you—’

She lifted a hand sharply to cut him off. ‘No. Don’t tell me.’ She picked up the glass again and took a sip. ‘I think I might have made him think more about the case. I’ve been going back and forth in my head. The rights and wrongs. The mitigations. The other courses that could have been taken. And I keep coming back to one thing.’

‘What?’

‘Whoever killed Arthur Scanlon saved at least one life. Very possibly more. It’s a simple fact that this world is a better place and a safer place without him in it.’

Nick nodded. ‘It doesn’t bring back Lucy. Nothing can. But is anyone in the least bit sorry that he’s gone? Or about the manner of his passing? Anyone? I know I’m not. In fact, I rejoice in the way the bastard met his maker.’

Sally held his gaze for a while and then closed her eyes, turning her face up to the sky to feel the warm evening sun on her skin. When she opened them again, she seemed to have come to a decision.

‘So,’ she said. ‘What about us?’

Nick took his time before replying. ‘That’s entirely in your hands.’

‘What do you mean?’

‘I mean if you never want to see me again, I’ll understand. If you want to walk out the front door and not look back, I wouldn’t blame you.’

‘And if it were in your hands?’

‘If it were in my hands, I’d take you in my arms, drive us away from this place and never look back.’

She listened, her face impassive. She was silent for a long moment. And then she said one word.

‘No.’

It was like a sudden stab to Nick’s heart. But it was a blow he was prepared for. He let out a long breath and his shoulders slumped. It felt as though he had been holding the breath for a month.

‘I understand,’ he said. ‘I’ll let you collect your things.’

He was turning to go back through the open door of the cottage when Sally shook her head. She put the wine glass down on the patio table, took two steps forward and put a hand to his cheek, then leaned in to kiss him. When she pulled away and opened her eyes, Nick looked back at her, his brow furrowed in confusion.

‘I meant “no”, I don’t want us to leave. This is your home, Nick. It’s a beautiful home, and I think…’ – she stopped and bit her lip, as though contemplating a long drop from a diving board – ‘I think I’d like to share it with you.’

Nick gave a small, involuntary gasp of relief and, impulsively, took her face in both hands and kissed her hard again. She returned the kiss, her lips curling into a grin that matched Nick’s own.

‘You’re sure?’

‘I am if you are.’

They walked back inside the cottage together, her arm around his shoulders. The late autumn sun painted the Cotswold stone around the French doors in a golden glow.

‘Are you all right, Nick? Really all right?’

‘Of course, Sal.’ He turned to her as she prepared to push the door closed behind them.

‘But I’ve got something to tell you.’ He brushed a strand of hair from her forehead. ‘I know you told me not to… but I truly think I must. And, well… it… might… take some time.’

She nodded. ‘I know, Nick. I know. But I’ve got all the time in the world. For you.’

Together, they went inside Willersey Cottage.




Acknowledgements

My thanks to Matthew Lavers for his invaluable technical advice on how one might set about identifying and tracking down an internet troll. From the moment I contacted Matt, my villain’s fate was sealed.








	More from the Author



	[image: ]
			[image: ]
		

			Stories To Make You Smile

			The Night Book

		

	[image: ]
			[image: ]
		

			The Way You Look Tonight

			Some Day I'll Find You

		

	[image: ]
			

			Fathers & Sons

			










Also by Richard Madeley

Fathers and Sons

Some Day I’ll Find You

The Way You Look Tonight

The Night Book





We hope you enjoyed reading this Simon & Schuster ebook.

Join our mailing list to get updates on new releases, deals, recommended reads, and more from Simon & Schuster.




CLICK HERE TO SIGN UP




Already a subscriber? Provide your email again so we can register this ebook and send you more of what you like to read. You will continue to receive exclusive offers in your inbox.






First published in Great Britain by Simon & Schuster UK Ltd, 2024

Copyright © Richard Madeley, 2024

The right of Richard Madeley to be identified as author of this work has been asserted in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act, 1988.

Simon & Schuster UK Ltd

1st Floor

222 Gray’s Inn Road

London WC1X 8HB

Simon & Schuster: Celebrating 100 Years of Publishing in 2024

Simon & Schuster Australia, Sydney

Simon & Schuster India, New Delhi

www.simonandschuster.co.uk

www.simonandschuster.com.au

www.simonandschuster.co.in

A CIP catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

Hardback ISBN: 978-1-4711-8294-5

Trade Paperback ISBN: 978-1-3985-3655-5

eBook ISBN: 978-1-4711-4061-7

Audio ISBN: 978-1-3985-2300-5

This book is a work of fiction.

Names, characters, places and incidents are either a product of the author’s imagination or are used fictitiously. Any resemblance to actual people living or dead, events or locales is entirely coincidental.


e9781471140617/images/buylink_9781398505797_cover.jpg
rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr
nnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn

STORES

MAKEYOU
SMILE

AAAAAAAA





e9781471140617/images/buylink_9781471140594_cover.jpg
N

NIGHT
ROOK

RICHARD
MADELEY





e9781471140617/fonts/Lato-Italic.ttf


e9781471140617/xhtml/nav.xhtml


Contents



		Cover


		Title Page


		Prologue


		Part One

		Chapter One


		Chapter Two


		Chapter Three


		Chapter Four


		Chapter Five


		Chapter Six


		Chapter Seven


		Chapter Eight


		Chapter Nine


		Chapter Ten


		Chapter Eleven


		Chapter Twelve


		Chapter Thirteen


		Chapter Fourteen


		Chapter Fifteen


		Chapter Sixteen


		Chapter Seventeen


		Chapter Eighteen


		Chapter Nineteen


		Chapter Twenty


		Chapter Twenty-One


		Chapter Twenty-Two


		Chapter Twenty-Three


		Chapter Twenty-Four


		Chapter Twenty-Five


		Chapter Twenty-Six







		Part Two

		Chapter Twenty-Seven


		Chapter Twenty-Eight


		Chapter Twenty-Nine


		Chapter Thirty


		Chapter Thirty-One


		Chapter Thirty-Two


		Chapter Thirty-Three


		Chapter Thirty-Four


		Chapter Thirty-Five







		Part Three

		Chapter Thirty-Six


		Chapter Thirty-Seven


		Chapter Thirty-Eight


		Chapter Thirty-Nine


		Chapter Forty


		Chapter Forty-One


		Chapter Forty-Two


		Chapter Forty-Three


		Chapter Forty-Four


		Chapter Forty-Five


		Chapter Forty-Six


		Chapter Forty-Seven


		Chapter Forty-Eight


		Chapter Forty-Nine


		Chapter Fifty


		Chapter Fifty-One


		Chapter Fifty-Two


		Chapter Fifty-Three


		Chapter Fifty-Four


		Chapter Fifty-Five


		Chapter Fifty-Six


		Chapter Fifty-Seven


		Chapter Fifty-Eight


		Chapter Fifty-Nine


		Chapter Sixty


		Chapter Sixty-One


		Chapter Sixty-Two


		Chapter Sixty-Three







		Epilogue


		Acknowledgements


		Copyright







Guide



		Cover


		Start of Content


		Title Page


		Prologue


		Epilogue


		Acknowledgments


		Copyright








		III


		V


		VI


		1


		2


		3


		4


		5


		6


		7


		8


		9


		10


		11


		12


		13


		14


		15


		16


		17


		18


		19


		20


		21


		22


		23


		24


		25


		26


		27


		28


		29


		30


		31


		32


		33


		34


		35


		36


		37


		38


		39


		40


		41


		42


		43


		44


		45


		46


		47


		48


		49


		50


		51


		52


		53


		54


		55


		56


		57


		58


		59


		60


		61


		62


		63


		64


		65


		66


		67


		68


		69


		70


		71


		72


		73


		74


		75


		76


		77


		78


		79


		80


		81


		82


		83


		84


		85


		86


		87


		88


		89


		90


		91


		92


		93


		94


		95


		96


		97


		98


		99


		100


		101


		102


		103


		104


		105


		106


		107


		108


		109


		110


		111


		112


		113


		114


		115


		116


		117


		118


		119


		120


		121


		122


		123


		124


		125


		126


		127


		128


		129


		130


		131


		132


		133


		134


		135


		136


		137


		138


		139


		140


		141


		142


		143


		144


		145


		146


		147


		148


		149


		150


		151


		152


		153


		154


		155


		156


		157


		158


		159


		160


		161


		162


		163


		164


		165


		166


		167


		168


		169


		170


		171


		172


		173


		174


		175


		176


		177


		178


		179


		180


		181


		182


		183


		184


		185


		186


		187


		188


		189


		190


		191


		192


		193


		194


		195


		196


		197


		198


		199


		200


		201


		202


		203


		204


		205


		206


		207


		208


		209


		210


		211


		212


		213


		214


		215


		216


		217


		218


		219


		220


		221


		222


		223


		224


		225


		226


		227


		228


		229


		230


		231


		232


		233


		234


		235


		236


		237


		238


		239


		240


		241


		242


		243


		244


		245


		246


		247


		248


		249


		250


		251


		252


		253


		254


		255


		256


		257


		258


		259


		260


		261


		262


		263


		264


		265


		266


		267


		268


		269


		270


		271


		272


		273


		274


		275


		276


		277


		278


		279


		280


		281


		282


		283


		284


		285


		286


		287


		288


		289


		290


		291


		292


		293


		294


		295


		296


		297


		298


		299


		300


		301


		302


		303


		304


		305


		306


		307


		308


		309


		310


		311


		312


		313


		314


		315


		316


		317


		318


		319


		320


		321


		322


		323


		324


		325


		326


		327


		328


		329


		330


		331


		332


		333


		334


		335


		336


		337


		338


		339


		340


		341


		342


		343


		344


		345


		346


		347


		348


		349


		350


		351


		352


		353


		354


		355


		356


		357


		358


		359


		360


		361


		362


		363


		364


		365


		366


		367


		368


		369


		370


		371


		372


		373


		374


		375


		376


		377


		378








e9781471140617/images/buylink_9781471112645_cover.jpg
Richard
Madeley

: eme
b FIND YOU






e9781471140617/images/9781471140617.jpg
SUSAN LEWIS

FATHER'S

How far would a father go
to defend his family?





e9781471140617/images/buylink_9781847374936_cover.jpg
i Ty

- LN

RICHARD
MADELEY





e9781471140617/fonts/RozhaOne-Regular.ttf


e9781471140617/fonts/Lato-Bold.ttf


e9781471140617/fonts/EBGaramond-Italic.ttf


e9781471140617/fonts/EBGaramond-Regular.ttf


e9781471140617/fonts/Lato-Regular.ttf


e9781471140617/fonts/Roboto-Regular.ttf


e9781471140617/images/buylink_9781471112676_cover.jpg
Rlchardv
Madeley

‘‘‘‘‘‘‘ sl unespected and gripping

The Way You

 oolTonight,






e9781471140617/fonts/EBGaramond-Bold.ttf


e9781471140617/images/title.jpg
FATHER'S

DAY

RICHARD
MADELEY

London - New York - Sydney - Toronto - New Delhi





